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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Yang Tao (resigned on 20 March 2024)

Ms. Liu Ran

Mr. Si De

Mr. Moon Duk I (was appointed on 20 March 2024)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tu Zheng
Mr. He Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Jianjun
Mr. Wu Liansheng
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Jianjun (Chairperson)
Mr. Wu Liansheng
Mr. Wang Ning

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Ning (Chairperson)
Mr. Zhang Jianjun
Mr. Wu Liansheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Liansheng (Chairperson)
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan
Ms. Li Ching Vi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wang Ning
Ms. Li Ching Vi
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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

19/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093

Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEHR

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
(Zhu Shi Kou Branch)

No.15, East Street, Zhushikou

Dongcheng District, Beijing, PRC

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
(Wang Jing Branch)
Wangjing International Commerce Center

No. 9, Wangjing Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.

(Wang Jing Branch)

Botai International, Block B, Building 122

District 1, Nanhu East Part, Guangshun North Street
Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.popmart.com

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong laws

Davis Polk & Wardwell

10/F, The Hong Kong Club Building
3A Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law
Jingtian & Gongcheng
45/F, K. Wah Centre
1010 Huaihai Road (M)
Xuhui District
Shanghai 200031

PRC

As to Cayman Islands laws
Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
26th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS IEERE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

6

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

2024 % 20234F 20224F 20214F 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT | ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT ARETET

Revenue ['ON 13,037,749 6,301,002 4,617,324 4,490,651 2,513,471

Gross profit EF 8,707,765 3,864,071 2,654,543 2,758,624 1,594,108

Operating profit 5 s F 4,154,272 1,230,646 583,380 1,149,812 718,783

Profit before income tax R PS5 Al g A 4,365,812 1,415,755 639,529 1,171,191 707,403

Profit for the year E N A 3,308,345 1,088,771 475,801 854,567 523,312

Profit attributable to ViN/NEIE F=DN

owners of the Company FE(R & A 3,125,473 1,082,344 475,660 854,339 523,505
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit — FEEIBR A 75k o5 2 B

KT EE L A 3,403,162 1,190,519 573,540 1,001,635 590,506

Gross profit margin FEF = 66.8% 61.3% 57.5% 61.4% 63.4%

Net profit margin P 25.4% 17.3% 10.3% 19.0% 20.8%
Non-IFRS adjusted net B B B s e 5 ZE A

profit margin s 26.1% 18.9% 12.4% 22.3% 23.5%

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEBE
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS HMBEMRARBE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R | AREFt AREFTT AR®TRT AREFT
Total current assets BRBEE 12,236,081 7,683,469 6,615,535 6,757,289 6,255,900
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 2,634,591 2,285,394 1,964,527 1,566,337 715,399
Total assets wWEE 14,870,672 9,968,863 8,580,062 8,323,626 6,971,299
Total current liabilities wREaE 3,370,028 1,733,301 1,130,747 1,092,706 665,313
Total non-current liabilities BIEREEE 616,005 455,180 483,990 410,914 174,984
Total liabilities wWaE 3,986,033 2,188,481 1,614,737 1,503,620 840,297
Equity attributable to ZA/NSIE/ZS DN
owners of the Company FE(GHERS 10,683,505 7,769,927 6,963,288 6,818,182 6,129,374
Non-controlling interests in FEFR R
equity 201,134 10,455 2,037 1,824 1,628
Total equity wRES 10,884,639 7,780,382 6,965,325 6,820,006 6,131,002
Total equity and liabilities #EZREE 14,870,672 9,968,863 8,580,062 8,323,626 6,971,299

=24 538 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 | POP MART
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESRIYH

Dear Shareholders and Investors:

Over the past year, we have achieved remarkable accomplishments, with
our internationalization and corporation grouplization strategy advancing in
tandem, propelling the global influence of POP MART's IP portfolio to surge
dramatically. In the past year, both revenue and net profit of POP MART
reached unprecedented heights, generating revenue of RMB13.04 billion
representing an increase of 106.9% year-on-year, while adjusted net profit
amounted to RMB3.4 billion with a growth of 185.9% year-on-year.

IP incubation and operation remain the core engine driving POP MART's
sustained development. Throughout 2024, the Group's IP portfolio delivered
exceptional performance, marking the revenue from the four IPs, namely
THE MONSTERS, MOLLY, SKULLPANDA and CRYBABY, all surpassing RMB1
billion for the first time, and the revenue from 13 major IPs exceeding
RMB100 million. The global phenomenon of LABUBU in last year propelled
the revenue of THE MONSTERS beyond RMB3 billion, while SKULLPANDA's
“Temperature” series emerged as the most successful designer toy collection
in history. CRYBABY set a new benchmark as the fastest-growing IP to join
the RMB1 billion revenue club. Diverse IP styles have cultivated distinct
development trajectories within our operational ecosystem, enabling
continuous expansion of IP value. We firmly believe in IP's transcendent
power to overcome linguistic barriers and transcend temporal cycles. As
POP MART celebrates its 15th anniversary, commemorates LABUBU’s 10th
anniversary this year, and prepares for MOLLY’s 20th anniversary next year,
we have demonstrated sustained capability in creating blockbuster IPs —
a proven track record that reinforces our confidence in the Group's future

growth.

Over the past year, we have actively advanced our deployment in overseas
business, deepening our DTC strategy through various means including
offline stores, online channels, and the organization of industry exhibitions
and artist signing events. These efforts have rapidly enhanced the global
recognition of the POP MART brand and our IPs. We have opened our first
offline stores in five countries, namely Vietnam, Indonesia, the Philippines,
[taly, and Spain. Additionally, we have successfully launched specialty themed
stores and flagship stores in iconic locations such as the Louvre in France, Ba
Na Hills Park in Vietnam, Oxford Street in the UK, and San Diego in the USA.
The attention and affection from consumers worldwide have truly positioned
POP MART on the path to becoming a world-class cultural consumer brand.

POP MART
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The rapid development of our global business cannot be achieved without
our steadfast implementation of the two core strategies of globalisation
and conglomeration. In 2024, we have reorganized our business segments
within the Group: consumer products, services and experiences, and digital
entertainment. We aim to leverage these three major business areas to
connect hundreds of millions of consumers with diverse cultural backgrounds
worldwide through our IPs, continuously innovating trendy consumption
experiences. The year 2024 has also been dubbed as the “Plush Year” For the
first time, we have categorized our retail business into four major categories:
figure toys, plush, MEGA, and other IP-related products and others. Among
them, revenue from plush increased by 1,289% year-on-year, accounting for
21.7% of our revenue, and delivering the breakout hit and biggest surprise
of the year. Through continuous innovation in our product categories,
POP MART has demonstrated its robust product development capabilities.
We believe that the Group's IP-centric commercial ecosystem is gradually

maturing.

Although our performance has been outstanding, we are more focused
on the invisible forces behind the numbers. In the past, we planted many
seeds, and today, these seeds are gradually sprouting and growing. While
our innovative businesses, such as the theme park and building blocks, are
still small in scale, we believe that in the future, these seeds will grow into

towering trees and become the ideal we envision.

Finally, I would like to extend my gratitude to all consumers, partners and
investors for your long-time support and trust, and to all colleagues around
the globe for your hard work. Last year, the Company’s key phrase was “Strive
Upwards and Look Outwards,” and moving forward, we will continue to
uphold the principle of “Growing Upwards.” | hope we can continue to work
together, step by step, towards our goal of reaching one hundred billion, and
I look forward to the day when we can truly become “the world’s Pop Mart.”
Wang Ning, Chairman of the Board and CEO of Pop Mart

Chairman of the Board and CEO of Pop Mart
Wang Ning
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERNWEDTN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, through the efficient collaboration of various departments,
exceptional IP operation capabilities, and remarkable achievements in
product category expansion and innovation, we successfully launched
multiple new product series based on classic IPs while incubating several
new IPs that have garnered significant fan enthusiasm. At the same time,
we remained committed to delivering high-quality products and services
to consumers. These efforts have further elevated the global recognition
and reputation of Pop Mart's brand, driving substantial sales growth and

showcasing our strong brand vitality and market competitiveness.

During the Reporting Period, we recorded a revenue of RMB13,037.7 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 106.9%. By consistently improving the
customers’ omni-channel experience, enhancing the operational efficiency
and differentiated product channel management, we achieved sales growth
across all channels in Mainland China, generating revenue of RMB7,972.1
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 52.3%. Simultaneously, we
accelerated our international market expansion and advanced our localized
operations strategy, enabling our businesses in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan,
and overseas markets to maintain rapid growth. Revenue from these regions
reached RMB5,065.7 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 375.2%

and accounting for 38.9% of our total revenue.

IP Incubation and Operation

IP operation and creative design are the core drivers to promote Pop
Mart’s sustainable growth. We explored highly-potential pop artists and
designers worldwide and created popular pop culture IP images through
well-established IP operation system. At the same time, we continued to
strengthen innovation in product designs and diversify product categories
to meet the diverse needs of different fan groups and create more joy and

surprises for consumers around the world.

We have implemented tailored operation strategies for each IP based on
its unique characteristics, driving strong sales growth while sustaining their
market appeal. A total of 13 IPs recorded a revenue of over RMB100 million.
In 2024, THE MONSTERS, MOLLY, SKULLPANDA and CRYBABY generated
revenues of RMB3,040.7 million, RMB2,093.2 million, RMB1,308.3 million and
RMB1,164.9 million, respectively.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &
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Through diverse product category designs and interactive performances
featuring theme park mascots, THE MONSTERS has evolved beyond static pop
figure toys into plush accessories with different costumes, and interactive
companions. This transformation has made THE MONSTERS more vivid and
dynamic, enriching their personalities and deepening emotional connections
with fans, thereby increasing fan engagement. Meanwhile, driven by
overseas market expansion, localized product designs and IP operations, THE
MONSTERS has rapidly gained global popularity and earned widespread fan
support worldwide, achieving a significant year-on-year growth of 726.6% in

related revenue.

As our most iconic classic IP, MOLLY continues to showcase strong vitality.
Through continuous operations and premium positioning strategies, we have
successfully created the basic images such as Classic MOLLY, SPACE MOLLY,
ROYAL MOLLY and BABY MOLLY. By integrating cross-community content
innovations and diverse product offerings, we have reinforced the cultural
value of the IP to cater to different fan groups, resulting in a year-on-year

growth of 105.2% in related revenue.

SKULLPANDA maintains its diversified design strategy. It concentrates
on designs and creation of pop figure toy by virtue of its unique design
philosophy and style exploration of continuous innovation. The classic series
“Temperature” has achieved cumulative sales of over 791 thousand sets,
making it our best-selling individual series. In 2024, the newly launched
series, “Image of Reality’, draws inspiration from surrealist art, which immerses
viewers in an otherworldly experience with its fantastical designs. This series
has sold 265 thousand sets, offering fans a broader artistic and collectible
experience and contributing to a year-on-year growth of 27.7% in related

revenue.

CRYBABY is one of our fastest-growing emerging IPs, built on the core
concept of “Healing Through Tears” and the belief that “Everybody Cries
Sometimes! " It aims to encourage people to bravely move forward after
expressing their emotions. By conveying the essence of emotional freedom,
CRYBABY provides emotional value to fans and resonates deeply with them.
As a result, it reached an impressive year-on-year increase of 1,537.2% in

related revenue.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

In 2024, the IPs of HIRONO, Zsiga, Nyota, inosoul and others under our
in-house IP originals studio PDC (Pop Design Center) achieved outstanding
results. In particular, HIRONO's distinctive design language can create unique
spiritual picture, making his universe a spiritual sanctuary for many fans.
We have set up Hirono IP lifestyle pop-up stores in major cities worldwide.
These pop-up stores feature not only pop toys but also a wide range of
new categories such as fashion clothing, artistic household, collections and
paintings, and peripheral products, offering a comprehensive and immersive
experience of HIRONO's universe, and achieving 106.9% year-on-year growth
in related revenue. As a new IP launched in 2024, Nyota has quickly garnered
significant attention from a wide fan base, which is attributable to its unique,
serene aesthetic and distinctive style positioning.

The Twinkle Twinkle (2£ A), an IP we newly signed in 2024, was designed
with the concept that they were born in darkness, akin to the radiant stars
that illuminate the night sky. Its core spirit of “Stars can't shine without
darkness” serves as a poignant reminder, creating a romantic fairy-tale world
for adults who still harbor a childlike heart, conveying warmth and healing
power. Based on this illustration-style IP, we developed a variety of products
embodying its characteristics, such as fashion figure toys and plush products,

which were warmly received and beloved by fans.

We continued to explore and expand the scope of licensed IPs by launching
a series of pop garage kits and co-branded products in different types and
diversified styles to meet the needs and interests of different consumers.
Through cooperation with various copyright owners of anime, games and
movies, we brought more choices and surprises to our fans. At the same
time, we continued to expand the territories of IP licensing, and already
obtained global licenses for most of our licensed IPs, bringing a more unique

pop toy experience to consumers around the world.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5
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In 2024, plush products achieved a revenue of RMB2,832.1 million,
accounting for 21.7%% of our total revenue. Among them, the rotocast
plush has become a phenomenon-level hit product that combines visual
beauty and tactile experience with the application of the rotocasting
process that makes the facial expressions of the toy more vivid and lifelike,
coupled with the unique soft touch of the plush material. Benefiting from
the excellent display and matching functions of the product, this series has
won widespread market recognition and consumer favor in overseas markets
such as Southeast Asia and North America. In terms of product research
and development, we always take IP as the core and deeply explore its
cultural connotations. By accurately grasping the personality characteristics
and spiritual essence of different IPs, we tailor-made plush product lines
that match the corresponding styles. Such strategy not only enhances the
emotional bond between fans and IPs, but also, through the innovative
design of interactive experiences, successfully attracts a diverse user group

and significantly enhances user stickiness.

2024 is the fourth year since we launched MEGA COLLECTION, and the brand
operation has gradually entered into a mature stage. It represents the young
generation’s diversified and energetic aesthetic taste and trend vision, and
has already become a classic representative of the current trend collectors
embracing their favorite culture. During the year, our new products focused
on breaking through cultural boundaries. We have continuously integrated
traditional Chinese cultural craftsmanship into pop toys. The GRAND series
has continued to launch products such as MEGA ROYAL MOLLY 400% Yanran
Ru Ya - Porcelain (MEGA ROYAL MOLLY 400%1%5 A A#L-%) and MEGA SPACE
MOLLY 1000% Zhu Mo Xiang Yun - Lacquer (MEGA SPACE MOLLY 1000% & £&
F£#B-%), enabling young people around the world to feel the contemporary
pulse of Chinese culture through pop toys. At the same time, we have been
constantly exploring outstanding global artists, copyrighted IPs and brands,
such as MEGA ROYAL MOLLY 1000%/400% Van Gogh Museum - Apricot
Blossoms (MEGA ROYAL MOLLY 1000%/400%7% & 8 ¥ £8-751E), MEGA SPACE
MOLLY 400% Sanrio Family series (MEGA SPACE MOLLY 400% = BBESZ ik
Z75I)), MEGA ROYAL MOLLY 1000%/400% Huang Yuxing — Bubbles (MEGA
ROYAL MOLLY 1000%/400% % F 8 — 5)8), MEGA SPACE MOLLY 1000%
Chen Fenwan (MEGA SPACE MOLLY 1000%FR#)#,), etc. These products
incorporate different cultural elements to resonate with pop toy collectors
globally, making full use of cross-border traffic to continuously expand the
user base. In 2024, the MEGA COLLECTION achieved a revenue of RMB1,683.8

million, accounting for 12.9% of our total revenue.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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In 2024, we launched our first building block product. Through block
stacking, the product shows the spiritual core of our IPs. It not only enhances
the ways in which the IPs are represented but also broadens the channels for
fan interaction with IPs, enabling fans to explore the deeper narratives that
underlie our IPs. On the basis of compatibility with the traditional building
block system, we have significantly differentiated our building block products
from the conventional building blocks in the market through innovations in

craftsmanship, materials, gameplay, etc., thus further expanding the fan base.

Consumer Access
—  Offline channels

In 2024, we recorded a net increase of 38 physical stores in Mainland
China. The number of physical stores increased from 363 as of 31
December 2023 to 401 as of 31 December 2024. In 2024, we recorded
a net increase of 110 roboshops in Mainland China. The number of
roboshops increased from 2,190 as of 31 December 2023 to 2,300 as of
31 December 2024.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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Online channels

In 2024, Pop Draw continued to focus on innovation in terms of
scenario and entertainment, providing customers with a more fun and
recreational social shopping experience. We also enhanced our product
operational capabilities and integrated holiday marketing campaigns to
connect offline and online traffic, thereby effectively boosting the scales
of visitors of mini program. Additionally, Pop Draw advanced its refined
user group operation strategies, achieving improvements in both new
customer quality and existing customer retention. In 2024, revenue from
Pop Draw amounted to RMB1,113.7 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 52.7%, breaking its historical sales record in 2022. Our
content-related e-commerce team redefined the positioning of live
streaming rooms in 2024. By leveraging live streaming to strengthen
brand expression, we vividly conveyed the emotional value of IPs and
products to customers, attracting a large number of new fans. We also
formulated a differentiated operation strategy of satisfying customer’s
potential shopping interests, successfully expanding into new categories
such as plush and acquiring new customers. In 2024, the revenue from
DouYin amounted to RMB601.2 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 112.2%. The Tmall Flagship Store continuously focused on
expanding new customer base, increasing store traffic, and improving
customer quality in 2024. During the Super Brand Month (FB4R G hE)E
&) A), the Tmall Flagship Store set a new sales record for Super Brand
Activity (BB&a/E®)) in the Tmall toy category, maintaining rapid growth
throughout the year and surpassing the historical sales peak in 2021.
In 2024, the revenue from Tmall Flagship Store amounted to RMB627.8
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 95.0%. It topped both
the Tmall Overall Toy Ranking (RIHITEAEHS) and the Tmall Pop Toy
Ranking (CRFEBIMITE) in terms of sales in the 618 shopping festival.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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1

POP MART

Member operation

With continuous implementation of omni-channel refined member
operation, and through continuous innovation and improving the
members’ experience to enhance the marketing effectiveness of key
products, the scale of membership digitalization grew rapidly. As of 31
December 2024, the total number of registered members in Mainland
China increased from 34.4 million as of 31 December 2023 to 46.1
million. In particular, there were 11.7 million new registered members. In
2024, the sales contributed by our members represented 92.7% of total

sales, with repeat purchase rate of our members of 49.4%.'

Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas channels

The implementation of our DTC (Direct To Customer) strategy for
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas business continued. As of
31 December 2024, the number of our physical stores in Hong Kong,
Macao, Taiwan and overseas was 130 (including those operated by joint
venture), and the number of roboshops reached 192 (including those

operated by joint venture and roboshop partners).

In 2024, we opened our first offline stores in five countries, i.e. Vietnam,
Indonesia, the Philippines, Italy and Spain, marking a significant step
in our rapid business expansion. Meanwhile, we successfully opened
themed stores and flagship stores in landmarks worldwide, further
strengthening our international influence. In February, we opened a
store themed CRYBABY in Central Ladprao, Bangkok, Thailand. In May,
we opened a castle-themed store in Ba Na Hills Sun World, a famous
scenic spot in Vietnam. In July, we opened a K-POP themed store in
Myeongdong, South Korea. Through the operation of such themed
stores, we have optimized the consumer experience, enhanced their
brand loyalty, and expanded the influence of our IP brands. In June, we
opened a store in the well-known most bustling hub — Oxford Street in
United Kingdom. In July, we made history by becoming the first Chinese
trendy toy brand to establish a presence in the Louvre Museum in
Paris. In August, we opened our first store at UTC in San Diego. These
initiatives enabled Pop Mart to achieve a dual breakthrough in brand

momentum and market expansion across Europe and America.

Represents the proportion of members who purchase products twice or more in
2024.
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Meanwhile, our overseas e-commerce team applied differentiated operating
strategies for different countries and e-commerce platforms. Specifically,
Shopee and Lazada focused on multiple countries in Southeast Asia, and we
received favorable reviews from consumers there with refined marketing
and localized service strategies to understand the needs of local consumers
deeply and carry out product promotion accurately. By leveraging Amazon’s
vast scale and logistics capabilities in Europe and America, combined
with integrated on-platform and off-platform promotional strategies, we
effectively reached local users and gradually enhanced our brand’s influence
in these regions. On TikTok, we embraced the global trends of content-driven
e-commerce and live-streaming commerce, dedicating efforts to build a
high-quality content ecosystem. Through creative live-streaming events,
we attracted a large number of young users and drove sales with premium
content, thus increasing brand exposure and engagement. For the global
market, we continue to advance the development and optimization of our
official brand website. From user browsing, interface design, and product
presentation to after-sales services, we prioritize user needs to deliver a
comprehensive and enhanced user experience, shaping a positive brand
image. Through these initiatives across different platforms and regions, our
brand and product influence have steadily grown worldwide, which gradually

increased our presence and opportunities in international markets.

Theme Park and IP Experience and Innovative Business
Incubation

We have established an IP commercialization system with a multi-industry
chain, continuously deepening the emotional connection between fans and

IPs, and exploring the potential of realizing the value of IP.

POP LAND was officially opened in September 2023. In the year and a half
since its opening, the park continuously optimized its service experience
and focused on creating an immersive atmosphere centered around its IPs,
in a bid to provide visitors with an immersive park experience. The park is
dedicated to showcasing the unique charm of Pop Mart to fans around the
world and continuing to create value and joy through innovative activities

and high-quality services.
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We have consistently increased the frequency of its classic daily
performances, created and presented new shows, and launched
commensurate themed installations and activities for various festivals and
holidays. In August 2024, MOLLY's Dessert House officially opened, quickly
attracting substantial attention with its unique scene design and distinctive
IP style and becoming a popular photo spot. It generated widespread buzz
across various platforms and received overwhelming market feedback. In
September 2024, ZIMOMO Dance leveraged organic traffic to rise in the
Douyin challenge rankings, effectively demonstrating the cross-boundary
communication of our IP. Subsequently, the dance received multiple
invitations for external events, further expanding the influence of our IP.
From October to December 2024, the park planned and launched distinctive
Halloween and winter-themed events. By integrating performance content,
dining services, dessert offerings, and refreshing atmospheric decorations,
we successfully scored a significant year-on-year increase in visitor numbers
during the traditional off-peak travel season, demonstrating the effectiveness

and innovation of our operational strategies.

The POP TOY SHOW (PTS) continues to evolve into a significant platform
for global creators to showcase their creativity. From 23 to 25 August 2024,
the second overseas PTS was held once again in Singapore. The three-day
event was a huge success, attracting nearly 30,000 visitors who gathered to
immerse themselves in the unique charm of trendy toy art alongside nearly
a hundred artists from around the world. Compared to the first session, this
one saw even greater participation from domestic trendy toy exhibitors
and artists, who enthusiastically shared the latest trends and innovative
ideas from China’s trendy toy scene with overseas enthusiasts, fostering a
vibrant exchange of diverse cultures. In April, PTS collaborated with POP
LAND to launch the “2024 PTS Beijing International Pop Toy Festival’, which
transformed the traditional “Pop Toy Convention” to a comprehensive “Pop
Toy Festival” for the first time. This new carnival-style event integrated IP
performances, theme park experiences, along with dining, entertainment,
and other leisure activities, allowing attendees to “unwind” from the panic
buying. In October, PTS took place at the Shanghai World Expo Exhibition
Center, where the brand exhibition area was upgraded for the first time to
“Pop Street’, creating a unified atmosphere. The event featured a gathering of
artists, surprise appearances by IP “celebrities”, building block competitions,
and a gaming carnival, among numerous interactive activities. Through these
innovative initiatives, audiences experienced the unique allure of trendy toys
and IPs, contributing to the accumulation and clustering of the trendy toy

industry.

POP MART
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In 2024, we held a series of large-scale events, including autograph sessions,
pop-up stores and art exhibitions, covering various core cities around the
world, to continue to deepen our IP operation and global influence. Among
them, the performance of LABUBU, a character from our IP “THE MONSTERS”
elf group was particularly impressive. Following its debut as the "Magical
Thailand Experience Ambassador” in the first half of the year, the IP was also
invited to participate in the Thai-style plot and engage with fans frequently,
further consolidating its core position as a bridge fostering exchanges
between Chinese and Thai pop culture. In addition, on the occasion of the
launch of the new blind box of the HIRONO x Little Prince series, HIRONO's
artist LANG came to Paris and held the first European autograph session at
the Bercy Village store of Pop Mart in France, where a total of one hundred
fans were invited to interact with artists to promote IP to reach consumers,
which shows that our IP globalization strategy has achieved remarkable
results and injected continuous momentum into the overseas expansion of

pop toy culture.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Sales Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased from RMB6,301.0 million in 2023 to

RMB13,037.7 million in 2024, representing a year-on-year increase of 106.9%.

Revenue by channels

Revenue of the Group is generated in Mainland China and Hong Kong,

Macao, Taiwan and overseas, including: (1) offline channels; (2) online

channels; and (3) wholesales channels and others. The following table sets

out the Company's revenue by channels in 2024 and 2023:

Bt 5 1ol R
HEWA

AEBEUW AN 2023FNARE6,301.08 8T E
FrE2024FHARK13,037.7EE T BALER
106.9% o

RIFEREE D WA

AEBBWARE R EAFIERE REIN
BECMBRTRE: QBRERE RQB#EE
BREAM o TREFHART2024%5F 2023 FHY
RREE DA

For the year ended 31 December | For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023
HZE2024F12A831BLEE HE2023F12831HIEFE
Gross Gross
profit Proportion profit  Proportion
Revenue margin of revenue | Revenue margin of revenue
WA EAME WAL A EFE  WAEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBET T
Mainland China R R
Offline channels BTRBE 4,526,277 66.4% 34.7% | 3,213,706 63.0% 51.0%
Online channels HERE 2,697,619 64.1% 20.7% | 1,524,578 60.4% 24.2%
Wholesales and others Hogs & HAth 748,178 47.8% 5.7% 496,617 46.7% 7.9%
Total &5t 7,972,074 63.9% 61.1% | 5,234,901 60.6% 83.1%
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and
overseas IR A KIgI
Offline channels BTRE 3,070,971 72.3% 23.6% 640,287 74.4% 10.1%
Online channels R ERB 1,455,162 73.6% 11.2% 155,805 73.5% 2.5%
Wholesales and others ot & HAth 539,542 59.4% 4.1% 270,009 37.6% 43%
Total &5t 5,065,675 71.3% 38.9% | 1,066,101 64.9% 16.9%
Grand total st 13,037,749 66.8%  100.0% | 6,301,002 61.3% 100.0%

POP MART
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(1) Mainland China

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(1) FEA It

- Offline channels. Revenue from offline sales increased by 40.8%
from RMB3,213.7 million in 2023 to RMB4,526.3 million in 2024.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from offline

BTRE - B TWRAH2023FHAR
M32137EBLEBRI024FHAR
45263BETL R T408% AT

channels and the city tier: REF T REWA BRI T
For the year ended 31 For the year ended 31
December 2024 December 2023
BZE2024F12A31BLLFE| BIFE20235F 12431 H IEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue  of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
WA L ON 1= WA WAL o)
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Retail stores TEG 3,827,861 84.6% 2,661,009 82.8% 43.9%
Roboshops =N 698,416 15.4% 552,697 17.2% 26.4%
Total &5t 4,526,277 100.0% 3,213,706 100.0% 40.8%
Retail stores Roboshops
BER BRABE
For the year ended 31 December For the year ended 31 December
BZNANALEE BENANALEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 WBE 2024% WBE
City tier EA Number  Revenue Number ~ Revenue | Number  Revenue Number ~ Revenue
HE 0N gg WA HE WA e A
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(AR®T ) (AE%FT) (AR®T 1) (ARBTT)
First-tier cities? —ig5m 125 1,495,934 120 1,100,240 622 201,050 592 147,838
New first-tier cities® - 116 1,096,134 105 743,662 694 217,711 672 174,650
Second-tier and other cities' 4 R E- s r* 160 1,235,793 138 817,107 984 279,655 926 230209
Total CHI 401 3,827,861 363 2,661,009 2,300 698,416 2,190 552,697

2 Refer to first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou

and Shenzhen

3 Refer to new first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Chengdu, Chongging, 3
Hangzhou, Wuhan, Xi‘an, Zhengzhou, Qingdao, Changsha, Tianjin, Suzhou,

Nanjing, Dongguan, Ningbo, Hefei and Wuxi

4 Refer to cities other than first-tier cities and new first-tier cities in Mainland China

EHRBEA—RRT - BEIER - BE - BN
#YI
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- Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 43.9%
year-on-year from RMB2,661.0 million in 2023 to RMB3,827.9 million
in 2024, which is mainly attributed to the improved performance of
individual stores. The status of retail stores of the Mainland China in
2024: as of 31 December 2024, the number of retail stores recorded
a net increase of 38 as compared to 31 December 2023. As of 31

December 2024, there were a total of 401 retail stores.

- Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 26.4%
year-on-year from RMB552.7 million in 2023 to RMB698.4 million
in 2024. The status of roboshops of the Mainland China in 2024:
as of 31 December 2024, the number of roboshops recorded a
net increase of 110 as compared to 31 December 2023. As of 31

December 2024, there were a total of 2,300 roboshops.

- Online channels. Revenue from online sales increased by 76.9%
from RMB1,524.6 million in 2023 to RMB2,697.6 million in 2024.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online

ZEE - ZEEHSWMAN2023F
WARE2661.08 B TIEMNE20245
MARK3879BE T ALERT
43.9% ' TEHREBEEEEMNIER -
2024 F AR TEERRIBERN - &
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2024F 12 A31 HAETTE/E401R ©
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R 7 26.4% ° 2024F R B A S A TS
JERRRER B ZE2024F 128318
HZE2023F 12 A31 BB ARG
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channels: BiF ERBEIWARRA
For the year ended 31 December| For the year ended 31 December
2024 2023
BZE2024F12831ALEFE | HE2023F12A31BLEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
O [N (15 A WG WA
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Pop Draw BB E 1,113,741 41.3% 729,280 47.8% 52.7%
Tmall flagship store RIGTER S 627,788 23.3% 321,966 21.1% 95.0%
DouYin AgTa 601,231 22.3% 283,318 18.6% 112.2%
Other online channels Hiig FR@ 354,859 13.1% 190,014 12.5% 86.8%
Total &t 2,697,619 100.0% 1,524,578 100.0% 76.9%
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Online revenue sources in Mainland China include Pop Draw, Tmall
flagship store, DouYin and other online channels. In particular,
revenue from Pop Draw increased by 52.7% from RMB729.3
million in 2023 to RMB1,113.7 million in 2024; revenue from Tmall
flagship store increased by 95.0% from RMB322.0 million in 2023
to RMB627.8 million in 2024; revenue from DouYin increased by
112.2% from RMB283.3 million in 2023 to RMB601.2 million in 2024.
Increase in revenue from online sales is due to our continuous
optimization of the platform’s operational efficiency and
improvement in traffic conversion, as well as attracting consumers

with diverse products.

Wholesale and others. Revenue from wholesale and others
increased by 50.7% from RMB496.6 million in 2023 to RMB748.2
million in 2024, primarily due to the increase in revenue generated
from POP LAND.

(2) Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas

Offline channels. Revenue from offline sales increased by 379.6%
from RMB640.3 million in 2023 to RMB3,071.0 million in 2024.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from offline

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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channels: AR T REWARRAR -
For the year ended 31 December 2024 |  For the year ended 31 December 2023
BZ2045128310L5E HENBF1A3BLEE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Change
0N N1 A LN UON -
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#TR ARETT
Retail stores TEE 2,937,910 95.7% 582,909 91.0% 404.0%
Roboshops BEAEE 133,061 43% 57,378 9.0% 131.9%
Total i 3,070,971 100.0% 640,287 100.0% 379.6%
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Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 404.0%
year on year from RMB582.9 million in 2023 to RMB2,937.9 million in
2024, which is mainly attributed to the increased number of stores
as a result of our continuous expansion into oversea markets and
single-store revenue growth. The status of retail stores of Hong
Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas in 2024: as of 31 December
2024, the number of retail stores recorded a net increase of 50 as
compared to 31 December 2023. As of 31 December 2024, there

were a total of 120 retail stores.

Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 131.9%
year on year from RMB57.4 million in 2023 to RMB133.1 million
in 2024. The status of roboshops of Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan
and overseas in 2024: as of 31 December 2024, the number of
roboshops recorded a net increase of 73 as compared to 31
December 2023. As of 31 December 2024, there were a total of 172

roboshops.

Online channels. Revenue from online sales increased by 834.0%
from RMB155.8 million in 2023 to RMB1,455.2 million in 2024.

The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online

ZEE - ZEEHSEWMAN2023F
WARE582.98 & TIE R 202445F
MARY293798E T ALERT
404.0% * EZBNRMTEREEIIT
% JE TR /IS I AN B R A /35
& 02024 F R A ROGINTE S
BB BE2024F12A31HEEE
2023F 12 AT EEHEFIET
50K BEiE2024F12A31BARESE
JE120%K °

HEBAEE - MBADEHERAR
2023F M AR S74AE BT RE2024
FHARMI1331BE T ALEET
131.9% ° 2024F AR & ROGIMERS A TS
JERIRRIER  BiE2024F 128318
HZE2023F12 A31 B EARBIER
EFIET3R - BE2024F12A31H
BEMEIBEAREIE172R ©

BERE - B EWABRE2023FHAR
M558 AB LRI04 FHARKE
145528 & 70 ' R 7834.0% c LA T &

channels: R ERBEUW AR
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
HZ204F12831HLEE BZ2nFNANBLFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
WA N1 A DN WARR
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET R NS
Pop Mart official website BAIBEE A A 531,460 36.5% 39479 254% 1,246.2%
Shopee Shopee 324,197 22.3% 42,885 27.5% 656.0%
TikTok platform TikTokE & 261,943 18.0% 4455 29% 5,779.8%
Other online channels Bty LR 337,562 23.2% 68,986 44.2% 389.3%
Total &it 1,455,162 100.0% 155,805 100.0% 834.0%
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Online revenue sources in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
include Pop Mart official website, Shopee, TikTok platform and
other online channels. Revenue from Pop Mart official website
increased by 1,246.2% from RMB39.5 million in 2023 to RMB531.5
million in 2024. Revenue from Shopee increased by 656.0% from
RMB42.9 million in 2023 to RMB324.2 million in 2024; while revenue
from TikTok platform increased 5,779.8% from RMB4.5 million
in 2023 to RMB261.9 million in 2024. Such increase is primarily
due to our continuous expansion into overseas countries and
regions, enhanced localized operations, developing more online
platforms, and the growing brand influence, which have attracted
more consumers from Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas to
purchase our products.

Wholesales and others. Revenue from wholesales and others in
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas increased by 99.8% from
RMB270.0 million in 2023 to RMB539.5 million in 2024.

Revenue from Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas by
regions. Revenue from Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and Overseas
increased by 375.2% from RMB1,066.1 million in 2023 to RMB5,065.7
million in 2024. Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas are further
divided by region into Southeast Asia, East Asia and Hong Kong,
Macao and Taiwan regions, North America, and Europe, Australia
and others. The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue by

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED T

BB REINE IR AR BIE R
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region (based on the geographic location of customers): &) A rUk AR -
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
BZ204512831 AL EE BENBE1A3ALER
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
/0N 9N 17 WA LN WAER
RMB'000 RMB'000
N S NS
Southeast Asia RET 2,402,732 47.4% 334153 31.3% 619.1%
East Asia and Hong Kong, RORERAME 1,385,666 27.4% 486932 45.7% 184.6%
Macao and Taiwan regions
North America bl 723,025 14.3% 110,064 10.3% 556.9%
Europe, Australia and others ERREAM 554,252 10.9% 134952 127% 310.7%
Total ait 5,065,675 100% 1,066,101 100% 375.2%
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Revenue by IPs

Pop Mart proprietary products are our major product type. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, revenue from proprietary products contributed
97.6% of our total revenue. Revenue from proprietary products increased by
117.2% from RMB5,858.0 million in 2023 to RMB12,721.5 million in 2024.

Proprietary products of Pop Mart are mainly divided into: artist IPs and

licensed IPs, and below sets forth a breakdown of revenue by IPs:

RIZIPEI D HIULA

AABENEFEReRMO T2 RER -
BTERWAREE2024F12 A31 B IEFEES
UL A R BIER97.6% » B EEMU2023F
HAREES 8580 BTIERI204FMNARE

b —

127215887 EBET117.2% °

WABRNEIEREIEN A« BMRIPMFEE
P AN ARIEIPEI DU AR

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234

Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue
WA WAL WA WAL

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBET T
Proprietary products BEXER 12,721,506 97.6% 5,857,957 93.0%
Artist IPs e 11,120,848 85.3% 4,822,226 76.5%
THE MONSTERS THE MONSTERS 3,040,664 23.3% 367,871 5.8%
MOLLY MOLLY 2,093,172 16.1% 1,020,305 16.2%
SKULLPANDA SKULLPANDA 1,308,262 10.0% 1,024,788 16.3%
CRYBABY CRYBABY 1,164,885 8.9% 71,149 1.1%
DIMOO DIMOO 909,561 7.0% 737,666 1.7%
HIRONO HIRONO 726,525 5.6% 351,201 5.6%
Zsiga Zsiga 244,519 1.9% 99,777 1.6%
HACIPUPU HACIPUPU 224,288 1.7% 151,758 2.4%
Other artist IPs HEMEMRIP 1,408,972 10.8% 997,711 15.8%
Licensed IPs P 1,600,658 12.3% 1,035,731 16.5%
External procurement and others JMER EHfth 316,243 2.4% 443,045 7.0%
Total &5t 13,037,749 100.0% 6,301,002 100.0%
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- Artist IPs. Artist IPs are the major product type of the Company,
primarily including THE MONSTERS, MOLLY, SKULLPANDA and other
IPs. Revenue from artist IPs increased by 130.6% from RMB4,822.2
million in 2023 to RMB11,120.8 million in 2024, primarily due to the
fact that we continued to innovate our product design and enrich our
product categories, with plush products represented by THE MONSTERS
being particularly beloved by consumers. In 2024, revenue from THE
MONSTERS products increased by 726.6% as compared to 2023.

- Licensed IPs. Revenue from licensed IPs increased by 54.5% from
RMB1,035.7 million in 2023 to RMB1,600.7 million in 2024, primarily due
to the fact that we continuously deepened our cooperation with more

copyright owners to launch more styles and types of products.

REVENUE BY PRODUCT CATEGORY

The Company's products are mainly categorized into figure toys, plush, MEGA

and other IP-related products and others by category. The following sets

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T
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forth the breakdown of revenue by product category: HEIM AR

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

BE2024F120831BLFE | BE2023F12A318IFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
LON [ ON 724 L/ON L/ON (¢ LON -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBT T
Figure toys Fi 6,936,087 53.2% 4,793,872 76.1% 44.7%
Plush EM 2,832,078 21.7% 203,888 3.2% 1,289.0%
MEGA MEGA 1,683,780 12.9% 684,275 10.9% 146.1%
Other IP-related products PTHE MR EAM 1,585,804 12.2% 618,967 9.8% 156.2%
and others

Total &t 13,037,749 100.0% 6,301,002 100.0% 106.9%
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At the product level, we kept introducing new products, enriching product
offerings and enhancing product design capability. Revenue from figure toys
increased by 44.7% from RMB4,793.9 million in 2023 to RMB6,936.1 million
in 2024; revenue from plush increased by 1,289.0% from RMB203.9 million in
2023 to RMB2,832.1 million in 2024; revenue from MEGA increased by 146.1%
from RMB684.3 million in 2023 to RMB1,683.8 million in 2024; revenue from
other IP-related products and others increased by 156.2% from RMB619.0
million in 2023 to RMB1,585.8 million in 2024.

Costs of Sales

Our costs of sales increased by 77.7% from RMB2,436.9 million in 2023 to
RMB4,330.0 million in 2024, primarily due to (1) the increase in costs of goods
from RMB2,042.7 million in 2023 to RMB3,474.2 million in 2024, which was
mainly due to the increase in sales; and (2) the increase in costs in relation
to design and license from RMB236.6 million in 2023 to RMB506.8 million in
2024, which was mainly due to more IP licensing fees and product design
fees as a result of the increase in the proportion of our proprietary products

and the increase in co-branded products.

Gross Profit

Our gross profit increased by 125.4% from RMB3,864.1 million in 2023 to
RMB8,707.8 million in 2024, primarily due to the increase in revenue and
the control of cost of sales. Our gross profit margin increased from 61.3%
in 2023 to 66.8% in 2024, primarily due to (1) the increase in the proportion
of revenue from Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas, (2) continuous
optimization of cost control on the supply chain, and (3) the increase in
the proportion of our proprietary products and a gradual decrease in the

proportion of products from external procurement.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 82.1% from RMB2,004.7
million in 2023 to RMB3,650.5 million in 2024, among which, (1) employee
benefit expenses; and (2) lease related expenses accounted for higher

proportions.

POP MART
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- Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses
increased by 46.2% from 598.5 million in 2023 to RMB874.9 million in
2024, primarily due to the increase in the number of sales personnel
from 3,735 as of 31 December 2023 to 5,267 as of 31 December 2024,
primarily for supporting the expansion of our retail stores and roboshop

network.

- Lease related expenses. Lease related expenses, which included
depreciation of right-of-use assets and expenses relating to short-term
leases and variable leases not included in lease liabilities, increased
by 80.5% from RMB465.9 million in 2023 to RMB840.8 million in 2024,
which was mainly due to (1) revenue from retail stores grew and
commission-related rentals increased accordingly, and (2) a net increase
in the number of offline retail stores by 88 compared with that of 2023
to cater for our business expansion in Mainland China, Hong Kong,

Macao, Taiwan and overseas.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 33.9% from RMB707.3
million in 2023 to RMB947.1 million in 2024. Among them, employee
benefit expenses accounted for higher proportions, and the number of our
administrative and development personnel increased from 1,110 as of 31
December 2023 to 1,435 as of 31 December 2024.

Other Income

The other income of the Group increased by 12.5% from RMB74.9 million
in 2023 to RMB84.3 million in 2024. Among them, (1) government grants
decreased from RMB30.9 million in 2023 to RMB24.9 million in 2024, and (2)
the revenue from IP license fee and other services increased from RMB43.0
million in 2023 to RMB56.7 million in 2024.

Operating Profit

As a result of the above, the Group's operating profit increased by 237.6%
from RMB1,230.6 million in 2023 to RMB4,154.3 million in 2024.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Finance Income, Net

Our finance income, net increased from RMB151.9 million in 2023 to
RMB163.4 million in 2024, primarily due to the increase in our interest

income.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense increased from RMB327.0 million in 2023 to
RMB1,057.5 million in 2024 as a result of the increase in profit before income
tax. Our effective tax rate increased from 23.1% in 2023 to 24.2% in 2024.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the above, our profit for the year increased from RMB1,088.8
million in 2023 to RMB3,308.3 million in 2024.

Non-IFRS Financial Indicators

To supplement our financial information which are presented in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, we use non-IFRS adjusted net profit as
an additional financial measure, which is not required by, or presented in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. We believe that this non-IFRS
measure facilitates comparisons of operating performance from period to
period and company to company by eliminating potential impacts of items
that our management does not consider to be indicative of our operating
performance. We believe that this measure provides useful information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated
results of operations in the same manner as they help our management.
However, our presentation of non-IFRS adjusted net profit may not be
comparable to a similarly titled financial measure presented by other
companies. The use of this non-IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical
tool, and investors should not consider it in isolation from, or as substitute for
analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as reported under

IFRS Accounting Standards.

POP MART
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The non-IFRS adjusted net profit has not been calculated in accordance
with the IFRS Accounting Standards, thus it is deemed as non-IFRS financial
indicator. The non-IFRS adjusted net profit refers to the net profit after
excluding share based payment, while the non-IFRS adjusted net profit
margin refers to the non-IFRS adjusted net profit divided by revenue. The

following table set out the reconciliation of non-IFRS financial indicators of
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the Company for the respective years.

AR & A IE B B B R R B A5 98
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Year ended 31 Year ended 31

December 2024 December 2023

HZE2024F BZE20234F

12A31H 12H31H

LEFE IEFE

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

(AR¥T ) (AR¥EFTT)

Profit for the year F R A 3,308,345 1,088,771
Adjustments FHEIEE

Share-based payment VARR 13 73 B RE 00 1< Sk R B 94,817 101,748

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit H B PR B T A R R A A BE 4 R 3,403,162 1,190,519

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin  FFE0BR B 765 #f 25 % Bl 4 A B 4 ) == 26.1% 18.9%

The management is of the view that share-based payment expenses are
non-cash items, which do not directly reflect our business operation. Hence,
through eliminating the effects of such items on calculation of non-IFRS
adjusted net profit, relevant operating performance can be better reflected,
and it would be more convenient to compare operating performance in

different years.
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Current Assets, Financial Resources and Capital Expenditures

In 2024, the Group adopted conservative and stable fund management and
financial policies with regard to its overall business operations. The Group

maintained the following resources to meet its working capital requirements:

Current assets and current liabilities

Our net current assets increased from RMB5,950.2 million as of 31 December
2023 to RMB8,866.1 million as of 31 December 2024.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent outstanding amounts receivable by us from our
customers in the ordinary course of business. Our trade receivables increased
from RMB321.3 million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB477.7 million as of 31
December 2024. The increase was primarily due to the increase in receivables
from wholesales and other channels as a result of business expansion in
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas. Trade receivables turnover days
decreased from 15 days in 2023 to 11 days as of 31 December 2024.

Inventories

Our inventories comprise finished goods. Our inventories increased from
RMB904.7 million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB1,524.5 million as of 31
December 2024. The increase was primarily due to the increase in product
inventories to meet with the sales demands. Inventory turnover days
decreased from 133 days in 2023 to 102 days as of 31 December 2024.

Cash and cash equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily comprise cash at bank. Cash and
cash equivalents increased from RMB2,077.9 million as of 31 December 2023
to RMB6,109.0 million as of 31 December 2024, which was mainly due to the

increase in cash flows from operating activities in 2024.
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Trade payables

Trade payables primarily represent our obligation to pay for merchandise
from suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Trade payables increased
from RMB444.9 million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB1,010.1 million as of
31 December 2024. Trade payable turnover days increased from 53 days in
2023 to 61 days as of 31 December 2024.

Bank borrowings

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any bank borrowings.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any pledged assets as of 31 December 2024 (31
December 2023: nil).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and
then multiplying by 100%. As of 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio
was 26.8% as compared with the gearing ratio of 22.0% as of 31 December
2023.

Contingency

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings, nor are we
aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings involving us. If
we are involved in such material legal proceedings, we would record any loss
or contingent liabilities when, based on information then available, it is likely
that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

As the Group subsidiaries operate in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao,
Taiwan and overseas, they are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from certain currency exposure (mainly related to US dollar, Hong Kong
dollar, Singapore dollar and European dollar). Our management considers
that the business is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as
the financial assets and liabilities of our Group denominated in currencies
other than the respective functional currencies of our operating entities are
insignificant. Although the Group does not hedge against foreign currency
fluctuation, we will keep a close eye on relevant developments and take
measures when it is necessary to ensure the foreign exchange risk is under

control.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures consist of purchases of property, plant and
equipment and purchases of intangible assets. The table below sets forth the

Group capital expenditures in 2023 and 2024:
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B2023F A K 2024 F B AR IE R

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023

BZE20245F HZE20235F

12A31H 12A31H

IEFE IEFE

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

(AR¥F ) (ANR®BFT)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BENHRE 372,668 324,179
Purchases of intangible assets BERFEE 144,022 68,287
Total Gl 516,690 392,466
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Human Resources

As of 31 December 2024, we had a total of 6,702 employees, including
5,267 sales personnel and 1,435 administrative and development personnel.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, we incurred staff costs (including

remuneration, payrolls, allowances and benefits) of RMB1,462.4 million.

Future Plans on Significant Investments

As of 31 December 2024, we did not hold any significant investment.

We will continue to seek for potential strategic investment opportunities, as
well as potential quality target operations and assets that can create synergy

effect to the Group.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

As of 31 December 2024, we had not conducted any material acquisition or

disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties we face are relating to: (i) as a pop culture
entertainment company, we cannot assure that we will be able to design and
develop products that will be popular with consumers, or that we will be able
to maintain the popularity of successful products; (i) we may not realize the
full benefit of our licenses if the IPs we are granted license have less market
appeal than expected or if sales from the products that use those IPs are
not sufficient to satisfy the minimum guaranteed royalties; (iii) our business
depends significantly on market recognition of our “Pop Mart” brand, and
any damage to our brand, trademarks or reputation, or failure to effectively
promote our brand, could materially and adversely impact our business and
results of operations; (iv) we use third-party manufactures to manufacture
all of our Pop Mart brand products, and failure in product quality control
may adversely affect our business; and (v) the slowdown in macro-economic
growth may weaken the demand in our products which may have a certain

negative impact on the Company’s operating results.
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Outlook

IP is the core driving force of our business. Through our innovative products,
quality service experience and diverse forms of entertainment, we aim
to meet consumer demands in an all-round way. By creating unique
pop toys with consummate craftsmanship, providing thoughtful services
and organizing a variety of interactive entertainment activities, we strive
to bring enjoyment of beauty, fashion and art to consumers, thereby
continuously increasing the brand value of Pop Mart, enhancing the loyalty
of users, consolidating our leading market position and maintaining strong

competitiveness.

We will make every effort to focus on enriching our IPs types and expanding
our IPs base. In terms of design and innovation, we will uphold high-quality
standards as always and introduce more products under the top series
that boast industry influence. Meanwhile, we will operate IPs continuously
through strengthening consumer perception of IPs and deepening the
emotional connection between fans and IPs. We will continuously increase
types of pop toys, expand areas of IP side products, and further explore the
value of box products such as plush, MEGA, toy bricks and other IP-related
products. At the same time, we will improve relevant technical standards
and the production and sales procedures of products, so as to promote the

comprehensive upgrading of our business.

We will continue to expand our global business footprint, with a focus on the
North America, Southeast Asia, and Europe markets. By developing physical
stores in globally iconic locations, we aim to enhance brand experience
and recognition. In addition to strengthening our presence on third-party
platforms, we will further increase investment in content e-commerce and
our official website to enhance brand influence, expand our user base, and
provide consumers with an in-depth pop culture experience. Leveraging
core IP advantages, we intend to strengthen cooperation with artists and
brands with diverse business presence, so as to enrich our product matrix
and promote the cross-boundary integration of pop culture. Through refined
operations and innovation in digitalization, we will also continuously improve

the global influence of pop culture.
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We will continue to promote pop toy culture through more diversified means
for enhancing our band influence on the whole industry continuously. We
will provide more exclusive benefits for our privilege members, increase
the stickiness of fans, as well as enhance the cultural identity and brand

awareness of fans.

While further engaging in the pop toy business, we will continue to cultivate
and expand new brands including MEGA, POPBLOCKS and GONG. Through
emerging businesses such as amusement parks and accessories, we will build
more bridges for fans to gain a deeper understanding of our IPs and increase
their ways to interact with IPs, so as to enhance the emotional connection
between fans and IPs. Moreover, we will construct a more sophisticated
and comprehensive business ecosystem with IP as its core, thereby driving
the comprehensive upgrade and sustainable development of the Group's

business.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group has no significant events
occurred after the Reporting Period which require additional disclosures or

adjustments.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEERE

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out

as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Ning (E28), aged 38, is our executive Director, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. Mr. Wang founded our
Group in October 2010, and is responsible for the overall strategic planning

and management of our Company.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in advertising from Sias International
College of Zhengzhou University (B8N K27 B HTBIFR EF) (currently
known as Sias University) in the PRC in June 2009, and his master's degree
in business administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University JE R REHEEIEEFT) in the PRC in June 2017.

Mr. Wang is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our
Company including Beijing Pop Mart, and Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding
Limited.

Mr. Wang is the spouse of Ms. Yang Tao, our vice president.

Ms. Liu Ran (£/£), aged 37, is our executive Director and vice president. Ms.
Liu joined our Group in July 2011 shortly after graduating from university. Ms.

Liu is in charge of the president office of our Company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor's degree in tourism management from Sias
International College of Zhengzhou University (currently known as Sias
University) in the PRC in July 2010, and her master's degree in business
administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in the PRC in July 2020.

Mes. Liu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of our

Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Si De (B]4E), aged 36, is our executive Director and co-chief operating
officer. Mr. Si joined our Group in March 2015, and is responsible for the
operations of the Group and the overall business in mainland China. Mr. Si
joined our Group as the brand director and was promoted to vice president
in July 2016

Mr. Si received his bachelor’'s degree in French studies from China
Communication University (P BEHAKE) in the PRC in July 2011, and
his master's degree in business administration from Guanghua School of

Management of Peking University in the PRC in July 2017.

Mr. Siis currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Company,
including Shanghai Pagu Commerce Co., Ltd. (E/BHEBE 5 BR AT

Beijing Paquhuyu Technology Co., Ltd. itf‘iﬁﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁj) and
(RERBIFF X EHE

Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural Communication Co., Ltd.

BRAT]

Mr. Moon Duk Il (3248 —), aged 46, is our executive Director and co-chief
operating officer. Mr. Moon joined our Group in August 2018, responsible
for overseeing the Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas business
department of our Company. Prior to that, Mr. Moon served successively as a
global business planning specialist, global business planning senior specialist
and global business planning junior manager at the business development
department of CJ CheillJedang Corporation from July 2013 to July 2018, and a
manager of the global strategy department of CJ ENM from January 2009 to
May 2013. From December 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Moon served at the

planning management department of Lotte Cinema Co., Ltd.

Mr. Moon received his bachelor's degree in Chinese from Konkuk University
in Korea in February 2005, and his master's degree in business administration

from Peking University in the PRC in July 2018.

Mr. Moon is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries and joint
ventures of our Company, including Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding Pte. Ltd.,
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD., and POP MART (Thailand) CO., Ltd.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tu Zheng (B##), aged 47, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Tu was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. Tu has been serving as a partner of Shanghai Fenggiao Investment
Management Co. Ltd. (E/B#BTIIREERBRAF]) since May 2018. He
served as a partner at Shenzhen Qifu Capital Management Co., LTD (&3
MR EAREEBRAR]) from May 2015 to April 2018. From June 2007
to April 2015, Mr. Tu worked at Shenzhen Fortune Caizhi Venture Capital
Management Co. Ltd. (RYITTZEEM B RIEKREEEBR A A]) where he
served successively as an investment manager, an investment director, the
general manager of Zhejiang branch office, the deputy general manager of
East China and the head of TMT sector.

Mr. Tu received his bachelor’s degree in English studies from Zhejiang
University (HIRE) in the PRC in June 2000, and his master's degree in
public policy from the University of Chicago in the United States in June
2003. Mr. Tu currently holds the China Securities Investment Fund Practicing
Certificate granted by the Asset Management Association of China (7 B35 %5
WEESEBHE) in August 2017.

Mr. Tu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.

Mr. He Yu (fAI8&), aged 44, is our non-executive Director. Mr. He was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. He founded and served as a partner of Shenzhen Qianhai Heiyi Innovation
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) CHYIFTIE RIEAIFIRE S E
P (ERAE)) since February 2016. Prior to that, Mr. He served as the head
of strategy and investment department at Beijing Bytedance Technology Co.
Ltd. b R FEBE B BHE B BR 22 7)) from August 2015 to February 2016.

Mr. He received his bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade
from Nankai University (FAFAZ) in the PRC in June 2003, and his master's
degree in finance from the University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom
in November 2005. Mr. He was admitted as a Chartered Financial Analyst by
the CFA Institute in September 2008, and was granted the China Securities
Investment Fund Practicing Certificate by the Asset Management Association
of China in February 2017.

Mr. He is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

FHTES

BEEE 475 ARTFRNTES - BAE
R2019F5 ARZERARRFNITES  BE
AEEGRHEXESR -

BRAEB2018F5 AREE LBRTIIREERE
RAFIKAERA - HHR2015F5 AE2018F 4 A
EERITRHEEREEERAGNEHA o
M2007F6 AE2015F4 8 - BEAERRITE
EVSAIXKRETEERAFMER - £EIET
RELKE  RERERNID ARIBLE -
RitE 2 AEBRTMTEFABEA »

B 5 7R 20004F 6 A IS BN KRB R EH
B4 807 - WH2003F6 AESEERZ M AE
AHBRBELEN - BEAEBRIFAATRE
HEBESEHEN2017F AR ENTEE S
REEGHERE -

ESEE B AEEL BB ENES -

ABEE - 4458 ARFFERITES « (AL 4E
R2019F5 ARZERARRIIFHMITES  BF
RMEFSRHERES -

Al 5e 7R 201645 2 A Bl I ORI AT B El
MREAECE(AREE)NERA - it
Al - SRR 20158 AE 201652 A IR
FEMEB R AR AR NEBEIEELEE -

Al SE £ 2003 F 6 AKES R ER A RS2 EEL
EEE HEELS LB - WH2005F11 AEE
REMRAFRBERMABE LT 26 o [AEER
2008F 9 AR MMEB SR BRI S
BROMNTED - WHR2017F2 AEPEBEHRERS
EHeREhEEFREEASNEFSE -

fal5e 4 B AT AL R BBENES -



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Jianjun ((REE), aged 58, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 December 2020 (the “Listing Date”"), and is

responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently a professor of organizational and strategic
management at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University.
Mr. Zhang's research focuses on corporate social responsibilities, corporate
political activities, leaders and leadership teams and corporate culture,
among other subjects. Mr. Zhang has been a faculty member at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University since March 2004. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated in-depth understanding of corporate governance from his
research over the past 15 years. His publication, Marketization and Democracy
in China, has won the first prize of the 11th sociology studies achievement
award of the Peking University in March 2011 and second prize of the 6th
award for outstanding achievement of scientific research in colleges and
universities issued by the Ministry of Education of the PRC. Mr. Zhang was
also awarded the Li Yining Teaching Award in December 2014 and Li Yining
Research Award in December 2018 by the Guanghua school of Management
of Peking University. Mr. Zhang served as an independent director of CCB Life

Insurance Company Limited from November 2014 to August 2017.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor's and master's degrees in law from Peking
University in the PRC in July 1989 and July 1992, respectively. Mr. Zhang
received his Ph.D in sociology from the University of California, Berkeley in
the United States in December 2003.

Mr. Wu Liansheng (5RE4), aged 54, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board. Mr. Wu was faculty
member at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University from
September 2001 to March 2022, and has been faculty member at Southern

University of Science and Technology Business School since March 2022.
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Mr. Wu had served directorships in certain listed companies. He served as
an independent director of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (FERERIRE
NE&DBBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600011), the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 902) and the New York Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: HNP) from May 2008 to July 2014, an independent
director of RiseSun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (5% 5% /R 2 2R I
BABMRAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002146) from January 2009 to January 2012, an independent director
of Western Mining Co,, Ltd. (FAEFEZR D BRAF]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601168) from February 2011 to
September 2015, an independent director of Wanda Cinema Line Co. Ltd (B
EBXRGIM AR AF]) (now known as Wanda Film Holding Co., Ltd (8
EBERM AR AR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002739) from January 2011 to November 2015, an independent
non-executive director of China National Building Material Company Limited
(P EIEM RN BR AR,
Code: 3323) from November 2011 to May 2016, an independent director of
Xinhuanet Co., Ltd (¥TEE A% (D AR A 7)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603888) from May 2014 to March 2016, an
independent director of BOC International (China) Co., Ltd. (1 iR BIBX 38 5 A%
D BBRAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
601696) from September 2018 to March 2021, and an independent director
of Rightway Holdings Co., Ltd. (IEJRIZREAHBRAF]), a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600321) form May 2020 to
May 2023. Mr. Wu has served as an independent director of Agricultural Bank

a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock

of China Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 601288) and the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1288) since November
2021.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in economics from Wuhan University
in the PRC in July 1993, his master's degree in economics from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1996, and his Ph.D in management from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (7 3 81 48 A E2) (now known
as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (FF B & BUE K Z)) in the
PRC in June 1999.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary (BESIR), aged 41, is our independent non-
executive Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for

providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ngan has served as the chief financial officer at Meitu, Inc, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1357) since June 2015. He was
appointed as one of the joint company secretaries of Meitu, Inc. on 2 August
2016, and became the company secretary of Meitu, Inc. since 15 December
2019. Between May 2012 and June 2015, Mr. Ngan held the positions of
chief operating officer, chief financial officer and joint company secretary at
Forgame Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 484). Prior to that, he was the director and head of Hong Kong and
China Internet research at UBS AG, where he worked from July 2006 to April
2012.

Mr. Ngan received his bachelor of science degree in economics from the
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania in the United States in 2006. He
has been a CFA Charterholder since 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Ning (E88), aged 38, is our executive Director, Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For details of his
biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this

section.

Mr. Si De (BEf8), aged 36, is our executive Director and Co-Chief Operating
Officer. For details of his biography, please see the sub-section headed

“Executive Directors”in this section.

Mr. Moon Duk Il (32f8—), aged 46, is our executive Director and Co-Chief
Operating Officer. For details of his biography, please see the sub-section

headed “Executive Directors”in this section.

Ms. Yang Tao (#3%), aged 38, is our vice president. Ms. Yang joined our
Group in October 2010 after completion of her master's program, and is in
charge of IP operation, product R&D and the Inner flow art organization of
our Company. Ms. Yang served as an executive director of the Company from
May 2019 to March 2024.

Ms. Yang received her bachelor's degree in general studies from Fort Hays
State University in the United States in May 2009, and her master’s degree in
communication studies from Hong Kong Baptist University in Hong Kong in
November 2010.
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Ms. Yang is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of

our Company.

Ms. Yang is the spouse of Mr. Wang, our executive Director, Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company.

Ms. Liu Ran (2]8), aged 37, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors”in this section.

Mr. Yang Jingbing (#887K), aged 46, is the Chief Financial Officer of our
Company. Mr. Yang joined our Group in August 2017, and is responsible for

the management of finance of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yang served successively as a manager of
the finance and capital department, an assistant to the general manager
and a chief financial officer of Beijing BBMG Dacheng Development Co.,
Ltd. (At REBAKFEEBRAF]) (now known as Beijing BBMG Property
Development Group Co., Ltd. b RE&BEMERELEEFRAF)) from
March 2010 to August 2017. He served as a manager of financial planning
department Beijing Dacheng Development Co., Ltd. (b R AR FEE AR A
Al) from March 2009 to March 2010. From September 2007 to March 2009,
Mr. Yang served as a member of the finance section of the listing office of
BBMG Corporation (3L R & FEX 5 B R A F]). Mr. Yang served as a staff of the
finance department of Beijing GEM Real Estate Development Company (3t &
T3 EFEHE M QF]) from July 2002 to September 2007.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in law and management in June
2002 from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC, and his
master's degree in business administration in June 2016 from the Guanghua

School of Management of Peking University in the PRC.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is a leading pop toy company, and a pioneer and key
promoter of pop toy culture in China. IP is at the core of our business. We
have established an integrated operation platform covering the entire
industry chain of pop toy IPs, including four segments being IP incubation
and operation, pop toys and retail, theme park and IP experience, and digital
entertainment, through which we light up the passion of fans and bring

them joy.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in

the consolidated financial statements on pages 188 to 334 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

We intend to distribute dividends to our Shareholders on an annual basis
of no less than 20% of our distributable net profit, which is subject to the
discretion of our Directors. The Board, with the sanction of the Shareholders
in general meeting, may direct any dividend be satisfied wholly or in part by
the distribution of specific assets of any kind. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our constitutional
documents and the Cayman Companies Law. Our Shareholders in a general
meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed
the amount recommended by our Board. No dividends shall be declared
or payable except out of our profits and reserves of our Company lawfully
available for distribution including share premium. No dividend shall carry

interest against our Company.
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The Board will review dividend policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared and

paid:

our results of operations;

our cash flows;

our financial condition;

our capital requirements;

relevant legal requirements; and

other factors the Board may deem relevant.
In accordance with the third amended and restated Articles of Association,
the Company in general meeting may declare dividends in any currency but

no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

As at 31 December 2024, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the

shareholders of the Company waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of RMB81.46 cents
per ordinary Share issued for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 27 May 2025 (the “AGM"). The final dividend is payable
to the Shareholders whose names are listed in the register of members of the
Company on Wednesday, 4 June 2025. Once approved by the AGM, the final
dividend is expected to be distributed on Friday, 20 June 2025.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company'’s securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Tuesday, 27 May 2025. The notice
of the AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due
course in the manner as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 22 May
2025 to Tuesday, 27 May 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 May
2025.

In order to determine the entitlement to the proposed final dividends, subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 2 June 2025 to Wednesday, 4 June
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to be qualified to obtain final dividends,
all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30 May 2025.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the Group's
performance during the year, using financial key performance indicators
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position as well
as the outlook of the Group's business are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 37 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis”on page 35 of this annual report,

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility to promote a sustainable and eco-
friendly environment. In this respect, we strive to minimize our environmental
impact by reducing our carbon footprint and to build our corporation in a

sustainable way.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, we are subject to various
environmental protection laws and regulations. For more details, please
refer to “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report
for our work in respect of environmental protection, social and governance

during year ended 31 December 2024.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. Directors confirm that, during the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we had
not involved in any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against
us or any of our Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial conditions or results of operations. Furthermore, to
the knowledge of our Directors, there is no pending or foreseeable litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceeding against us or any of our Directors
that could cause a material and adverse effect on our business, financial

conditions or results of operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, the Group had complied with the laws in all material respects, including
the requirements under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the SFO and the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules for, among other things, the disclosure of information and corporate

governance.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. This summary

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of 31 December 2024, we had a total of 6,702 employees. Substantially all

of our employees are based in the PRC.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training are regularly
provided to our employees by internally sourced speakers or externally hired

consultants.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to

time.

We enter into standard contracts and agreements regarding confidentiality,
intellectual property, employment, commercial ethics and non-competition
with all of our executive officers and the vast majority of our employees.
These contracts typically include a non-competition provision and a

confidentiality provision effective during and after their employment with us.

We believe that we maintain a good working relationship with our
employees, and we have not experienced any significant labor disputes or
any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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Customers

Our customers primarily consist of our fans and distributors, and to a lesser
extent, our bulk purchase corporate customers. We generally provide credit
terms to our wholesale customers ranging from 30 to 90 days. Certain
wholesale customers with good history and long-term relationship are
extended preferential credit terms of up to 180 days. We have a diversified

customer base.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's sales to its five largest

customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

Suppliers

Currently, our suppliers primarily include selected third-party manufacturers
in China. We select third-party manufacturers based on factors such as
quality, capacity, price, years of operation, reputation and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Most of our third-party manufacturers have
extensive industry experience and cooperate with other major toy brands in
China and globally. In addition, our suppliers also include third-party brand

owners from whom we procure their products and sell through our network.

We usually enter into supply agreements of at least one year with our
suppliers, subject to our standard terms and conditions. In most cases, when
orders placed with a particular supplier exceed the agreed amount, we will
be entitled to a percentage rebate or discount on the purchase price as
agreed with the supplier. Our suppliers may grant us credit terms of up to
180 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for 73.5% of the Group's total purchases and

purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 35.1%.

So far as our Directors are aware, none of our Directors or executive officers
of our Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates or any
Shareholders of our Company holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of our Company immediately following the completion of the Global
Offering, had any interests in any of our five largest suppliers during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,342,943,150 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out on pages 193 to 194 in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserve available for distribution
to shareholders amounted to approximately RMB11,359,463,000. For more

details, please refer to note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 14 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the Latest Practicable
Date and based on the information publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the

minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association or
the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year

ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out

EEREREEE

ARARREE2024F 12 A3 BEFEHRHLE
EREBEERUTHEHNESRaREREHT

below: UM

Name Position in the Company

] R AR B

Directors

=

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
ITERLE WITEE FFSLFENITHRER

Ms. Yang Tao (resigned as Executive Director
on 20 March 2024)
BB T (R20244F 3 H20 HFERHTT

Vice President

EBE) Bl4azt
Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President
2l/Lt BITEENEIRR
Mr. Si De Executive Director and Co-Chief Operating Officer
AlEEA BITERNBEEREELYE

Mr. Moon Duk Il (was appointed as Executive
Director on 20 March 2024)
MBS (R2024F3 20 HEZ (F BT

Executive Director and Co-Chief Operating Officer

EBE) BITEENMEERELR
Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director
EELE FEMITES
Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director
B E FMITES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent Non-executive Director
REHSTE BUIFITES
Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent Non-executive Director
REFAE ST BUIFHITES
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent Non-executive Director
YR KL BIIFHITES

Senior management
EREERE

Mr. Wang Ning
ITERLE

Mr. Si De
AIfELAE

Mr. Moon Duk Il
MBSt

Ms. Yang Tao
BRRL

Ms. Liu Ran
2Bt

Mr. Yang Jingbing
B8k E

Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
WITESR  FF2FFRITHEAH

Executive Director and Co-Chief Operating Officer
BITERRBEEREELYE

Executive Director and Co-Chief Operating Officer
BITERRBEEREELYE

Vice President

Blia#

Executive Director and Vice President

BITER REIRE

Chief Financial Officer

ElE3E0)
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management do not

have any relationship amongst them.

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wang Ning,
Mr. Si De and Ms. Liu Ran will retire by rotation, and being eligible, have

offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM.

None of the retiring Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory

obligations.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on

pages 38 to 44 of this annual report.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Liu Ran and Mr.
Si De, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. Mr. Moon Duk Il has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three year
commencing from his appointment, which are subject to termination in
accordance with his service contact. The service contract will be automatically

renewed upon expiration.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by
either the non-executive Directors or the Company. The service contract will

be automatically renewed upon expiration.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either the independent non-executive Director or the
Company. The appointment letter will be automatically renewed upon

expiration.
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The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement and

rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service agreement which
is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive

INDEPENDENT NON-

Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 December
2024 and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

On 20 March 2024, Ms. Yang resigned from her position as an executive
director of the Company, in order to focus on IP operation and product
R&D. On the same day, Mr. Moon Duk Il was appointed by the Board as an
executive director of the Company.

Mr. Moon has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules as regards the requirements under the Listing Rules that
are applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer and the possible
consequences of making a false declaration or giving false information to the
Stock Exchange on 18 March 2024, and he has confirmed he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to the Directors’

and chief executive’s information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
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EERTBRAZRKAD - HER
PREEIFNEZERKXE

R2024F 128318 » ARRIEERITBAHER
AABSEAMEREE (TER(EHFRPE
&G EXVER) BB - MERARR (D R EHEE T E#
BRBE(ESRBE KRG EXVIETRESH T
EAMgARARE MBI (BERE(EFLEE
&G BB BIE X RSB E R AR R
KHE)  RARIE (B FH R HIE 50 ) 835214678
FHEEMNZ LML RIFZETAE BT
MEARNB RS AR IT

RAR TR RIEER DR
Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Shares held™ Company (%)
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest FERe ER NG
EEpnA B RERHE HEROEAHD BAE D (%)™
Mr. Wang Ning Beneficiary and founder of a trust; and Interest of 654,381,407 (L) 48.73%
FEEE controlled corporation®?
BERNZmAREIBRA - REEEER
Mr. Si De Beneficial owner and founder of a discretionary trust® 10,338,126 (L) 0.77%
AfESEE BEnfEa ARBISEFZAIPHAC
Mr. Tu Zheng Interest of controlled corporation ) 11,910,000 (L) 0.89%
Bkt R AR
Mr. Moon Duk Il Beneficial owner and interest of controlled corporation® 1,319,618 (L) 0.10%
XiE—EE BREE ARZ I EEERS
Notes: i

(1) As at 31 December 2024, the Company had issued 1,342,943,150 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(1) M2024%F12A8318  ARAAIAHS BT
1,342,943, 150 &M% (0 - FE[LIREHBA LA
DHETA o
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GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 561,131,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the sole
shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the 31,196,420
Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under the SFO.
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVl and holds 62,053,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang Ning
holds 40.96% of the issued share capital of Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited. Mr.
Wang Ning therefore is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Pop Mart
Hehuo Holding Limited under the SFO.

Sidsi Holding Limited is an investment holding company incorporated under the
laws of BVI and wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of XM Family Trust
set up by Mr. Si De (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Si De. Mr. Si De is deemed to
be interested in 8,833,075 Shares held by Sidsi holding Limited under the SFO. Mr.
Si De is entitled to receive 609,851 award Shares granted to him under the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme and 895,200 Shares purchased by him.

Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited is wholly owned by Shanghai Zhuniao Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership), which is 99.9% and 0.1% owned
by Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
respectively. Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited
Partnership) is owned as to 1% by Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership), while Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) is owned as to 69% by Mr. Tu
Zheng. Mr. Tu Zheng is therefore deemed to be interested in the 11,910,000
shares in the Company held by Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited by virtue of the
SFO.

Mr. Moon Duk Il directly holds 823,290 Shares of the Company. Justin Moon
Holding Limited, an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of
BVI, is wholly owned by Mr. Moon Duk Il. Therefore, Mr. Moon Duk Il is deemed to
be interested in the 496,328 Shares held by Justin Moon Holding Limited under
the SFO.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &

GWF Holding B— RN EB# R ST 8
HBRAF] © FHUBS Trustees (BV.I) Lid 2 E#H -
MUBS Trustees (BV.L) Ltd. AR EELEE (fEAE
FAA)UNEXAEAZHZARIMEANZTA -
RE(EF LRGN  EEAERRBRGWF
Holding P AR 2 &]561,131,960 B A& 17 b 1 A #
% ° Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited & —RAREHE
HRREEEATMNINBERRAR - MEE%

ERE—IRE - REBE(EFRBERA) =
SeE AR AR Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited
AT AR A R]31,196,420 R AR5 R A 2% © Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited & —SRARIK L& 4 =
HEAEFMAINERRATR - URAREHE
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Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership)f
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
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B EXATIREESN 20245128318 © HHE
RNARESHNAR B RETAEEAE (TER
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EREE R SR AEE ERIE(GESF RS
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BEREIEL R REANEREOKXR) - ER
MRIECEF RBEGO1) F352EAB AR FF
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BT R SOK A ©

FERRRER G RAEBRSNE
BmRIRR

20245124318 - BARAIES RITAEE
Fral - THIAL (RRFEERITHRAERRIN)
B sk 8 B AR 1 kB AR IR (B A R EE KB )
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(BEREEED)E336EBRARTEFENE
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RAR TR A KA R D B R

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding

underlying interest in the

Shares held™ Company (%)

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest RS ER NG T

RERERB B RERME HEROAHD BAE D (%)™

UBS Trustees (B.V.I) Limited Trustee® 561,131,960 (L) 41.78%

XEFEA?

GWF Holding Limited Beneficial owner® 561,131,960 (L) 41.78%

BEmBEEAY

Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2024, the Company had issued 1,342,943,150 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares.
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(2)  GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 561,131,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
31,196,420 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than the Directors of the Company) who
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year,
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the

Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no issuance of debentures was

made by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their associates or the
controlling shareholders had any interests in any business which competes
or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

The Group entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements which would
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Background

The Company is prohibited from directly owning any equity interest in Paqu
Huyu. Therefore, in order for our Group to effectively control and enjoy the
entire economic benefit of Paqu Huyu, a series of Contractual Arrangements
have been entered into among Beijing Pop Mart, Paqu Huyu, and the
Relevant Shareholders. The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Paqu Huyu in consideration for
the services provided by Beijing Pop Mart to Paqu Huyu; (i) exercise effective
control over Paqu Huyu; and (iii) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Paqu Huyu when and to the extent permitted
by PRC law.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from Paqu Huyu to our Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements

after completion of the Reorganization:

Relevant
Beijing Pop Mart  |¢---------
eying Pop Ma < Shareholders @
A
w Lo 100%
v v
Paqu Huyu

“ 7 denotes legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest

“......70 denotes the Contractual Arrangements

(1) Beijing Pop Mart provides software development and other technical consultation
services in exchange for service fees from Paqu Huyu.
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(2)  The Relevant Shareholders executed an exclusive option agreement in favour
of Beijing Pop Mart, for the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests and/or
assets in Paqu Huyu. The Relevant Shareholders pledged as first charge all of their
respective equity interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security

for any or all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance
of their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and
Powers of Attorney. The Relevant Shareholders executed the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement and Powers of Attorney in favour of Beijing Pop Mart.

(3)  Mr. Wang Ning holds 91.56% of the shares of Paqu Huyu. 27 other shareholders
hold an aggregate of 8.44% of the shares of Paqu Huyu, including Mr. Song Quan
(0.31%), Mr. Wu Zhongfu (0.31%), Mr. Zhao Jianyi (0.31%), Ms. Zhou Lixia (0.31%),
Mr. Xiao Yang (0.31%), Mr. Mai Gang (0.31%), Mr. Yang Jingbing (0.31%), Ms. Li
Shuangshuang (0.31%), Mr. Wang Pei (0.31%), Ms. Yu Chunxiao (0.31%), Mr. Chen
Hua (0.31%), Ms. Yang Guifang (0.31%), Ms. Ma Honghong (0.31%), Mr. Yin Wei
(0.31%), Mr. Si De (0.31%), Ms. Yang Tao (0.31%), Mr. Zhou Lifeng (0.31%), Mr.
Cheng Fu (0.31%), Mr. Zhang Chao (0.31%), Mr. Wu Yi (0.31%), Mr. Xing Zongyu
(0.31%), Mr. Yang Jigan (0.31%), Ms. Yu Jing (0.31%), Mr. Hu Jian (0.31%), Mr. Cai
Xiaodong (0.31%), Mr. Xuan Yilang (0.31%) and Ms. Liu Ran (0.31%). Mr. Wang
Ning and the 27 other shareholders are collectively referred to as the “Relevant
Shareholders".

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
Exclusive Option Agreement

Pagu Huyu and its Relevant Shareholders entered into an exclusive option
agreement with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 upon completion
of the Reorganization (collectively, the “Exclusive Option Agreement”),
pursuant to which Beijing Pop Mart (or a third party designated by it, the
“designee”) will be granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in and/or assets of Paqu Huyu for a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws
request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case
the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Relevant Shareholders shall return any
amount of purchase price they have received to Paqu Huyu. At Beijing Pop
Mart's request, the Relevant Shareholders and/or Paqu Huyu will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or the
relevant assets of Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart (or its designee) after Beijing
Pop Mart exercises its purchase right. The Exclusive Option Agreement is
for an initial term of 10 years. The Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu
shall agree to an extension of the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement
if Beijing Pop Mart requests for extension before the expiry, and shall sign a
new Exclusive Option Agreement or continue the obligations of the Exclusive

Option Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.
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Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement

Paqu Huyu entered into an Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 (the "Exclusive Consultation
and Service Agreement’), pursuant to which Paqu Huyu will agree to
engage Beijing Pop Mart as its exclusive provider of software development
and promotion, technical support, business cooperation consultation, market
consultancy, customer management consultancy, public relations and
human resources consultancy, market research, setting market development
plans and other relevant consultation and services required by Paqu Huyu,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, Beijing Pop Mart
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, which will be wired to
the designated account of Beijing Pop Mart upon issuance of payment

notification by Beijing Pop Mart.

Unless terminated by Beijing Pop Mart prior to the expiry of the Exclusive
Consultation and Service Agreement, it is for an initial term of 10 years and
may be extended by Beijing Pop Mart for a term determined by Beijing Pop
Mart, and shall sign a new Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
or continue the obligations of the Exclusive Consultation and Service

Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.

Share Pledge Agreement

Pagu Huyu, the Relevant Shareholders and Beijing Pop Mart entered into
a share pledge agreement on 18 December 2019 (collectively, the “Share
Pledge Agreement’). Under the Share Pledge Agreement, the Relevant
Shareholders will pledge as first charge all of their respective equity
interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security for any or
all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance of
their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement.
Beijing Pop Mart is entitled to implement the pledge under the Share Pledge
Agreement if the above default is not successfully resolved to Beijing Pop
Mart's satisfaction within 10 days upon the written demand. The pledges
under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly registered with the

relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.
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Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

A Voting Rights Proxy Agreement has been entered into between the
Relevant Shareholders, Beijing Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu on 18 December
2019, whereby the Relevant Shareholders will irrevocably, unconditionally
and exclusively appoint Beijing Pop Mart or a designated person as their
exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
Pagu Huyu and to exercise all of their rights as a registered shareholder of
Pagu Huyu. As a result of the Powers of Attorney, we, through Beijing Pop
Mart, is able to exercise management control over the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of Paqu Huyu. The Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement also provided that, in order to avoid potential
conflicts of interest, where the Relevant Shareholders are officers or directors
of our Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favor of other unrelated

officers or the Directors of our Group.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon 30 days of written
notice given by Beijing Pop Mart once Beijing Pop Mart has exercised its right
to purchase all equity interest or assets of Paqu Huyu under the Exclusive
Options Agreement. Paqu Huyu has no right to unilaterally terminate the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement unless provided by law. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon expiry, unless extended based on
relevant provisions of the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate prior to expiry only when Beijing Pop Mart
has committed gross negligence, fraud, other illegal activities, declares
bankrupt or enters into liquidation. Shall Beijing Pop Mart declare bankrupt
or enters into liquidation prior to the expiry of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement, the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate automatically.
Despite the provisions mentioned, Beijing Pop Mart has the power to
terminate the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement at any time given 30 days of

written notice to the Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu.
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Spouse Undertakings

Each of the spouses of the Relevant Shareholders executed an irrevocable
undertaking on 18 December 2019, whereby he/she expressly and irrevocably
acknowledged and undertook that (i) any equity interests held by his/her
spouse as a registered shareholder in Paqu Huyu do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are
in conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) he/she had never
participated and will not participate in the operation or management of Paqu

Huyu.

Business Activities of Paqu Huyu and Significance to the Group

Our growth could be attributed to our dedication to promoting pop toy
culture and have attracted a premium and passionate fan base. We have
membership program to build our fan community, enhance its loyalty, and
incentivize repeat purchases through a variety of membership benefits.
Through our membership program, we are also able to communicate with
our fans in a frequent, efficient and real time manner. We are exploring new
and fun ways to develop a comprehensive community with our fans and our
online community, including online culture services and internet information
services. In order to expand, we launched Paqu Huyu whose principal
business activities are to conduct online culture services and internet
information services to our fans and community (collectively, the “Relevant

Businesses”).

Reasons for Adoption of the Contractual Arrangements

The Relevant Businesses of Pagu Huyu are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations. Paqu
Huyu currently holds an ICP License and an ICB License, which are required
for the operation of the Relevant Businesses. After consultation with our
PRC Legal Advisor, we determined that it was not viable for our Group to
directly hold any equity ownership in Paqu Huyu. Instead, we decided that,
in line with common practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign
investment restrictions, we would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by Paqu
Huyu through the Contractual Arrangements between Beijing Pop Mart, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company established in the PRC, on the one

hand, and Paqu Huyu and the Relevant Shareholders, on the other hand.
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Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of contractual arrangements

and the relinquishment of our interest in Paqu Huyu.

Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Paqu Huyu or its Relevant
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual

arrangements.

We may lose the ability to use assets held by Paqu Huyu that are
material to our business operations if Paqu Huyu declare bankruptcy or

become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The Relevant Shareholders of Paqu Huyu may have conflicts of interest

with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.

If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of
Paqu Huyu the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to certain

limitations and substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and
implementation of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact
the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance

and business operations.

Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the value of your

investment.
For further details of these risks, please refer to the section headed "Risk

Factors — Risks Related to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus

of our company.
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Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of our Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for

review and discussion as and when they arise;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with

the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and

our Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional
advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing
Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu to deal with specific issues or matters arising

from the Contractual Arrangements.

Material Changes

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there were no material changes in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which the

Contractual Arrangements were adopted.

Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there has not been any unwinding of any
Contractual Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the adoption of

the Contractual Arrangements are removed.
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Confirmations

Our Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) no transaction has been carried
out during the Reporting Period which have not been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;
(i) no dividends or other distributions have been made by Paqu Huyu to
the Relevant Shareholders which are not otherwise subsequently assigned
or transferred to our Group; (iii) no new contract has been entered into,
renewed or reproduced between our Group and Paqu Huyu during the
Reporting Period; and (iv) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, and are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our Group
is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its Shareholders as a

whole.

No service fee was paid by Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart pursuant to
the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2024. The revenue and net loss of Paqu Huyu subject to the
Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB21.5 million
and RMB47.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, respectively.
The total assets and total liabilities of Paqu Huyu subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB100.6 million and RMB149.1

million as at 31 December 2024, respectively.

The auditor of the Company confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with

respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions:

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved
by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in

accordance with relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
dividends or other distributions have been made by Paqu Huyu to the
holders of the equity interests of Paqu Huyu which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as the related party transactions involving payment of remuneration to
certain Directors, which constitute continuing connected transactions fully
exempt from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 14A.76(1)
or Rule 14A.95 of the Listing Rules, during the year ended 31 December 2024,
none of these related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction as defined under the Listing Rules. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A

of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any

disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or an entity connected with
a Director was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract which is significance in relation to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during the year ended 31 December
2024 or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024 between the Company
and a person other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time

employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) in relation to directors” and officers’
liability insurance is currently in force and was in force during the Reporting

Period.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its associated
companies during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date.

STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors.
The packages were set by benchmarking with companies in similar industries,
companies with similar size in the market, volume and complexity of work.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the

Group.

The remuneration payable to our employees includes salaries, bonuses and
employee benefit plans contributions. The salaries of our employees are
generally determined by the employees’ respective position, qualification,
experience and performance. The bonuses are calculated based on our
employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance of
our employees. In order to attract and retain our employees, we assess
the remuneration package offered to our employees on an annual basis to
determine whether any adjustment to the basic salaries and bonus should be

made.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to
time. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no forfeiture of
contributions under the defined contribution plans of the Group, and there
were no forfeited contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the

existing level of contributions.
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We provide training programs for all of our employees to enhance our
employees’ knowledge, skills and capability relevant to our business. All of
our new hires will be provided with an induction program to familiarize with
the Group, followed by on-the-job training based on departmental needs
and the development strategies of the Group. We also provide promotion
opportunities for capable employees as we have policies and procedures

setting out the assessment criteria for promotion.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 38 and note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively. During the year ended 31
December 2024, there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the
Directors, past Directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement

to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:
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Year ended
31 December 2023

(Number of Senior

Year ended
31 December 2024
(Number of Senior

Management) Management)
HZE2024F BZE 20235
12A318LFE 2ANHIEFE

(BREERBAR) (BREEREABD

Emolument bands (in HKD)
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000
HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000
HKD10,000,001 to HKD10,500,000

B & #8[E (LA TTET)

1,000,001 7L 2 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 7T % 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 7% 2,500,000 7T
2,500,001 7. 3,000,000 7T
3,500,001/ 7L £ 4,000,0007% 7T
6,500,001 % 7L £ 7,000,000 7T
8,500,001% JL £ 9,000,000 7T
10,000,001 7T 2 10,500,000/ 7T

- N N |
| N
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POST-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
on 24 July 2020 (the “Adoption Date”) and amended on 17 May 2023 (the

“Amendment Date”). Our Company appointed Trident Trust Company (HK)

Limited as the trustee (the "Trustee”) of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

to administer the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme with respect to the grant of

any award by the Board (an “Award") which may vest in the form of Shares

("Award Shares”) or the actual selling price of the Award Shares in cash in

accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. As at 31 December 2024,

the remaining life of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme was approximately

five years and eight months. Unless otherwise stated, capitalized terms used

in this section shall have the same meanings as those defined in the circular
of the Company dated 24 April 2023.

(a)

POP MART

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are: (i) to align the
interests of Eligible Persons with those of the Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the
increase in value of the Shares; and (ii) to encourage and retain eligible
persons to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of

the Group.

Participant of the Scheme

The eligible persons who may be selected to become a participant of
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are any individuals, or corporate
entities (as the case may be) being any of (i) an Employee Participant; (ii)
a Related Entity Participant; and (iii) a Service Provider, who the Board or
its delegates considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will
contribute to the Group. No individual who is resident in a place where
the grant, acceptance or vesting of the Awards pursuant to the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations
of such place or where, in the view of the Board or its delegates,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes
it necessary or expedient to exclude such individual, shall be entitled
to participate in the Scheme and such individual, shall be entitled to

participate in the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.
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(c) Scheme Limit and Service Provider Sublimit

The Company shall not make any further grant of Award which
will result in the aggregate number of Shares to be issued by the
Company in respect of all grants of options and awards made after the
Amendment Date pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme and
any other schemes adopted by the Company (excluding options or
awards lapsed in accordance with relevant scheme rules) to exceed 10%
of the total issued and outstanding Shares as at the Amendment Date
unless Shareholders approve a further refreshment of the Scheme Limit
or Shareholders’ approval is obtained in compliance with the Listing

Rules.

The Company shall not make any further grant of Awards to Service
Providers which will result in the aggregate number of Shares to be
issued by the Company in respect of all grants of options and awards
made to Service Providers, after the Amendment Date pursuant to the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme and any other schemes adopted by
the Company (excluding options or awards lapsed in accordance with
relevant scheme rules) to exceed 1% of the total issued and outstanding
Shares as at the Amendment Date unless the Shareholders approve a
further refreshment of the Service Provider Sublimit or Shareholders’

approval is obtained in compliance with the Listing Rules.

As at the beginning and the end of the Reporting Period, the number
of Award Shares available for grant under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme is 131,928,235 and 131,598,067 respectively, of which the
number of Award Shares available for grant under the Service Provider
Sublimit is 13,675,901 and 13,675,901, respectively.

No new Shares may be issued in respect of Award Shares granted under
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2024 as those Award Shares shall be funded by the Shares previously
issued to and held by the Trustee. As at 31 December 2024, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme is 124,029,416, representing approximately 9.24% of the total

issued Shares.
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(d)

POP MART

Individual Limit

Where any grant of Awards to a Selected Participant would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and
awards granted to such person, pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company (excluding
options or awards lapsed in accordance with relevant scheme rules),
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the total issued and outstanding
Shares of the Company in issue at the relevant time, such grant must
be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such
Selected Participant and his/her close associates (or associates if the

Selected Participant is a connected person) abstain from voting.

Grant of Award

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may, from time to time, at
their absolute discretion, grant an Award to a selected participant (in
the case of the Board's delegate(s), to any selected participant other
than a Director or an officer of our Company) by way of an award letter
(the “Award Letter”). The award letter will specify the grant date, the
number of Award Shares underlying the Award, the vesting criteria and
conditions, the vesting date and such other details as the Board or the

Scheme Administrator may consider necessary.

No consideration is payable by the Selected Participant on application or
acceptance of the Awards and there is no period within which payments

or calls must or may be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid.
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(f)

Vesting Period

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may from time to time while the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable
laws, determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the
Award to be vested hereunder, provided however that the vesting
period for Awards shall not be less than 12 months, except that any
Awards granted to an Employee Participant may be subject to a shorter

vesting period, including where:

(i) grants of "make whole” Awards to new Employee Participant to
replace awards or options such Employee Participants forfeited

when leaving their previous employers;

(i) grants to an Employee Participant whose employment is terminated

due to death or disability or event of force majeure;

(iii) grants of Awards which are subject to fulfillment of performance

targets as determined in the conditions of his/her grant;

(iv) grants of Awards the timing of which is determined by
administrative or compliance requirements not connected with
the performance of the relevant Employee Participant, in which
case the Vesting Date may be adjusted to take account of the time
from which the Award would have been granted if not for such

administrative or compliance requirements;

(v) grants of Awards with a mixed vesting schedule such that the

Awards vest evenly over a period of 12 months; or

(vi) grant of Awards with a total vesting period of more than 12 months,
such as where the Awards may vest by several batches with the first
batch to vest within 12 months of the grant date and the last batch

to vest 12 months after the grant date.

Purchase Price

The purchase price payable (if any) for the Award Shares will be stated
in the Award Letter, to be determined by the Board or the Scheme
Administrator in accordance with the purpose of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme, taking into account (including but not limited to)
the prevailing closing price of the Shares and profile of the selected

participant.

(f)
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the details of the changes in

the Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are

HZE20024F12831BIEFE  Ea AR
BERRNDEEERE 2 EZBR GO E

set out below: FEFEBEHIIAT
Number of Award Shares
HHE
Number of Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled
Award Asat duringthe duringthe duringthe during the As at
Shares 1January Reporting Reporting Reporting  Reporting 31 December
Relevant Granted 2024 Period Period Period Period 2024
Participant BE%B  Grant Date Vesting Period R2024F  HREHE HREGE BEHE  FEHE 20245
HEZEE RGHE HBEBH BEEH 1A1H 554 EHE BAX 2 12A31H
Mr. Si De 609,851 21 April 2023 Vested in tranches within 3 years 457,388 0 152,463 0 0 304,925
AEEE 2023F4 8218 upon the grant date
R RSBEIENARAREE
Employees 2683326 4 January 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 280,778 0 239916 39,864 0 998
EE 202161 A4R years upon the grant date
R BBRIENIRAREE
721290 1 April 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 73,766 0 38,942 0 0 34,824
202154818 years upon the grant date
R BBRIERNIRAREE
763,258 1 June 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 320,011 0 156,802 12,236 0 150,973
2021F6A1H years upon the grant date
REBBRIENIRARES
160,752 2 July 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 45,603 0 22,804 0 0 22,799
202157828 years upon the grant date
REBBRIENIRARES
348,058 4 October 2021 Vested in tranches within 4 164,054 0 84,244 0 0 79,810
20215 10A4R8 years upon the grant date
REBBRIENIRRES
113,489 3 January 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 44,836 0 22422 0 0 22414
2022%1A3A8 years upon the grant date
REBBRIENIRRES
1,303,792 1 April 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 1,067,472 0 406,691 37,465 0 623,316
202F4A18 years upon the grant date
REBBRIFNIRRES
102,164 4 July 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 98,022 0 46,942 18,637 0 32,443
2022%7A4H years upon the grant date
RERBRIENIRAES
407277 4 July 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 234,702 0 117,351 0 0 117,351
2022%7A4H years upon the grant date
RLRBRIENIRANEB
222379 3 October 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 214,436 0 82,070 0 0 132,366
2022%10A38 years upon the grant date
RHBBEENIBREER
102906 30 December 2022 Vested in tranches within 4 52,923 0 26,462 0 0 26,461
2022%12 4308 years upon the grant date
REBBRAENIHAER
3,679,083 21 April 2023 Vested in tranches within 4 years 2,724,434 0 803,699 15,246 0 1,905,489
2023F48218 upon the grant date
RHBBRIENIBREE
68,709 7 July 2023 Vested in tranches within 4 years 68,709 0 0 0 0 68,709
2023F7A7H upon the grant date
RHBBRENIBREER
4769445 18 October 2023 Vested in tranches within 4 years 4,761,981 0 1,391,667 499,936 0 2,870,378
2023108188 upon the grant date
K ARR4ERNIHRER
408,194 21 March 2024 Vested in tranches within 4 years 0 408,194 0 02,434 0 345,760
2024F3A8218 upon the vesting commencement
date (i.e. January 15, 2024)
BB E S (A2024%1 7
158) RAFRDBRER
164,659 26 April 2024 Vested in tranches within 4 years 0 164,659 0 0 0 164,659
2024547268 upon the grant date
BREABRIERNIPARER
177,013 20 July 2024 Vested in tranches within 4 years 0 177,013 0 6210 0 170,803
20247 F 208 upon the grant date
KRB BRAERDHURER
159361 1 November 2024  Vested in tranches within 4 years 0 159,361 0 10,389 0 148,972
2024E 11 A18 upon the grant date

BRHABRIFADHREE

yZ3 POP MART
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Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

The purchase price of all Award Shares in the table above is nil.

For Mr. Si De, the weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the date on which the Award Shares were vested in 2024 was
HKD31.50 per Share.

For employees of the Group, the weighted average closing price of the
Shares immediately before the date on which the Award Shares were vested

in 2024 was HKD43.81 per Share.

The following grants were made during 2024:

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)
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ERPMBERBBRHNOBEERT -

PEEEEmE - BN N 20245 5
[ B HA AT RO B 0 hnE T M B A E 3150
BT e

REAEEREME @ BERERMHMN 2024
FEBASAAROINEFHETESTR
438178 7T °

R2024FFLIFERAOT -
Fair Value of

Awards at the Grant
Date per Award Share

Closing Price of
Shares Immediately

before the Grant Date (HKS)
(HK$) BREBRSD
Number of Award RBERH A8 RELHBH
Relevant Participant Grant Date Shares Granted ZRBERHE HERBQFE
HE2REE #EBH R RBROEE (#7T) (%)
Employees 21 March 2024 408,194 24.70 28.65

(== 2024F3A218°
26 April 2024 164,659 33.95 33.80

202454 H26 R
20 July 2024 177,013 41.60 41.60

202447 H20R
1 November 2024 159,361 70.50 71.50

2024511 R1EW

The grantees include a senior manager. For more details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 21 March 2024, 26 April 2024, 20 July
2024 and 1 November 2024, respectively.

All of the grants during the year ended 31 December 2024 were subject to
fulfillment of certain individual performance targets stipulated in respective
grant letters.

Details of the valuation of the Award Shares during the year, including the
accounting standard and policy adopted for the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was

entered into by the Company at any time during or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 December 2024.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024

amounted to RMB0.9 million.

(vi)

EEARE— 2o MEE  BREZHE
BE2HARRBHS B A2024F38218 -
20244 A26 8 ~ 2024F7 4208 & 20244
TMATANALE -

HE2024F 1231 BIEFEZFAERL AR
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OR SALE OF TREASURY SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company repurchased a total
of 4,700,000 shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration of approximately HK$85,826,488. The repurchase was effected
for the enhancement of shareholder value in the long term. The repurchased
shares were subsequently cancelled. Particulars of the shares repurchased are

as follows:

Price Paid per Share

BE HEFBEE LHERSFHH
EEEFR®G

REZE2024F 12831 B IEFEHRE - ARFE
B X PB4 254,700,000 AR R RIBE 1D - 42
R IBEHI85,826,488 8T - lEE EERERERE
BE - BEROEED AN - BERGHER
BRmT

Aggregate

No. of Shares R Consideration
Month of Repurchase Repurchase Highest (HKS) Lowest (HK$) (HKS)
BE A% BEROEE BefE(Br) BIEE (Bx) #HREGET)
January 1A 3,890,000 19.96 17.00 71,168,524
February 2H 810,000 18.46 17.62 14,657,964
Total st 4,700,000 85,826,488

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2024, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities or sold
any treasury Shares (as defined under the Listing Rules). As at 31 December
2024, the Company did not hold any treasury Shares (as defined under the
Listing Rules).

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 11 December 2020 by way of global offering, raised total net
proceeds of approximately HK$5,781.7 million (the “Net Proceeds”) from the
global offering (including the full exercise of the over-allotment option) after
deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related

listing expenses.

POP MART
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As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses of the IPO proceeds are set

out below:
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Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds NetProceeds  |ntended
unutilizedupto  months ended utilizedupto  unutilized asat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31December e of the
Percentage o 03 204 204 W4 ynutilized
total EEFDEE:S HZUE EZ0uE R2024%  NetProceeds
Mocationof ~ Net proceeds 128310 128318 12A31H 1283180 BRAKEA
Net Proceeds A ABAW 12{8R EBAN ABR FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds frg5uE HEEE fr8suE B8RS frg5E fEsE  FEN
freRERaReRs FENIE [l FESE  FERESH BHSE FEHE  RERER
() Tofinance part of our expansion plans of consumer access  HKS1,7345 million 300%  HKS2633million  HKS2633 million  HKS1,7345 million - -
channels and overseas markets 1745SBEET WIEBAT  IEEET  ISEEAT
BRAEMGEERBERE RSN TR RR HAN
(a)  for opening new retail stores HKS954.0 million 16.5% - _ HKS954.0 million _
RRRRIZER S S0ERET
(b)  for opening new roboshops HK$346.9 million 60%  HKSB4omilion  HKS846million  HKS346.9 million -
RRBRABEABRE M9RERT BSEEAT  MOEEAT  M6IREAT
() for expanding our business into overseas markets HKS4336 million 75%  HKS1787millon  HKS1787 million  HKS$433.6 million -
RREREREENTS 136BEET IBTEEET  MTEEERL  4B6EEET
(i) Tofund our potential investments in, acquisitions of and ~ HKS1,561.1 million 27.0% - HKS1,249.3 million - HKS3118million  HKST2493 million  Before
strategic alliance with companies along the value chain of our 1 561 1 BB %7 12493BERT MNSBERT  12493FEET 31 December
industry 2025
RRBEERE WEATZBER L THADRERS W55
ATRUERBEEE 12A318
2
(i) Toinvest in technology initiatives to strengthen our HKS867.2 million 150%  HKS3707 million — HKST77.2million — HKS673.7 million — HKS1935 million
marketing and fan engagement efforts, and toenhance the  g67 ) F &7 JEERL  2EEET BIREET  1BSEEER
digitalization of our business
BRRERNRE  MEBARNEERNE2ENER
RISBOEFILER
(8) fortalent recruitment HKS173.5 million 30%  HKS624million  HKS624million  HKS173.5 million - -
BRATHE IBSEEAT 4REET  G4REBAT  IBSREEL
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Amount of Net
Proceeds
Amount of Net utilized Amount of Balance of
Proceeds during 12 Net Proceeds NetProceeds  |ntended
unutilizedupto  months ended utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December  yse of the
Percentageof 223 2024 2024 W4 ynutilized
total EZANBE HENUE BENUE R2024F  NetProceeds
Miocationof et proceeds 128318 1283181 128318 1283180 BAXHA
Net Proceeds e REAM 12{R BEAN ABA  FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds sz FERR Fr8suE EBRME frg5E e B
FERERERERS BENAR ARl FESE  JERELE BHeE FERE  HERER
(b for acquiring relevant software and hardware to HK$346.9 million 60%  HKS2420milion  HKS485million  HKST534 million  HKS1935 million  Before
enhance digitalization and establish information U6IBEET WORBET  WSEEAT  IS4BEAT  1BSEEET 31 December
systems for digital marketing, customer services, 2025
logistics, products, supply chain, warehousing, 0258
membership, transactions and store management and 128318
marketing |
BREERBRNRERAMSE T YRR
REFEE BPRE R En AEE R
B 88 RANRFEERREHNELZR
() for optimizing our online marketing efforts, which HK$346.8 million 60%  HKS663milion  HKS663 million  HKS346.8 million - -
primarly consist of strategically placed advertisernent, 3468 BERTL GIBEAT  IREAT  MSEEAT
icons, links and news feeds on third party promotional
platforms
FRELEMDSRIERTH TERRERIL
EEZFRETALRNES BR BZRES
(W) Toexpand our P pool HKS1,040.7 million 180%  HKS7229million — HKS466million  HKS3644 million  HKS676.3 million
ERERAAOPE 1M07BERT TN9RBET  46REAT  WMEERT  06IBEAT
(3)  forenhancing our ability to identify outstanding artists ~HK$260.3 million 45%  HKS29.1milion  HKS29.1 million  HKS260.3 million - -
BREEMDEEFEMR NN WOIBERT DIEEBET  NIBBAT  M3BEAT
(b)  for recruiting talented designers to join ourin-house  HKS86.6 million 15% - - HKS86.6 million - -
design team 1o enhance our in-house original IP S66BEAT S66EEAT

POP MART

development capability by providing competitive
salary

BRMRRARSS IOHEN NI RERTEN
RAMMARBORIRHES - WEBRHHA
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Amount of Net
Proceeds
unutilized up to
31 December

REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEgREE
Amount of Net
Proceeds
utilized Amount of Balance of

during 12 Net Proceeds Net Proceeds  |ntended
months ended utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  timetable for
31 December 31 December 31 December  yse of the

Percentageof 03 204 2024 W4 ynutlized
total EZANBE HENUE BENUE R2024F  NetProceeds
Miocationof et proceeds 12831H 128318 12A31H 1283188  BAKXEA
Net Proceeds e REAM 12{R BEAN ABA  FERE
Intended use of Net Proceeds sz HERE Fr8suE EBRME frg5E FEsE  FEN
FERERERERS BENAR ARl FESE  JERELE BHeE FERE  HERER
() foracquisitions of popular IPs from to expand our I~ HK36938 million 120%  HKS6938million  HKST75million — HKST75millon — HKS676.3 million  Before
poo\ 6938BEET 638ABET 175ABAT I7SEEAT  6163BEBT 31 December

BRUEREDR P EAZTIPE

(v} Working capital and general corporate purposes HK$578.2 million 10.0%
BEEER-HAARE ST82EEET

The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds of the initial public offering in

accordance with the intended purposes as set out in the Prospectus.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance

standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by

the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 81 to

104 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the external

auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and practices adopted by the

Group as well as the internal control matters, and had also reviewed the

Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December

2024.

2005
WSE
128318
A

- HKS5782 million - -
S8 BBAT

AEBEFERBREEMAREENDAELR
NRABEMSHIRFHE

BFEEEETR

\'/

BO#FEEEERKFE - BEAARRRMNT
PEERTRNENANETERFESI 104 HH
ﬁ%%/ﬂ#&j‘t °

Bt
N\
XA

rE®
ERLTECDERTERE RINBIZEEMERN K
EERMANEFTHREERARRNIBILG =
B UEEBAEEEZ2024F12A83181EF
EREETBHRE -
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended 31

December 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-

appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the AGM.

Since the Listing Date, the auditors of the Company have not changed.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

¥ B

REBEE2024F 12 A31 B ILFENGEA I
HERECHBEERESTAIESEZ -

BEBGES M EHARNRBRBFAE L
RIE - YEEREBET  AUBRRREBSF
RELREABRESR -

B WA ARRZBELARER -

RREZE
EFETE
ITE|RE

EE 20253 H26H



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and

accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and complied
with the applicable code provisions during the year ended 31 December

2024, save for deviation from code provision C.2.1 as disclosed below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory

and professional standards and align with the latest development.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, CULTURE AND VALUES

As a pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture in China, we hope to
bring happiness and joy to more customers with the mission of “To light up
passion and bring joy" Our management team takes the lead to practice the

nou noun

core values of "Responsibility’, “Cooperation’,

non

Perfection”, “Innovation” and
“Integrity” in daily operations. By improving team cohesion and stimulating
team vitality, we are enabled to make continuous breakthroughs in design,
so as to meet the needs of various customers with rich product categories.
Ultimately, we are committed to realizing our vision of “To be the world’s

leading fashion culture and entertainment company"”.

The Board is committed to promoting the overall implementation of our
core values across the Group, making them the foundation of our corporate
culture and implementing our mission in our business activities. Based on
a sound management system, rigorous risk control and effective internal
communication, the Group actively practices our corporate culture and
values, so that the Group's business can continue to develop and bring

long-term value to shareholders.

SRERRE

ARREZGHNHBFRRKTINDEERR
% -BEGRE SEXBERREHNARF
REERNRERRES  RACXEERA
BN EBEERER

BR T SR BR R B ST B ST C20 55 - AR
IR LR I R C RS e B A T AIE
JRENR =PRI - WHEZE 2024512 4318 1E
FEEABMEFEATANEX -

RARBAORFAEANELLETRRERIER
MEEERER U AKBERHZEER  AE

BEREFEETREERLEBREHERRE
— B o
TERE XEREE

ERTEMATTAXENRIEEREIZHE
EF o ORPIUATRIERR - BEXLT | BEw - &
EREZHMERTHRIREETN - RANER
EGASIER] EARELTRITIEE] [
] [HBE] - TRIF M EE | R EERE
2 REEBEREREN  BBEBEN  RER
MAERG ETERE - NEENERRERE
BHEENFR  USEBORER[KREH
BRNRLRE R T |HFER o

EEgRNRNREAEBE L THARBITZLE
BED EERASRMNEELRE X
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁma@mﬁéé@%¢°$%gu
RENEERR  BRENERZEHEERNHA
MEBAEL  BMEERRMOEEULIE
B EXAEEEBFUASEER  BRRTK
REEE-

=Z = [F 5 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 | POP MART

81



82

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interest of the
Company as well as aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value

and strategy.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibilities for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. All Board committees are provided with

sufficient resources to perform their duties.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. During the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,

the composition of the Board are listed as follows:

Exg
EFEEEARENED  RBUERRRE
B YEBHELFTEARARAKRENZNR
R ARERARRCRERE - BEBK
REE—2 -

EXxetMAKERREEEREAHAEE
AREERKLETANENRBE - EF80
KRI=ZEAEEZRES  BREEZZES  FM
ZEGRIEELEEES  UEBXRRAETHRE
WER EFGCRNEFZESRBRESAH
BRERGSEMENBE MAEFZEEHRER
HARERABITERE -

EXerHRTEENARRETREREN
HER - U FHREFAENHRANEE
TTHE -

ExgAM

EE=ESRHMNBREFEN  BREANTE
= MEHPTEER="BBILIFATES -
RBERAREEREZERATTAS 59
R BAAMRIIRIT

Name Position in the Company & RAR T B
Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board FELEAE WITEE EZFGEIRER
and Chief Executive Officer TIERABE
Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President HaRt HITER REIRE
(resigned as Executive Director (202443 F20H
on 20 March 2024) BERHTEF)
Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President 2lF 2+ WITEERBIER
Mr. Si De Executive Director and Co-Chief AEEA WITEER
Operating Officer BEEREEE
Mr. Moon Duk Il Executive Director and Co-Chief X{E—%H HITEER
(was appointed as Executive Operating Officer (R2024F3H20H HFEERELR
Director on 20 March 2024) BLZERNTESE)
Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director Bk A FMITES
Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director fAIBSEAE HHITEE
Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent non-executive Director REALE BUIENITEE
Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent non-executive Director RESAE S HE BN IEMITES
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent non-executive Director BEMREE B IEMITES

POP MART
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The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed

“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other

material relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. According to the current structure of the Board, the
positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held by Mr. Wang Ning.

The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires approval by at least
a majority of the Directors and that the Board comprises three independent
non-executive Directors out of nine Directors, and the Board believes there
is sufficient check and balance on the Board; (i) Mr. Wang Ning and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that they act for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the
Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of
the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business, financial
and operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough
discussion at both the Board and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr.
Wang Ning is our principal founder, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board will
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure
of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman

and chief executive officer is necessary.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Since the Listing Date to the Latest Practicable Date, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive

Directors are independent and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.

Independent View

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors and at least one-
third of its members being independent non-executive directors. Further,
independent non-executive directors will be appointed to committees
of the Board as required under the Listing Rules and as far as practicable
to ensure independent views and input are available. The Nomination
Committee strictly adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set
out in the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment of
independent non-executive directors, and is mandated to assess annually
the independence of independent non-executive directors to ensure that
they can continually exercise independent judgement. All Directors may also
obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s expense for carry

out their functions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Liu Ran and Mr.
Si De, has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which are subject to
termination in accordance with their respective terms. Mr. Moon Duk Il has
entered into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three year
commencing from his appointment, which are subject to termination in
accordance with his service contact. The service contract will be automatically

renewed upon expiration.

POP MART
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Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms. The service contract will be automatically renewed upon expiration.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was engaged on a letter
of appointment for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which may be terminated by not less than one month's notice in writing
served by either the independent non-executive Director or the Company.
The appointment letter will be automatically renewed upon expiration.

All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement and rotation
of directors under the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any person appointed
by the Board to fill a temporary vacancy on or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company, and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group's operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in

place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance
in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their

duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by

them.

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances and

ensures they remain appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an

annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company's key place of business and meetings

with senior management of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company organized training
sessions conducted by the legal advisers for all Directors. The training
sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, continuing connected transaction, disclosure of interests
and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have
been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024
are summarized as follows:

conferences and workshops
relevant to the Company’s

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRSE

EEERE2HEBENEEERURAREN
BEMMBHEEE - ARABBEEZBR A
EELHERSEN G RAEEEHABTEY
BIEM K « R ABISE FTE EE L AR
RIZ - BRBAARAARIE -

HE2024F 12431 HIEFREHHE - ARF AR
BREERREIRE  REREERERBE -
BIIRBRENERAETEGEREELZ  BIEES
MBENMET FHEBERS - FIaHERE
MEF - LN RMENESREEERNEN
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BZE2024F12A31 HIELFE - EFHEIIRHE
BT

Attending training, Reading news alerts,
briefings, seminars, newspapers, journals,
magazines and publications

relevant to the Company’s

industry and business, industry and business,

director’s duties and/or director’s duties and/or

corporate governance corporate governance

BEARDNFTERER MEEANTTERER
EERER DoEER EZHER SLEER
BENEI - BNE - HHE - BENTERA - BE -
Name of Directors EERE EBERIEHEERR B - BERERY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board) ~ TEXE (FEEETE) V \/
Ms. Yang Tao (resigned on 20 March 2024)  15& %&£ (1202443 F20 A §HE) V \/
Ms. Liu Ran £ i3 v v
Mr. Si De AlfE kL v v
Mr. Moom Duk Il (was appointed on NE-EE
20 March 2024) (R2024F3 520 HEZF) v v
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Tu Zheng B&FLE v v
Mr. He Yu REE v v
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BIFHTES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REERAE v v
Mr. Wu Liansheng REERAE v \
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary YR KL v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which
has been delegated responsibilities and reports back to the Board. The roles
and functions of these committees are set out in their respective terms of
reference. The terms of reference of each of these committees will be revised
from time to time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
Company and to ensure compliance with the CG Code where applicable. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company's website and

the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King
Leung Gary and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tu Zheng. Mr. Wu

Liansheng is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
provide advice and comments to the Board and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held three
meetings, during which matters such as reviewing the annual financial results
and report for the year ended 31 December 2023, reviewing the Group's
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024, discussing
the audit plan for the 2024 financial year with the auditor, significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit

function.

The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial results for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly

made.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the

presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu
Liansheng and one executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Zhang

Jianjun is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate
in deciding his/her own remuneration and/or approving matters relating to

share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, during which matters such as the remuneration packages,
policy and structure of the Directors and senior management and other

related matters were discussed.

During the Reporting Period, none of the matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules shall be subject to review and/or

approval by the Remuneration Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Ning and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu Liansheng. Mr

Wang Ning is the chairperson of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and diversity
required of the Board annually and making recommendations on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy; monitoring the implementation of diversity policy for board
members, and assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting, during which matters such as structure, size and composition
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of Directors, assessing in the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and reviewing the diversity policy and nomination policy of the
Board were discussed. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate

balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected by
the general meeting with a term of three years and may serve consecutive
terms if re-elected. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a temporary
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next

general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

At the expiry of a Director’s term, the Director may stand for re-election and
reappointment for further term. Subject to the compliance of the provisions
of the relevant laws and administrative regulations, the general meeting of
the Shareholders may dismiss by ordinary resolution any Directors of whom
the term of office has not expired (the claim for compensation under any

contracts shall however be not affected).

The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of directors
are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
will identify individuals suitably qualified to become directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals. The
Nomination Committee will determine the composition of board members
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will also make recommendations to the Board of Directors on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors (in particular the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the general
manager), taking into account the Company's corporate strategy and mix of

skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Board has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the nomination
procedures for selecting candidates for election as Directors of the Board
of the Group. The policy is adopted by the Board and administered by the

Nomination Committee.
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Selection of board candidates shall be based on amongst others, character
and integrity, qualifications, willingness to devote adequate time and a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company's business model

and specific needs.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates. The Company should also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will

bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Nomination Policy and the
measurable objectives periodically, and as appropriate, to ensure the

continued effectiveness of the Board.

BOARD AND WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the basic
principles to be followed to ensure that the board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of

corporate governance.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seek to achieve Board
diversity, through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, culture and
education background, ethnicity and length of service. Our Directors have
a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including business management,
finance, investment, auditing and accounting. At present, the Board
considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is
maintained and the Nomination Committee has set measurable objectives (in
terms of professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age and length of
service, etc.) to implement the Board Diversity Policy. Such objectives will be
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress

made towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.
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During the Reporting Period, the Board comprised nine members, including
one female Directors and eight male Directors, which is in line with the
gender diversity requirements by the Stock Exchange. We will implement
policies to ensure gender diversity when recruiting staff to develop a pipeline
of female potential successors to the Board. Furthermore, we will implement
comprehensive programs aimed at identifying and training our female staff
who display leadership and potential, with the goal of promoting them to
the Board.

As of 31 December 2024, we had 6,273 employees (including full-time
employees and part-time employees and excluding outsourced employees
and interns), of which 1,783 were male and 4,490 were female. The gender
ratio in the workforce (including senior management) was approximately
10 males to 25 females. The Company is aiming to achieve a more balanced
gender ratio in the workforce and targets to achieve a gender ratio in
the workforce. The Company is not aware of any mitigating factor or
circumstances which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce

(including senior management) more challenging or less relevant.

We are also committed to adopting a similar approach to promote diversity
of the management (including but not limited to the senior management) of
the Company to enhance the effectiveness of corporate governance of the

Company as a whole.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had reviewed the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the corporate governance policies and practices,
the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the

CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company in accordance with
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, has adopted the practice of holding
Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of the Directors, either

in person or through electronic means of communication.
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The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board committee

REZE2024F 12 A3 HILEEHM - 82EL

meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2024 are EARREZEREETZE S RN EHT
set out below: n
Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)
HEEREBRY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)
ENEEY FMzES REZES®
Name of Directors BEEpR ] =E =f =E BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning TERE 4/4 N/A 7l 11 Il
TR
Ms. Yang Tao BEzT Il N/A N/A N/A N/A
(resigned on 20 March 2024) (R2024F3 420 A E) TER AiEA TER TER
Ms. Liu Ran gBrt 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TER TEA TER
Mr. Si De AlfESE A 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TiER TEA TiER
Mr. Moon Duk Il (was appointed ~ X {2— %4 3/3 N/A N/A N/A Il
on 20 March 2024) (R2024%3 520 HEZ(F) N NiEm N
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Tu Zheng EBELAE 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A 1”7
TEA TER
Mr. He Yu OVt 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TER NEA TER
Independent non-executive ~ BYFHITEES
Directors
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REEBLAE 4/4 N/A 11 1/1 /1
TiER
Mr. Wu Liansheng REERE 4/4 3/3 11 Il Il
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BYREE 4/4 3/3 N/A N/A Il
TR TER
Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all reqular Board meetings FEEEeTHeaNBANERERETINE
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters DTN RZEE2EEST  ErRE=EAHT D
in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and Board committee fEHEQEﬁLA&T EEREEERPTHNE
meetings, reasonable notice will be generally given. CHMEMEBESGRESTLZEGEHEMS - A
7 BEEHLEIRMA o
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate

and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends all regular Board meetings and where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory

compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each

meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have potential

or actual conflicts of interests.

During the Reporting Period, the chairman of the Board met once with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other

Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and

effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management and
biannually reviews the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. Heads of departments manage

risks through identification, evaluation and mitigation of risk identified.
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Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks identification, risks

assessment, risks response and risk monitoring and reporting.

Risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential internal
and external risks in its respective operation processes. During risks
identification, references are mainly made to the impact the risks have on the
Company'’s objectives, and major problems or risk incidents in the business

activities for the past year.

Risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards, each business
and functional department and its subsidiaries reviews the risks identified,
and assesses the possibilities of occurrence and the extents of impacts in
order to screen out the significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of
bottom-up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all of
the Group's significant risks, which are then given rankings. Significant risks
are then reported to the appropriate management level, Audit Committee
and the Board. A final list of significant risks is confirmed after thorough

communication and discussion.

Risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks formulates
a risk response plan by properly applying methods such as risk avoidance, risk
reduction, risk sharing and risk acceptance, with consideration of the Group's
level of risk tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with an aim to

reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable level.

Risk monitoring and reporting: risk monitoring and reporting are carried
out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators, internal auditing and

periodic summarized risk reports.

We endeavour to uphold the integrity of our business by maintaining an
internal control system into our organisational structure. Our internal control
and risk management systems cover, among others, corporate governance,
operations, management, legal matters, finance and auditing. Our Audit
department reviewed our internal control system and we have implemented
and will continue to implement the relevant suggestions they proposed/
propose. Our Audit department (the “internal audit and compliance
department’) performed a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems over our major business
processes. The Company has established risk management systems with
relevant policies and procedures that we believe are appropriate for our

business operations.
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The Audit Department conducted a follow-up review (the “Internal Control
Review") on, among others, control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, monitoring activities such as
revenue cycle, procurement cycle, expenditure cycle, etc. and provided

recommendations to enhance the internal control system of our Group.

We have adopted and implemented the recommendations provided by the
Audit Department and the Audit Department has not identified any material
findings which may have material impact on the effectiveness of our internal

control system.

Based on the result of the Internal Control Review, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company’s

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee shall review such arrangement regularly and ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation

of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of and strictly complies with the requirements of
the currently applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, including the
obligations to disclose inside information under the SFO and the Listing
Rules, and the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when the relevant businesses
are transacted. The Group has established the authority and accountability,
as well as the handling and dissemination procedures in relation to inside
information, and has communicated to all relevant personnel and provided
them with specific trainings in respect of the implementation of the

continuous disclosure policy.
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The Board considers that the Company’s handling and dissemination

procedures and measures in relation to inside information are effective.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished

inside information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements relating to
disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the

Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern.
The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their

reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the section
headed “Independent Auditor's Report”in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid/payable
to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB5.3 million. The
audit services include statutory audits and reviews of the Group and certain
subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to RMB2.3 million. The non-audit
services conducted by the external auditor mainly include tax and other
consultation services.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan (“Mr. Li") and Ms. Li Ching Yi ("Ms. Li") are the joint company
secretaries of the Company.

Mr. Li, the depute director of investor relationship of the Company, joined
the Group in April 2019 in charge of the management of investor relationship
department of the Company. Prior to that, Mr. Li served as a senior associate
of investment banking department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from December
2014 to January 2019 and a senior associate of innovative financing
department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from February 2019 to March 2019.

Ms. Li is a senior manager of the Listed & Fiduciary Corporate Services
Department of Trident Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional
services firm. She has over 10 years of professional experience in company
secretarial field. Ms. Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries). Ms. Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters
of the Company and has closely communicated with Mr. Li, who is the
primary corporate contact person of our Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Li has
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. As
of the date of this annual report, we have received the Stock Exchange's
confirmation that Mr. Li is qualified to act as a company secretary under the
Listing Rules. The Company together with Mr. Li will (i) continuously review
the Company's internal control policy to strengthen timely communication
with the Stock Exchange, (i) increase the frequency of checking corporate
governance compliance to keep abreast of the latest guidance from the
Stock Exchange, and (iii) strengthen the trainings on company secretary on
topics relating to corporate governance, internal control and responsibility of
company secretary.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. To enable our shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner based on a good understanding of the Group's
operations, businesses and financial information, the Company adopted the
shareholders communication policy to provide effective communication with
the Shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide
a platform for communication between the Board and the Shareholders.
The chairman of the Board as well as chairpersons of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee or, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees, are available to
answer Shareholders’ questions at general meetings. The external auditor of
the Company is also invited to attend the annual general meetings of the
Company to answer questions about the conduct of audit, the preparation
and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

Apart from participating in the Company’s general meeting, updates on
the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices,
biographical information of Directors and others are available for public on
the website of the Company (www.popmart.com). In addition, shareholders
and investors may at any time contact or send enquiries and concerns to us

by email to ir@popmart.com.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders communication policy,
including the multiple communication channels for shareholders in place
and the steps taken to handle shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that
the shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented and

effective.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders” interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after

each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association provides that general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members holding
together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office of the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by

the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to Article 16.4
of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting, there has been given to the Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be proposed),
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of
his intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing

signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Base on this, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written
notice at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at 19/F,,
Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The notice must
(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and

consent of publication of his/her personal information.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions
by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures mentioned above. For proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures set out in

the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal

Or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address:  Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@popmart.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders' information

may be disclosed as required by law.
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Change in Constitutional Documents

On 20 March 2024, the Board resolved to propose certain amendments to
the second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles which was
adopted on 23 November 2020 and amended on 17 May 2023. On 21 May
2024, the annual general meeting was held for the Shareholders to approve
among others, the amendments to the second amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles and was adopted as third amended and restated

Memorandum and Articles on the same date.

Save as disclosed above, no amendments have been made to the
Memorandum and Articles. The third amended and restated Memorandum
and Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends, and
details are provided in the “Report of Directors” on pages 45 to 80 of this

annual report.
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2024 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2024 FBi1E - HEREEHRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT — BRAREE

Overview

The purpose of this report is to objectively disclose the environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") works and achievements made by Pop
Mart International Group Limited (the “Pop Mart” or the “"Company”
or "we") and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during 2024. For detailed
information on corporate governance, it is recommended to read this
report in conjunction with the section headed Corporate Governance

Report in the annual report.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Code (the "ESG Reporting Code”) in Appendix
C2 to the Listing Rules on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), and is reported

based on its reporting principles.

Reporting Principles

This report responds to and adheres to following principles:

Materiality: This report has identified key stakeholders and their
ESG issues of concern in the preparation process, and disclosed

correspondingly based on the materiality of the issues of concern.

Balance: This report has disclosed positive and negative information
in an objective manner to ensure that contents can reflect the ESG

performance during the reporting period of this report fairly.

Quantitative: The environmental and social data disclosed in this report
are all presented in the form of quantitative data, accompanied by a
description of the relevant criteria, methodologies, assumptions and/
or calculation tools used, as well as the source of the conversion factors

used for the key performance indicators ("KPIs").

Consistency: The statistical method in this report is consistent with that
of previous year. Where there are changes which may affect meaningful
comparison with previous reports, these changes are described in the

corresponding sections.
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Reporting Period

The reporting period of this report covered from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of disclosure of this report shall be

the same as those covered in the annual report.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Company has always placed great importance on ESG-related
work. We have established and continuously improved the ESG
management system to ensure the orderly progress of related work.
The Board of Directors of the Company, as the highest responsible and
decision-making body for ESG issues, assumes full responsibility for
reviewing and approving ESG strategies, policies, goals, major missions
and managing priorities. The Board listens to the reports on ESG-related
matters that have an impact on the business or operations, shareholders,
and other stakeholders, regularly reviews ESG goals, and supervises
the scientific establishment and smooth achievement of ESG goals.
Under the leadership of the Board, the Company has established an
ESG management team and an ESG collaboration team. Through close
communication and collaboration, they jointly promote the effective

implementation of ESG work.

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
internal and external stakeholders. Leveraging on diversified channels,
the Company conducts in-depth exchanges with all parties, listens to
and understands the core concerns of all parties from multiple aspects,
actively responds to their expectations and needs, and also widely
adopts constructive opinions and suggestions. On this basis, the Board,
in combination with the external environment and the Company’s
strategy, reviews the assessment results of the importance of key ESG
issues, guides the identification, assessment, and management of ESG
risks, reviews the formulation of ESG management strategies, the setting
of ESG goals, and the performance in achieving these goals. Besides, the
Board further clarifies the core direction and key tasks of ESG governance
work, and continuously consolidates the foundation for the Company’s

sustainable development.

This report aims to objectively disclose the progress and achievements
of the Company's ESG works in 2024, and has been considered and
approved at the Board meeting on 26 March 2025.
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I1l. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

As a globally leading trend culture and entertainment group, Pop Mart
takes IP as its core and has built a full-link creative incubation and
operation platform for creators around the world. It provides consumers
with exciting products and services as well as wonderful entertainment

experiences.

We attach great importance to ESG-related matters in business
operations and risk management, and continuously explore the organic
integration of the ESG concept with the Company’s development. In
this process, we continuously optimize the ESG governance structure,
strengthen the construction of ESG management capabilities, listen to
the demands of various stakeholders, and also adhere to the coordinated
development of social value and corporate value, with an aim to
creating long-term value for consumers, the industry and society.

ESG Concept

With a vision of “become a leading global pop culture entertainment
company’, the Company incorporate ESG concept into each aspect
in the business, to strive to build a low-carbon and sustainable
global supply chain and product lifecycle management system. In
terms of the environment, we increase investment in research and
development of green materials and processes to reduce the carbon
footprint of products, improve resource utilization efficiency, and
promote the development of a circular economy. We actively respond
to the challenges of climate change and strengthen our own climate
adaptation capabilities. At the social level, we strictly control product
quality, integrate elements of diversity, equality, and inclusion into
product research, development, and design, and make every effort
to protect consumers’ rights and interests. We convey the concept
of sustainable development to our partners and suppliers, and work
together to create a green and healthy supply chain ecosystem. We also
attach great importance to the well-being of our employees, providing
them with a safe, healthy and comfortable working environment.
We continuously improve the employee training and development
mechanism to help employees and the enterprise grow together.
We continue to strengthen the implementation of anti-corruption
work, striving to urge all employees to practice good business ethics
standards. We actively fulfill our social responsibilities, attach importance
to aesthetic education and engage in public welfare undertakings, giving
back to society through public welfare projects. We will continuously
strengthen the implementation and practice of the ESG concept in the
Company’s operations, continuously improve our ESG management
capabilities, establish long-term trust with global consumers, investors,
and regulatory authorities, striving to become a model in global pop toy
industry.
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ESG Governance Structure

The Company has established a three-level ESG governance structure led
by the Board, and jointly participated by the ESG management team and
the ESG collaboration team. The Board, as the highest responsible and
decision-making body, assumes the core responsibilities of formulating
the Company’s overall ESG strategy and management guidelines. The
Board oversees the implementation process of ESG goals, regularly
reviews ESG reports and related matters, and guides and supervises the
management in carrying out specific tasks. The ESG management team,
composed of the president office, the investor relationship department,
and the public affairs department, is responsible for assisting the Board
in coordinating the implementation of strategies and goals. It monitors
and manages the progress of daily work and regularly reports the
ESG-related work to the Board. The ESG coordination team, consisting of
various functional departments, is tasked with cooperating with the ESG
management team to coordinate and execute relevant specific tasks, so

as to ensure the effective implementation of all ESG matters.

Communication with Stakeholders

The Company sets up regular and diverse communication channels for
stakeholders, so as to ensure an efficient and smooth interaction with
stakeholders and to fully understand their expectations and demands
in an active manner. Their opinions and suggestions will be fully
incorporated into ESG work planning and daily management. During the
year, we conducted extensive deep communication with stakeholders
including government and regulatory authorities, shareholders and
investors, customers, employees, suppliers, communities, media, as well
as non-government organizations, and identify and actively respond to

key issues of concern to them.
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Major issues of concern

TEREEHE

2024 FBIE - HERERBE

Major communication channels

FREBERRE

Government and regulatory authorities

B REEHE

Shareholders and investors

BRRRIREE

Customers

'F

Compliance operation
SR

Corporate development
hEER

Policy implementation
BEEEBR

Extraordinary social contribution
R EER

Climate change

TR,

Rights and interests of shareholders
PR ER M 2R

Corporate performance

DEZES

Corporate governance

hERER

Risk control

[\ b 1R

Climate change

RIREE

Product purchase rules
EmEERA

Product after-sale services
EmERR%

Consumer personal information

protection

HEEEAEBRE

Provide quality products and services -«

M EE EmERE
Listen to customer opinions and
suggestions

BEREFERNER

Filing or written document submission
R EE XX

Regular or irregular face-to-face
communication

E S E BT TR R
Seminars/exchanges

EELIPE iy

Meetings between government and
company

R A

Annual general meetings
REREFKE

Announcement of Results report and
results presentation

REWmE  FBEEMY

Investor meetings and performance
roadshows

REEGZNEERE

Official websites of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company at
home and abroad

BT ARIRNINE H
Investor relations page and investor

emails

REEBFRAEREREE

Customer service hotline

B P IRTS R AR

Daily operation and communication
BEEEE LR

Member center

gEHL

Market research

T35 F8

Official website of the Company
NAEH
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Stakeholders

Major issues of concern

Major communication channels

MEHEHEE S FTERIEE FTEBBERR
Employees Rights and interests of employees Human resources system/employment
BT BT #H contract
Remunerations and benefits AEHE BHER
R A Face-to-face communication
Development and training EHEEB
R RIFE Staff training
Health and safety l==b=Hll
fEERE %L 5 Performance appraisal and feedback
BUEZ R R
Suppliers Supply chain management Supplier management system
HrEm HrEsEEs HEBEEHE

Communities and non-governmental
organizations

HERIFERFES

Media
Hee

Anti-corruption
K&
Faithful cooperation

BiEALE

Social development
HeER

Aesthetic education
XEHE

Environmental protection
RIBRE
School-enterprise building
R

Corporate development
hEERE

Product responsibility
EmEE

Corporate governance
hEER

Information disclosure
ERHEE
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Supplier evaluation procedures
HER IR
Supplier meetings

HEEEH

Participate in charity activities
DENGEE

Communicate with communities and
non-governmental organizations

AT (R N SRR AT 4R A B R ST

Social media

AR

Official website

B 7 A8k

Press conference and exchange
meetings

mERGE  XRe
Interviews on selected topics
BTG
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Identification of Key Issues

In compliance with “ESG Reporting Code” of Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
the Company learns about the views and understanding of stakeholders

on ESG issues.

With the basis of the disclosure aspects as stipulated in the "ESG
Reporting Code”, combining our business characteristics and
development trend in the industry and with reference to mainstream
reporting frameworks of Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and mainstream
ESG issues rating, the Company collected feedback from stakeholders
on various ESG issues through the questionnaire during the year. We
identified consumer reach, health and safety of employees, business
ethics and etc., as the most concerned issues of stakeholders based on
feedback.

2024 FBIE - HERERBE
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The importance of ESG issues to stakeholders of the Company is set out RNBESGHEHE N AR T NEZHRRE
SRR TE

in the diagram below:

High &

§
3
]
o
h
©
sE
1y
b . )
s Envlonmental issues
R REEE
N -
.E-*,—'.‘ @ Social issues
g HeRE
E Governance issues
I
Industrial issues
Low {& (e 7531
L Importance to internal stakeholders High =
ow & BB Ras B KB E 'oh &
High importance Moderate importance Low importance
SEEEM HFEEEMN —REEMN
1 Consumer reach 14 P incubation and operation 19 Emission management
HEEEE PR LiEE PR
. Health and safety of employees 15 ESG governance 20 Resources utilization management
BETRENEZS ESGIATE BRERER
3 Business ethics 16 Carbon footprint management of products . Community investment
[EESEL ERiRTEERE HERE

. Intellectual property protection
AFBERRE

. Human rights and labor management
AREEL TR

. Product quality and supply chain
management

EnESREEER
‘ Diversity and equal opportunity
LT ERE
g Promotion of tide culture
XA E
g Cooperation with global artists
BB
. Customer complaint management
BRIRRER

. Customer privacy and information
security management

EFRILEEEZEER
12 Risk control
=g

Development and training of employees

8 TR KIE|

17 Innovative business incubation and investment
BIFT B LR E
18 Response to climate change

RIRE (LS

Analysis matrix of substantive issues

BEMEESITERE
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IV.ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT REEE
The Company adheres to green development strategy and practically AARERGEEREE YERBETRE
fulfills its environmental protection obligations. In strict compliance to REER  BBET(REAREFNEIRE
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations, such as the REE) (R EAREMBENTEEZE)
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China # % (REAREMBARRSHEAE) (FEA
AR KEFFIRBREL)), the Laws of the People’ Republic of China RAFBEEREYSRRIBHAE) (P
on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution R ARKEFEKST ARKAMEEHAERE) FRIFBREMAE
ZH3567%)), the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of BRI AR EBRE M3 L AT B 5K 5k
the People’s Republic of China (™ ZE AR FEMBIAR RS R AZE)), HEAEREN  TEREETEBR
the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s EERERE - BRIEB S EHEHIRRNTE -

Republic of China ™ ZE AR HLFE B 82EY5RRENIAE)), and
the Energy Saving Law of the People’s Republic of China K ZE AR
HFMBIFI4IREIRE)), and regulations of other countries or regions in
which the Company operates, the Company improves environmental
management system construction, promotes energy-saving and
emission reduction measures, with the aim of minimizing the impact of

its activities on environment.

Emission Management ERmER

Proactively fulfilling the main responsibility for environmental protection, BMEFHEEEZES  BHEELCERD
we uphold green operations and continue to improve emissions EIRERS  IRABIRREGE - MR
management related policies and enhance environmental awareness of B CEBBREEERE  BBRETT
our employees, so as to ensure that emission reduction measures are in RIEREXBEMT -

line with corporate strategies.
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Exhaust Management: We strictly comply with the Emission Standards
of Air Pollutants for Catering Industry in which we operate and control
the emission concentration of air pollutants by requiring that exhaust
generated from kitchens shall be discharged outside after the treatment

of exhaust hood with filter and greasy dirt purification device.

Greenhouse Gas Emission Management: In terms of electricity
consumption management, combing characteristics of scenarios
including working place, retail channel and land operation, we
formulated targeted electricity saving measures and implement
them meticulously, extensively conduct awareness promotion of,
and capacity construction of energy conservation and emission
reduction and reduce greenhouse gas emission indirectly generated
from purchased electricity; in terms of use of vehicles, we continue
to improve the loading rate, promote the prior use of new energy
vehicles for short-distance delivery, and optimize the delivery routes
for long-distance delivery by scientifically designating warehouses
to distribute based on the destination, so as to shorten the total
transportation distance and reduce the carbon emissions generated

during the process of product delivery and transportation.

Wastewater Management: We handle wastewater in compliance with the
treatment methods required by the nations and places where operations
are conducted. Wastewater and reclaimed water are discharged into the

municipal pipelines to minimize environmental impact.
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Waste Management: We adhere to the waste classification and
management regulations in the operating regions. We conduct
promotion and raise employee awareness on waste classification by
setting designated places for garbage recycling and encouraging
employees to implement garbage classification. For discarded electronic
equipment, we organize centralized scrap recycling. Food waste is
entrusted to professional third-party waste transfer companies for
processing and is subject to the supervision of the local administrative
authorities. Hazardous waste such as waste toner cartridges and ink
cartridges are collected on-site by qualified suppliers for recycling or
handled by the property companies of the offices in which we are
located in a centralized manner, ensuring safe and compliant disposal.
We also encourage stores to extend the life span of ink cartridges and
reduce the disposal frequency through methods like toner refilling. For
roboshops, we replace the old machines whose appearance scraps with
brand-new shells, and introduce plush machines, theme machines and
concept machines, to extend the life span of machines. Moreover, to
reduce the generation of waste at the source, we actively implement
a registration and quota management system for office supplies
distribution, cultivating employees to develop a good habit of resources
conservation. We also regularly organize activities such as internal
purchase events for old electronic equipment to promote recycling of
electronic equipment and advance sustainable development together

with employees.

Resource Utilization Management

The Company consistently upholds the principle of prioritizing
conservation and continuously improves the efficient use of energy
and resources. We actively respond to national energy conservation
and consumption reduction requirements, continuously enhance
resource utilization efficiency, and reduce energy costs through the
implementation of diverse energy-saving and environmental protection
projects. Targeted management measures for energy conservation
and consumption reduction are adopted by combing characteristics
of different business scenarios such as office areas, physical stores,
roboshops, warehouses, and POP LAND to achieve scientific and refined

green and low-carbon management.
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Office: AR

BMPBAORITEGRERARE BB
AR AMEEERE  BITRR
SR ERER NERER -

We are committed to create a green office environment by
implementing management measures for electricity, water, paper
consumption, etc.,, to implement an environmentally friendly, efficient,

and energy-saving office operational model.

Electricity Consumption Management: - HEBRE:
Replace high energy-consuming equipment with energy- - RRRERERE  SESMEER
efficient new technologies and products to reduce energy firBEm - BRIEARIEIRBERE

consumption of the Company;

Optimize temperature control scheme for air conditioning . &
to improve the electricity consumption efficiency of air e

conditioning;

RHEREZE88 (KRR
energy-saving activity, and display its QR codes in the office BiREEE) - A RRIERES =
HISETEERE  THEIRE
BKEE - EEITE - BRARE
HERABIE - BT RAIARBTEMR
EHIT AREUEBIESD - TEERR12

Continue to launch the “Green Pop Mart, Low Carbon Emission”

area for publicity and promotion. This aimed to encourage
employee to engage in green working practices such as
turning off lights when not in use, utilizing double-sided

printing, recycling cardboard. Employees can earn activity

points by accomplishing low-carbon behaviors. Over the 12 EAREERRFS - HiEK6,226
months of activity, a total of 6,226 low-carbon behaviors were REWITR - BRERGHOERN
accomplished, making contribution to resource conservation. 2o

Water Consumption Management: . FRKER :

Assign dedicated personnel to conduct daily inspections and HEABREMEAPKIRMALKES

maintenance management, regularly organize maintenance
personnel to conduct comprehensive inspections of the
drainage system, and promptly identify and repair potential

issues;

Install additional water-saving faucets, require water dispenser
suppliers to equip water-saving buckets in the pantry to collect
clean discarded water and overnight water for watering plants

and cleaning floors, achieving the recycling of water resources;

Set water-saving goals, guide employees to develop water-
saving habits, and firmly prevent water resource wastage such

as running, seeping, dripping, and leaking.
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Paper Consumption Management:

Encourage employees to develop double-sided printing habits

and recycle office paper and cardboard;

Optimize gift packaging methods for staff by increasing the
proportion of fabric packaging and reducing paper-based

packaging;

Promote paperless operations, guide employees to use

electronic documents and electronic registration systems.

In addition, during the selection process of office locations, we
prioritize buildings that comply with green building standards.
Currently, our leased office building in Shanghai has obtained the

green building certification.

Physical Store:

We continuously optimize the management of electrical equipment
in stores and strictly control after-hours energy use. During
non-operating periods, only fire emergency lighting systems remain
operational, and all non-essential electrical equipment is turned
off. Furthermore, we regularly recycle paper waste and vigorously

implement electronic invoices to effectively conserve resources.

2024 FBIE - HERERBE

FRRERE

HEETERERITHNEE - O
Witk X AR OR ANARRR

ECATEDEET - HNED
CB R R DR

E)
b
i

HEERGEMA  SISETHAE
FXUREFERLREL

BEON - FEPE A Z AR IEBE R - RAIPUE
EREBETNEHECEEGTENETFT - BAl -
BPURALSNHAERRNECESKER
s .

[F70y:1vA

BTPIE

BPHEELPERERBEER  BRE
REREREIINERER - FFEXRFRE
REHE IR RGBT LRBME
FUFHRERME - Lo - RATH@ WK
MEREZRY  KRNETETER BUE
HEIR -

=Z = [F 5 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 | POP MART

117



118

2024 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2024 FB]RIF - HERER/RE

Roboshop:

We closely monitor the actual usage frequency of roboshop, scientifically
plan operating hours, and set automatic shutdown functions. When
equipment is idle, the system automatically switches to low-energy
standby mode. During non-operating hours, devices are automatically
powered off to effectively reduce energy waste. Additionally, we further
reduce energy consumption by adjusting equipment lighting brightness
and adopting low-power systems. We have eliminated paper distribution
sheets and fully promoted the use of personal digital assistant (PDA)
for order picking operations, expanding paperless workflows to reduce
paper consumption. We regularly maintain machine consumables and
allocate reusable consumables to other machines for continued use,
minimizing resource waste. Furthermore, we continuously optimize
display methods in roboshop windows, gradually piloting full-screen
displays and universal props to replace traditional physical product
displays, effectively reducing the replacement frequency of window
displays and the use of physical products, thereby conserving resources

in manufacturing and logistics transportation.

Warehouse:

We have developed the Warehouse Energy Conservation Regulations
to clearly regulate the use of lighting and fans within the warehouse,
requiring the rational use of electrical equipment based on actual
needs in different weather conditions and operational areas. We
enhance natural light utilization while promoting low-energy LED
energy-saving lamps to gradually replace traditional lighting fixtures.
We adopt paperless picking methods and integrate logistics waybills
with warehouse shipping orders to reduce paper consumption. In 2024,
we saved a total of 687,700 sheets of paper through logistics waybill
consolidation, and Changshu Warehouse saved 6.68 million sheets of A5
office paper through paperless picking. Additionally, we properly recycle
and reuse packaging cartons, cardboard, and other materials, promote
the use of reusable pallets, reduce the consumption of softwood pallets,

and drive resource circularity.
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POP LAND:

POP LAND is an urban renovation project. Adhering to the principles of
environmental protection, cherishing natural resources, and improving
energy efficiency, we carried out reconstruction and updates on the
main structure of the original building to avoid large-scale demolition
and construction, thereby reducing negative impacts on the surrounding
environment and natural resources. The park’'s outdoor rainwater
drainage system is designed to a high standard with a three-year
recurrence interval', ensuring effective drainage under extreme weather
conditions by channeling rainwater into rivers or infiltrating it into green
areas. We place high priority on protecting existing vegetation and

avoiding damage to large trees and other plants.

POP LAND implements diversified measures in cooling, heating,
water use, and lighting to ensure operational efficiency and energy

conservation, fully executing green operations.

Cooling and heating: The park utilizes a renewable air source heat
pump system for cooling and heating, equipped with variable
refrigerant flow air-conditioning systems. By using electricity instead
of fossil fuels, smoke-free emissions are achieved. The cooling
and heating source and air-conditioning terminal equipment are
installed with automatic control devices that support remote start/
stop, monitoring, alarm triggering, and data logging functions.
System efficiency is optimized through operational unit quantity
control and frequency conversion control. In addition, the air-
conditioning system adopts temperature-difference air supply
to reduce airflow volume, further lowering energy consumption.
All energy efficiency indexes of the cooling and heating source
units are better than the requirements of the current GB 50189-
2015 Design Standard for Energy Efficiency of Public Buildings and
the current energy efficiency limit values of the relevant national
standards, which ensures that the system is energy-efficient and

energy-saving;

One extreme rainfall matching the designed drainage system will occur every
three years on average.

1
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Lighting: The park strictly complies with national and industry
standards in lighting design to ensure a highly energy-efficient
system. The lighting power density (LPD) in all areas strictly
complies with the requirements of GB 50034-2013 Standard for
Lighting Design of Buildings, the nightscape lighting limits fully
adhere to JGJ/T 163-2008 Code for Lighting Design of Urban
Nightscape and the energy efficiency of all light sources and ballasts
used by the part meets or exceeds the energy-saving evaluation
thresholds of corresponding standards. Straight-tube fluorescent
lamps, compact fluorescent lamps with high power factors and low
harmonics, and LED light sources are extensively adopted across the
park. High-energy-consumption lighting methods such as indirect
lighting or diffuse reflective ceilings are strictly avoided, effectively

reducing power consumption while enhancing lighting quality;

Water using: The park uses corrosion-resistant and durable pipes,
fittings, valves and other components in the water supply system to
reduce water wastage due to leakage of system pipes; and adopts
highly efficient water-saving irrigation methods for landscaping

watering to effectively reduce the use of water resources.

In addition, the Company also focuses on the R&D and management
of green packaging materials. We integrate the concept of green
environmental protection and low-carbon into the entire product
lifecycle, including product design, production, packaging, logistics, and
scraping. We comprehensively evaluate the environmental protection
attributes and energy-saving demands of products, constantly optimize
the application of packaging materials, reduce environmental impacts,

and implement the green and environmental protection concept.
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Case: Launching a “Carbon-Neutral” Cultural Gift Box to
Promote Green Consumption

In June 2024, we collaborated with Envision Technology Group to launch a
carbon-neutral cultural gift box, which includes a "“DIMOO Classic Replica”
series figurine. POP MART's POP GIFT cultural team meticulously recreated
Envision's Galileo Wind Turbine, Smart Energy Storage System, and Green
Charging Robot into miniature collectibles. Consumers can admire and
interact with these world-leading “zero-carbon” devices on their desks or in
the palms of their hands, deepening their understanding and connection
to eco-conscious culture through tactile engagement. In respect of product
design, our design philosophy centers on a “zero-carbon” ethos by attaching
more functions and value to the gift box. During the manufacturing of
products, we utilizes low-carbon and degradable materials and merges
the outer packaging of the gift box with the logistics box, which not only
improves the aesthetic and functional value of products, but also reduces
unnecessary consumables used during transportation. After taking out of the
figurine and EPE foam, the gift box can be a display box by providing storage
and display functions, in a view to avoid single-use packaging and reduce

waste generation.

This gift box product has undergone cradle-to-gate carbon footprint
accounting through Envision’s Ark Carbon Management System, achieving
carbon neutrality by writing off equivalent Verified Carbon Units (VCUs) under
the Verified Carbon Standard (VCS), with certification validated and released
through carbon-neutral verification procedures. We aim to communicate
sustainability ethos through such innovative designs, pioneering social trend

of low-carbon consumption.
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Case: Promoting the Cycle Use of Materials to Achieve
Efficient Low-Carbon Operation

During the year, we constantly implemented optimization on logistics
packaging management by properly recovering and reusing packaging
cartons and pallets while utilizing more reusable pallets to phase out
softwood pallets. We reused recyclable pallets to effectively reduce
resource waste and reduce the negative impact on the environment.
During 2024, we used recyclable pallets for 341,637 times, achieving a
592-ton reduction in carbon emissions compared to single-use softwood

pallets, to promote the Company’'s green and low-carbon development.

Case: Establishing the POP MART Innovation Material
Hub to Pioneer Sustainable Craftsmanship

Located in Dongguan, Guangdong, the POP Innovative Material Hub
sets up six specialized zones, namely New Technology and Material
Collection Zone, Use of Technology and Material Exhibition Zone,
Environmental Protection and Sustainable Development Exhibition
Zone, Project and Technology Case Exhibition Zone, Technological
Process Exhibition Zone, Patent Licence Exhibition Zone, showcasing our
avant-garde advancements in pop toy artistry, material development,
and green manufacturing. We endeavor to bring consumers more
amazing visual effects as well as improve production efficiency and
product yield by developing new production techniques, thereby
reducing environmental footprint. New Materials, new production
techniques and new technologies will give more inspirations to artists

and bring more ideas to life.
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Case: Innovating the “Liquid Flowing Adhesive” Process to
Promote Green and Low-Carbon Production

The “liquid flowing adhesive” is an innovative green and low-carbon
production process. We replace the traditional spraying process with a
mixed brewing process, achieving a low-carbon and environmentally
friendly upgrade from the source. This process allows for direct one-step
injection molding without the need for spraying. While enhancing the
appearance of products, it significantly reduces the emission of volatile
organic compounds (VOCs). By simplifying the process, it also reduces
the overall production energy consumption, further minimizing the
carbon footprint. In addition, this process can also replace the traditional
water transfer printing technology. While achieving an aesthetic and
layered texture on the plastic surface, it reduces the surface treatment
procedures, cuts down the consumption of film paper generated in the
water transfer printing process, and effectively reduces resource waste.
Currently, this process has been successfully applied in the production
of the spheres and bases in the product line of the "SKULLPANDA
‘Mansion Whisper’ View in the Landscape” series, effectively promoting
the coordinated reduction of pollution and carbon emissions in the

industrial chain and facilitating the Company's sustainable development.
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Case: Achieving Packaging Optimization and Upgrade to
Practice Green and Low-Carbon Transformation

During the year, we have continuously optimized and upgraded our
product packaging. In terms of material recycling, for the products in
the “SKULLPANDA 'Mansion Whisper’ View in the Landscape” series, we
have adopted corrugated paper made of 100% recyclable materials to
replace the original PET plastic packaging, enhancing the packaging's
recyclability and decreasing the reliance on petroleum-based materials.
Through optimized design, we have effectively reduced the volume
of the carton packaging. The volume of a single carton packaging
has decreased by 30.7% compared to the plastic packaging, further
promoting the reduction and recyclability of product packaging.
Regarding the LOGO on the product outer packaging, we have custom-
developed an in-mold lettering process with high-definition resolution
for the copyright print, replacing the traditional steel plate pad printing
ink. While maintaining the product’s aesthetic appeal, this reduces the
use of ink and decreases the VOCs emissions during the production
process, achieving green printing. This packaging upgrade systematically
responds to the “dual carbon” goal, consumer responsibility, and supply
chain resilience, marking the Company’s ESG strategic transformation

from “compliance-driven” to “value creation”.
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Company highly values the protection of the environment and
natural resources. In our business development and daily operation,
the Company has actively responded to national policies of energy
conservation and environmental protection, promoted the concept
of environmental protection, fulfilled the low-carbon operation mode,
and minimised the impact on the environment and natural resources,

thereby enhancing our green competitiveness.

Given our operation features, the Company has rather little influence on
the environment and natural resources. In 2024, we have not discovered
any significant event of pollution and impact on the environment and

natural resources in our operation.

Response to Climate Change

Amidst the intensifying global attention to climate change, as
a responsible enterprise, we have taken proactive measures to
advance climate actions. The Company profoundly understands the
impact of climate change on its business operations and society
and has proactively identified and assessed climate-related risks and
opportunities and systematically formulated response measures to
improve the climate-related management system and optimize the
management mechanism, thereby improving the Company’s climate

change adaptability and business resilience.

During the year, based on the existing risk management system, we
continued to identify and analyse climate-related change risks to ensure
a comprehensive understanding of climate risks in each department
through communication and collaboration with various departments.
We accordingly formulated and improved management strategies and
countermeasures against climate risks to enhance the Company’s overall

climate-related risk management capabilities.
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The major climate-related risks and opportunities identified, as well as

countermeasures implemented against climate change by the Company, are

as follows:

Types

f it

Climate-related

risks/opportunities
RARAEES
Bk

Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R

RRRFR T EREERRR
K HIFE H FEETHEAELA T -

Countermeasures

B

Physical risks
VIR BB

POP MART

Acute weather risks

SERRRER

The occurrence of extreme
weather, such as rainstorms,
typhoons and snowstorms may
cause damage to the health and
safety of staff and property of
the Company.

ZW > RA - ZEFHEHRR
WEAE - AR AR ABRE
M2 RNABIMERE -

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

Develop emergency plans in line with
different situations, strengthen the collection
of extreme weather warning information
and issue weather alerts in advance, and
establish efficient mechanism of disaster
relief, regularly assess measures for disaster
prevent ion, reserve emergency supplies,
such as umbrellas and raincoats, adjust
operation hours and working ways when
necessary, identify possible asset losses,
and purchase necessary staff and property
insurance.

RETREREESERTAR - Nk
IHTARFEEEESNBEERT BUa
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ERABRBERARMATN  BAEEA
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Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R R

2024 FBIE - HERERBE

Countermeasures

FE3 45 i

Extreme weather such as
rainstorms, typhoons and
snowstorms may cause Pop
Mart interruptions in transport
operations.

ZW > REA - ZEFHEHRR
B 3% A AT B X BUE B R0 R

& o
AA

Continuously improve the environment
of warehouse hardware facilities, enhance
the business operation and emergency
response capabilities of warehouses,
establish an integrated logistics and
transportation system covering conventional
and emergency logistics and transportation,
communicate with logistics service
providers and adjust the work plan in a
timely manner as extreme weather occurs,
and use emergency logistics transportation
methods such as air or rail transportation
when necessary, improve the mechanism for
identifying and predicting extreme weather,
and regularly assess the impact of bad
weather on product transportation to take
risk-preventing measures in advance.
FERICRERMRE BRI EEKR
ERE I NESERKY  BYBERRD
mEBHRESYRERN —BYRER
BR ERnKRELER - REFEYRR
BRBRTABRIEAR LERRKBZE
BRHREREESYRER T &
RIH KSR AP ERIEH S - FHIRT RS
AREERBERNOTE - L2A1 e R
I -
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Types

b

Climate-related
risks/opportunities
EA L

1 ]

Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R R

Countermeasures

FE3 45 i

POP MART

Chronic weather risks

18I R R

Continuous hot weather may
lead visitors and employees of
POP LAND to suffer heatstroke
outdoors; strong wind and
cold weather may lead to the
decrease of visitors of POP LAND.
FESBRASELABEH
THENE  BETEPINHE
BER : KE - RLRREH
ABBERTERBEEHE T
P ey o
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Formulate emergency plans for the
continuous hot weather during the
summer, issue weather alerts in advance
when extreme weather occurs, and take
precautionary measures, including but not
limited to enabling tourists to be accessible
to ticket refunds or postponed visit,
providing first aid knowledge concerning
heat stroke to doctors in the park, reserving
medicines to alleviate heat stroke at park
services; placing ice machines in the park;
and placing spraying cooling facilities
in outdoor places where people gather.
Optimize the construction of venues and
facilities for cold and strong wind weather to
provide a warmer environment for visitors;
flexibly adjust the schedule of activities
according to the weather conditions, and

increase the frequency of indoor activities.
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Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R R

2024 FBIE - HERERBE

Countermeasures

FE3 45 i

Transformation risks

BRER

Risk of policies and
laws and regulations
SR Mo
ERE R

Regulatory authorities gradually
improve the disclosure
requirements for information
related to climate change. The
government also accelerates the
introduction of green and low-
carbon transformation policies.
Failure to follow up on policies
or meet relevant disclosure
requirements may result in
regulatory inquiries or warnings.
EERBZRIS TERIEEBE
B EEER - BT IR 0 e
REERBREEK  bEER
Bl I R B HOSR B RE R
HREmEENR  BEEREER
BRMMEER -
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Closely follow up on the new policies
issued by the country in response to
climate change, energy conservation and
environmental protection, ecological
protection and other relevant fields, analyze
the impact of relevant policies on the
Company, and develop corresponding
management measures and response
methods; further improve the climate
change management system, strengthen
communication with regulatory authorities,
and improve the transparency of information
disclosure.
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R~ A RRRE S AR A B M TECR
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Types

b

Climate-related
risks/opportunities
EA L
1 ]

Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R R

Countermeasures

FE3 45 i

POP MART

Market risk
miZER

Technology risk
Bl L

The concept of green, low-
carbon, and sustainable
consumption is becoming
increasingly popular, and
customers are paying more
attention to the impact of their
products on the environment
and the Company’s measures
to address climate change.
Failure to grasp relevant trends
in a timely manner may lead to
customer loss; climate change
may lead to higher energy prices,
thereby increasing logistics costs.
e B AIBEEERED
BERIT BPENEIER
WREZE  BINRERY
RIRBTEBERE - KRR
RICEEEBEAEERER
Mk RIREE T REE B EER
B LR - (eI MPImAA -
Technical bottlenecks and failure
to make a breakthrough in
environmental protection and
low carbon technology could
result in green products lagging
behind the industry peers.
BEIRAMME - AR R IRR
R - BEGEEREER
NEIESE
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Focus on customers’ expectations for green,
low-carbon, and sustainable products,
ensure timely and accurate disclosure of
information on response to climate change
challenges, innovate green product designs,
track the newest development trend of
green market, promote the transformation
and upgrading of products, and gradually
optimize the transportation plan by setting
up a reasonable transportation route and
increasing the proportion of the use of new
energy vehicles.
RERPHERERE BIX  ATHES
FEAHE - BRLE  EEIRERY
RIFBLRBOEE  AFGEERR
i BRZEMSERPE  EPERN
HAAL BB ERAR  REARE
BEREKAR - BINFTELRERAVE A LA o

Recruit top experts, increase investment in
technology research and development as
well as enhance technological capabilities.
HETBRERAL » A%
A RARMES -
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Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R R

2024 FBIE - HERERBE

Countermeasures

FE3 45 i

Opportunities
3]

Reputation risk

BEEAR

Green operation
HEES

Poor performance in addressing
climate change could lead to
a loss of confidence among
stakeholders in the Company.
ERERHRIEZE(TEERER
- BRZMNEERTEAR
AREFL e

Advance enterprises’
transformation to net zero low-
carbon emission.

TR (B2 M F TR R o

Regularly evaluate the Company's
sustainable development strategy and
make timely adjustments according to
the current situation; enhance employees’
awareness of climate change and foster
employees’ awareness and sense of purpose
to adopt more positive actions; strengthen
communication with stakeholders and
listen to their opinions and suggestions for
continuous improvement.
AR AR A AR RIE
B R B SRR RRITE THRIRE (b
B RREIKF - 15 & B TR BN R
IAIRAEEERNITE - RN EEETTE
woRIEEE R EEE  UETECE -
Develop strategic plans for new energy
transportation; adopt more environmentally
friendly transport modes; increase new
energy transportation technology and
equipment; further integrate supply chain
resources to create a green supply chain.
HER R ERBIEAE  KAETRED
BEARN BN RRER R AR A
E—TEAHEREER  TEReMERE -
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Types

b

Climate-related
risks/opportunities
EA L
1 ]

Description of

risks/opportunities

BB R R

Countermeasures

FE3 45 i

POP MART

Green products

AREEM

Resources and
cooperation
HREEE

Urge enterprises to invest in and
develop and innovate on green
products and green packaging
materials, so as to open up new
markets.

RECEREMAEBIFZE
EmRk&eaRmme - R

i -

Promote cooperation with
industry or other professional
organizations and create more
opportunities.
fRAEBITE RS H A B XIS
GiF WREZEIFHRS -
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Focus on the R&D and application of green
products and green materials; increase
investment in the R&D of technology,
optimize production processes, and enhance
green innovation capabilities; actively
identify market demands, accurately locate
green products, and promote successful
products or cases to the entire product line;
strengthen green product certification and
publicity.

HERREEM  FEME T ERE
MR ERA - BLEETE
R ERIFEEN  BEREMSH K -
BEELMABER  HRERIEDIE
BEz2FER: REECERRTESE
HE -

Actively explore diversified cooperation
opportunities and broaden cooperation
channels; strengthen close ties with
industry organizations to achieve more
extensive resource sharing and collaborative
development; establish a network of
cooperative relationships, promote
cooperation and resource integration
through technical support, and achieve
mutual benefit and win-win results.
BRRRZITIENAIERE  EAER
B OIAETREKNTRE  ERE
Bz ERAZEBRIER  BLE1ER
FAL - BBRINKE - HBAERER

BE EBEREMHE -
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Environmental Goals RIBER

To actively responds to China’s “Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality” ARAFEBLERRIER]BE - @BHR
goal, the Company quantitatively manage its own carbon footprint BLFESLMBTES IR - FERK
through scientific means and continuously track the environmental RIFEEER - AFE - RMEREER
management process. During the year, we reviewed the progress BRI ETR - MERRE BN
towards our environmental goals, and the details of this progress are RIERAT

outlined below:

Goals Progress
BE EREBER

Emission reduction By the end of 2030, the greenhouse gas The relevant work was advanced in an orderly manner.
goal emissions (Scope 1 and 2)7 of the Company  This included the establishment of a unified calculation
will reach a carbon dioxide emission peak. standard for emissions, the advocacy of the low-carbon

concept in the daily business operations, and the

implementation of emission reduction measures.

HEEE & HE2030FE - AR BE-LBE_—E BFHEEREIE SRELA—NFRYFER
ERBHMERBEE % EABEBELTEERESEERER
e

Waste reduction goal By the end of 2030, reduce the use of single-  Continuously optimize and upgrade product
use plastics in product packaging®. packaging, promote recyclability, and contribute
to carbon reduction and efficiency improvement

throughout the entire supply chain.

REERZE HZE2030FK ' EMEERL —XELEREY BESLCARERSE  HBABRIA BhHz
FH . PE R IR o

Energy-saving goal By the end of 2025, office electricity Continuously strengthen the management of electricity
consumption per capita will be reduced by consumption, strictly control energy consumption,
10% as compared with that of 2020. and take measures such as energy conservation and

consumption reduction to promote the progress of the

goals.
R BE20055E - ADBARBRI00FH HENERTEE - RIITTERAR « SRR
410% o feEERmESERER -

Note: [

(1) Scope 1 covers the emission of greenhouse gases directly produced by the () BEREALRAFTREALEHNEBEEESE
businesses that are owned or controlled by the Company, such as greenhouse BORERBEHN - WABRAEEREAS - SBE
gas emissions from the consumption of petrol and diesel by official business HARATEREEHEN : BE RE KRB RARNIHE
vehicles; Scope 2 covers the emission of greenhouse gases indirectly produced FE(FBEMIEUSH) B - 28 - RRRETAH
by electricity generation, heating, cooling and steam internally consumed by the SIBH R EREBHEA ©
Company, either purchased or acquired.

(2) The waste reduction goal disclosed in the 2023 Environmental, Social and ) ARAEC2023FRE - LB REB/RE)BREAR
Governance Report of the Company is that by the end of 2023, at least 40% of the BEER  HE2023FEK - EL40%0E TFIE
offline stores should popularize the use of recyclable of logistics boxes. In 2024, ERAIEIR R © 2024F - ARAEIBE
the Company has achieved this target. During the year, taking into account the KRZBE - NEE @ GREERADTEBERE
Company's business development, we updated this goal and revised it upon the Mo RMEZEEETTEN  UKEEEEFR
approval of the Board of Directors. HOEBTRASET ©
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Goals Progress
BE ERER
Water-saving goal By the end of 2025, office water consumption ~ Continuously strengthen water resource management

per capita will be reduced by 10% as compared  through measures such as posting water-saving

with that of 2020. signage, conducting regular inspections and
maintenance of water facilities, and implementing
water conservation retrofits to achieve our

sustainability goals.

ik BEZ HZE2025FK - AP AFEKER2020F R/ HEMEKERER  BBRIFNZH - BiEH
410% ° WRAKREN KR B EEIR  HE KRS

e EERIRER -

Environment Key Performance Indicators™ RIBEARERERY
The 2024 environment key performance indicators of the Company RAT2024FIRIFHEBRETIEZRS R
are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, the scope of environment T -BREEHRBPIN  RIEBHERTEHE
statistics covers major offices and operating stores of Pop Mart in the HERBIBFERERNLEEZRARE &
Mainland China, and POP LAND, whereas the rest will be included as and ERERABIBRHNTELER  EHRELS
when appropriate in the future. Fr AR S s p A st #6 B o
Emission®
3¢
Indicators Data for 2024
BE 2024 F HE

Total greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission (Scope 1 and 2)® (tons)

BERBHNES (BE—REHE ) (IE) 7,407.59
Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) (tons)
BEREREBHWE ($E—) (HE) 58.44
Petrol
pai:i 19.12
Natural gas
RAR 39.32
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2024 FBIE - HERERBE

Emission®
R
Indicators Data for 2024
= 2024 F B
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) (tons)
MR EREHNE (B8E =) (u7) 7,349.15
Purchased electricity
SNEE 7,349.15
Total GHG emission (Scope 1 and 2) per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
FREEBTHAREREFNE (BE—R®HE=) (W B5&7T) 0.57
Total hazardous wastes (tons)®
BEREEYRE (W)Y 0.55
Total hazardous wastes per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
FEBETRAGEEEDRS (88 7T) 0.00004
Total non-hazardous wastes (tons)®
BEREEYRE ()Y 475.68
Total non-hazardous wastes per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
FESTWARETEEYEE (,B&8T) 0.04

Notes:

m

Due to business development needs, the Company increased certain stores
in 2024, and the annual operation data of POP LAND was disclosed for the
first time. Therefore, the total energy consumption, total non-hazardous
waste, total packaging materials for finished products and total GHG
emission have increased overall as compared with that of the previous year.

Due to the small number of self-owned vehicles of the Company, the
emission of exhaust emissions such as nitrogen oxides and sulfur oxides
generated thereof was limited. Based on the nature of the operation of the
Company, its major type of gas emissions is GHG emission from electricity
and fuels derived from fossil fuels.

The GHG list includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. They
mainly come from purchased electricity and fuels. GHG emissions data is
presented in carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) and is based on the Release
of 2022 Electricity Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors issued by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic of China, and the 2006
IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Revision)
issued by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

Hazardous wastes generated from the Company's operation mainly include
waste toner cartridges, waste ink cartridges, waste toner powder for office
printing devices, and the replacement or disposal of which are handled by
printing service suppliers or qualified professional companies.

Non-hazardous wastes generated from the Company’s operation mainly
include domestic waste, electronic waste, and waste paper. Domestic waste
is uniformly handled by the property management companies. We estimate
the data of domestic waste in accordance with the Emission Coefficient
Manual for Urban Domestic Sources in the First National Pollution Source
Census issued by the State Council. Electronic waste is handled by qualified
professional companies. Waste paper, including A3 copying paper, A4
copying paper and thermal paper, which are also uniformly handled by the
property management.
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Energy and Resources Consumption

BERR EIRHE

Indicators Data for 2024
EE 2024 F HIB
Total energy consumption (MWh)®
selREFEE S (KR ) O 13,964.98
Direct energy consumption (MWh)
BREREREE OERE) 269.21
Petrol
b 74.70
Natural gas
N 19451
Indirect energy consumption (MWh)
i seIREREE (JKRAT) 13,695.78
Purchased electricity®
SMNEE S 13,695.78
Energy consumption per million revenue (MWh/RMB millions)
BEETRARREREEZ OKRE,  BET) 1.07
Water consumption (tons)®
FEKEY 4,485.84
Water consumption per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
BEEBTRAFKE (B B&8T) 0.34
Total packaging materials for finished products (tons)®
EHmPTRABEESE () ® 13,703.69
Total packaging materials for finished products per million revenue (tons/RMB millions)
FESTRARAERREEDE (B8 T) 1.05

Notes:

(1) Energy consumption is calculated on the basis of the conversion factor
set out in the General Principles of Consolidated Energy Consumption
Calculation (GB/T 2589-2020), the national standard of the People’s Republic
of China, including purchased electricity, natural gas and petrol consumption
for vehicles.

(2)  Electricity charges for Guangzhou office areas are included in property
management fees, and the consumption of purchased electricity cannot yet
be measured separately, therefore, data for Guangzhou office areas is not
included in the purchased electricity for the reporting period.

(3) Except for the Company's Beijing, Shanghai, Xinxiang office areas and POP
LAND, the office water usage in other office areas and operating stores
is managed by their respective property management companies. Water
charges are included in property management fees, and water usage cannot
yet be measured separately. Hence, during the reporting period, only data
from Beijing, Shanghai, Xinxiang office areas and POP LAND is collected for
water consumption and water consumption intensity. POP LAND was put
into operation in September 2023. The data disclosed in 2023 included the
data during the construction period. Therefore, the overall data of office
water consumption has decreased compared with that of the previous year.
Our office water is sourced from municipal pipeline network, thus there is no
obstacles in securing water supply.

(4)  Packaging materials mainly include plastic packaging bag, carton, paper box
and paper bag.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EI B AR 2 &
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V. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR STANDARDS

The Company regards talent as the core resource for the sustainable
development of the enterprise. We continuously optimize the talent
management system, formulate diversified talent development
strategies, broaden the channels for talent recruitment, provide
diverse incentive mechanisms and welfare care, and are committed
to creating a healthy and safe working environment for employees.
We comprehensively protect the legitimate rights and interests of

employees and strive to achieve common growth with them.

Employment Management

The Company strictly complies with relevant laws, regulations and
management regulations of the countries or regions where we operate,
such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China (% AR £
MELEEYE)) and the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China KFZEAREFIESE)A [E)E)). We have formulated personnel
management systems, including the Human Resources Management
System, the Attendance Management System, the Probation
Management System, the Business Trip Management System, the
Expatriate Management System, and the Vocation Management System,
etc. These systems standardize labor relations in accordance with the
law and make clear provisions on aspects such as employee recruitment,
employment, compensation, benefits, promotion, dismissal, labor safety,
working hours, equal opportunities, diversity, and anti-discrimination.
We update and revise the above systems every year to ensure that
labor relations are legal and compliant. In terms of overseas talent
recruitment, we have introduced international recruitment platforms.
According to the characteristics of business development in different
countries, we flexibly adopt multiple channels to recruit local employees,

strengthening personnel management work.

We actively create a diverse, equal and inclusive working environment,
fully protecting employees’ rights and interests in aspects such as
recruitment, salary, benefits, training opportunities, work arrangements,
promotion, disciplinary actions, and dismissal. We firmly oppose any
form of discriminatory behavior, including but not limited to harassment
or differential treatment of employees due to factors such as race, social
class, nationality, gender, sexual orientation, age, appearance, religious
belief, marital status, physical condition, etc., ensuring that every

employee can receive due dignity and respect.
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We abide by the internationally recognized human rights policies
elaborated in the United Nations' Universal Declaration of Human Rights,
International Covenants on Human Rights, and the core conventions
of the International Labour Organization. In accordance with laws and
regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Minors R ZEARLFMBIARKF AREE)) and the
Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labor ZEIHERETEE)),
any illegal employment practices such as the employment of child
labour and forced labour are strictly prohibited. During the recruitment
process, we rigorously examine the identity documents of applicants.
We conduct a double verification of the document information through
the human resources management system, and the human resources
department conducts a secondary check at the onboarding approval
stage. Once the employment of child labour is detected, we will
immediately halt their work, verify their identity, contact their guardians,
and assist them in safely returning to their place of origin. We respect
the wishes of our employees and arrange working hours reasonably. It
is strictly prohibited to use means such as violence, threats, or illegal
restriction of personal freedom to force employees to work. Once any
violations of forced labour are found, we will deal with them seriously in
accordance with the law to safeguard the equal and free labour rights of
our employees. In 2024, there were no cases of child labour employment

or forced labour in the Company.
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We continuously strengthen democratic management and establish
and maintain harmonious and democratic labour relations. All
employees of the Company have the right to freely establish and
participate in the Employee Representative Committee and engage in
collective bargaining in accordance with the law. We have established
organizations such as the Trade Union, the Party Committee, and
the Women's Federation Committee. In the daily human resources
management and system optimization, we invite employees to
participate in discussions, fully listen to their opinions, and adopt
reasonable suggestions to ensure the democratic and transparent
decision-making process. We constantly optimize the employee
communication mechanism, providing employees with various
communication channels to express their demands, such as the “Bubble
Voice Recorder” platform, public email, QR code scanning, and the HR
service desk. The “Bubble Voice Recorder” platform allows employees
to ask questions anonymously or publicly, facilitating their feedback on
matters related to daily work, work atmosphere, career development,
employee benefits, and internal supervision. The public email, QR code,
and HR service desk support communication in both Chinese and
English, meeting the communication needs of different employees. We
conduct employee satisfaction surveys, analyze employees’ demands
and suggestions based on the survey results, and formulate targeted

improvement plans.

We continue to optimize our recruitment strategy to attract outstanding
talents from diverse countries, regions, cultural backgrounds, genders,
and age groups. As of 31 December 2024, the Company has a total of
6,273 employees in mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and

overseas regions.
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Employment?

ETEREER
Indicators As of 31 December 2024
bipd B ZE2024512H31H
By gender (persons) Male
BRI (A) Es 1,783
Female
o8 4,490
By employment type (persons) Full-time
BER (X) e 5,692
Part-time
FREL 581
By age (persons) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (A) 305 (R E) AR 4,024
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
3052 508% (V&) 2,242
Above age 50 (including)
508% () AL 7
By geographical region (persons) Mainland China
RILE (N) B A3 4,947
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
BRE KEIMEE 1,326

2 The statistics of employment cover the Company's regular employees and part-

time employees and do not include outsourced employees and interns.
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Employee Turnover Rate?

2024 FBIE - HERERBE

BIREAEER?
Indicators As of 31 December 2024
bipd BZE2024512H31H
Employee turnover rate (%)
BTRKE(%) 32.60%
By gender (%) Male
A% 5 (%) E2 28.36%
Female
o8 34.26%
By age (%) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (%) 308% (M) AT 40.04%
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
30552 505% (&) 18.18%
Above age 50 (including)
505% (B) Ak 44.44%
By geographical region (%) Mainland China
BRI E (%) R A 32.30%
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas
BEa Mg 34.22%
Employees Caring EEET
In accordance with laws and regulations such as the Social Insurance AABERE(REARLIMBEL SRR E)
Law of the People’s Republic of China K ZE AR HEMEIT GREE)) fE }%A%%ﬁﬁ{lﬂﬁﬂ)%;ﬁé;ﬁ%ﬁ R
=)

and the Regulation on the Administration of Housing Provident Fund
KEERAESEIRIEN)), the Company have established a competitive

remuneration and welfare system, and enhanced employees’ happiness,
sense of belonging, and sense of identity through diverse employee
activities. This effort is to build an employer brand image that is warm

and responsible.

3 The employee turnover rate represents the turnover rate of employees who

voluntarily resign, and the statistics cover the Company's regular employees and
part-time employees and do not include outsourced employees and interns.
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In terms of remuneration package, we have established a comprehensive
remuneration system that ensures regular salary payments and
contributions to the five insurances and housing provident funds (f
Bx—<). We also provide employees with incentives such as catering
and transportation allowance, performance bonus, quarterly incentive,
year-end bonus, seniority bonus, and a 13th-month salary. For our
overseas employees, we implement remuneration policies compliant
with local regulations and market standards. Additionally, we have
introduced an equity incentive plan that encompasses employees at
various levels, allowing them to share the dividends from the Company'’s
growth. Furthermore, we incorporate the performance of executives in
sustainable development into our long-term incentive plans, so as to

promote the Company's sustainable growth through equity incentives.

In respect of employee benefits, we provide statutory benefits to all
employees in accordance with local laws and regulations and localize
the Company's benefits. Statutory benefits include social insurance,
housing provident funds, and various statutory holidays. The Company's
benefits include supplementary commercial insurance for employees,
health check-ups, seniority leave, birthday gifts, anniversary gifts,
company anniversary gifts, marriage gifts, maternity benefits, Chinese
New Year red packets, team-building activities, club activities, and family
day events. We provide various benefits such as maternity allowances,
full-paid maternity leave, and transitional work arrangements for female
employees returning from maternity leave, effectively safequarding their
legal rights and interests. For expatriate employees, we respect their
local culture and holiday arrangements, organize relevant activities and

provide budget support for them.

We continuously optimize our work hour management by scientifically
planning working hours for employees and advocating for efficient
work models, so as to safeguard employees’ adequate rest and vacation
entitlements and help them achieve a work-life balance. The Company
adheres to a principle of not encouraging overtime; however, in special
circumstances where overtime is necessary, we provide options for
compensatory leave or overtime pay in accordance with the law, to

effectively safeguard employees’ legal rights and interests.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5

EFMEETE  RMCELTEHHM
HE SEIEHENRTE  #Mhk—
T WREERRBMHERE  ERXOE -
FEHR  FRED  FARED  T=FH
FHRE - HEBHNET  BHMABENAE
HER B TISKFOFH MR - RIAEH
ETRETRERE TR BT E -
EETRADZERRKESRNAN - 1tk
S BV = E A R R T E A AR
RAMARBAEE - BBRENEE
BRRAIFERE o

EETRAMTE @ RIRESHERER
MEERNEERRET - WEAFREN
AAMCER - EERNBIFLERE -
RiET  FREAEHRAKRYE  AFE
NMEBREIHABERR B F&
R -L£RER BAFEm RAERR &
e L£FRBe FOHMIALE H
2 HEEPIUARKEREHE - RS
EERMETRHEESZM 2HER
B ERREBELETFELHSEN - 4]
BEHELEB TN AR - $HHINESR
T BMEEEMEMXERERA L
B RIERE T RHABWIRHRE S -

HMsEELEIRERE NBREETT
R BESMTERN  BEREIE
BROMKEMKBEED  EHETESD
TR AR R F & o AR REF T eE NI
ERA - R RE TN - B
FORSR AR RS S DML 87 B B 42 - 4]
BEREEILAERER -

/|



2024 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

We established the Pop Mart labor union to provide all-round care for
employees. The labor union plans outreach activities on significant
occasions like International Women's Day. It regularly organizes
various cultural and sports activities, such as spring walks, badminton
tournaments, community mural painting, hiking, and movie outings,
and provide venues and financial support to enrich employees’ leisure
lives and protect their physical and mental well-being. In 2024, on the
basis of the existing policies, the labor union further formulated the Tria/
Measures for Comforting Pop Mart's Current Labor Union Members with
Major lllnesses. The scope of those eligible for comfort was expanded to
include current labor union members of the Company and their family
members. In the past year, we provided condolence funds to a total
of 19 employees with serious illnesses. This has greatly boosted the
employees’ courage to fight against diseases and overcome difficulties,

allowing them to truly feel the warmth and support of the Company.

Health and Safety

The Company always prioritizes employees’ health and safety. In
strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s Republic
of China K #E AR KLFBIRZEKFEE)), the Regulation on the
Administration of Sanitation in Public Places K/ AFIGFRATAEIRE

1)), the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance { TAGARE 15151

and the Measures for the Supervision and Administration of Employers’

Occupational Health Surveillance FA ANENIBEZEfE R BS 2 BE BB IR it
7)), the Company has established a comprehensive safety management
system that covers all employees, to create a safe and healthy working

environment.
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We take various measures to ensure employees’ occupational health
and safety. We require that new store property owner pass safety
qualification certifications to ensure that the working environment
meets health and safety standards, and we conduct regular safety
inspections of work areas. In our operational offices, we provide
employees with personal protective equipment such as hard hats,
safety shoes, gloves, and goggles, as well as medical supplies including
masks, thermometers, medications, and first aid kits. We emphasize
safety precautions during new employee orientation training and
conduct specialized safety and health training for different positions.
Regular emergency evacuation drills and fire drills are organized,
along with Red Cross first aid training to equip employees to handle
emergencies. Additionally, we continually upgrade physical examination,
supplemental medical insurance, and high-end medical insurance
plans for employees, and partner with quality service providers. The
Company strictly protects employees’ personal health information, and
physical examination reports and supplemental medical reimbursement

information are accessible only to the employees themselves.
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We place great importance on the mental health of employees and
assist employees in managing psychological stress. We continue to
develop an Employee Assistance Program (EAP?) with our partners
through the “Pop Mart Heart-to-Heart Center’, an employee mental
health project, by inviting professional psychologists to provide online or
in-person one-on-one psychological counseling services to meet diverse
employee needs. We strengthened the promotion of health knowledge
by regularly distributing micro-publications on mental health and
organizing psychological counseling training, to help employees identify
abnormal symptoms such as occupational diseases and occupational
contraindications early, thereby troubleshooting potential occupational

health and safety hazards.

In 2024, the data related to the occupational and health safety of the

employees of the Company in mainland China is as follows:

2024 FBIE - HERERBE
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Occupational Health and Safety®

BERRHERSS
Indicators Data for 2022 Data for 2023 Data for 2024
Eifd 2022 F HIE 2023 FHE 2024 F HIE
Total work-related fatalities (persons)
AT THAAB(A) 0 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities (%)
BT T 2R (%) 0 0 0
Number of work-related injuries (persons)
HAIZHEAB(A) 1 6 21
Number of lost days due to work injury (days)
EIGELXTHEBR(X) 2 288 614
EAP: Employee Assistance Programs. 4 E;JP ¢ Employee Assistance Programs + B T&E B)&t

=l e

The statistics of occupational health and safety cover the Company's regular 5 BERFRETZ2EBSAGEEREARAAAERE
employees and part-time employees and do not include outsourced employees TITRFBT TR/ EIMERAE -
and interns.
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Development and Training

The Company places great emphasis on talent development and
provide employees with a clear and transparent career development
path and promotion channels. We continuously update and optimize
our employee training system, and offer diverse training programs
to comprehensively support talent growth and assist employees to

enhance their professional skills and realize their self-worth.

We designed scientific career development paths for employees
according to the characteristics and needs of different business
departments, and established a dual-track promotion mechanism
for both management and professional roles. We continuously
implemented a talent inventory appraisal mechanism that applies to all
employees, in which dual supervisors and direct superiors periodically
conduct a comprehensive evaluation of employees’ performance, ability,
attitude and other multidimensions. Through promotion replies and
qualification reviews for respective job levels, we determine whether
employees meet the requirements for promotion and higher position
standards. Our promotion evaluations for employees are not confined to
fixed cycles; instead, we adopt a competency-based approach to identify
outstanding talents. If organizational adjustments or underperformance
occur, we prioritize providing employees with a Personal Improvement
Plan (PIP) training program. If the underperformance remains, we offer
new job opportunities through an internal transfer process to help

employees improve their work performance.
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We continuously refine a development and training system that covers
all employees. The Human Resources Management System clearly
defines the principles of employee training and personal development.
We introduce personalized training programs tailored to different
positions and levels, covering corporate culture, professional skills,
personal career planning and development, to strengthen our talent
pipeline. We have established POP MART UNIVERSITY as a platform for
talent cultivation and corporate culture development. In alignment with
business growth needs, we innovate training methodologies through
structured courses and diversified training activities to meet employees’
diverse learning demands. By collaborating with universities, enterprises
and institutions, we introduce external lecturers to share cutting-edge
knowledge and industry insights, providing continuous momentum for
the Company's long-term development. Furthermore, we have improved
the overseas dispatch mechanism that supports global mobility across
multiple countries and regions, enabling employees to understand and
learn from different cultures, thereby becoming global talents with an
international perspective. We also provide allowances for employees
obtaining internal certifications, and offer professional books and study
materials. For employees pursuing external professional certifications
and professional degrees, we have established dedicated policies to
encourage them to acquire credentials such as the Project Management
Professional (PMP) certification or business school qualifications. Upon
successful certification or degree completion, we offer financial support,

including tuition subsidies and exam fee reimbursements.

In 2024, the total number of training hours participated by employees
of the Company in mainland China reached approximately 56,491 hours,
of which, employees of office function line: 23,505 hours, employees
of stores: 17,442 hours and employees of roboshops: 15,544 hours. The

training performance of employee is set out below:
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Training Performance of Employees of Office Function Line

MABERETZIER

Percentage of

employees trained

Average training

Indicator (%) hours (hours)
R FHIE D (%) ZIHNFHIRE (N
By gender Male
Ecq il ES 95.08% 10.05
Female
L28 94.95% 9.84
By category Management
tze il EHEE 100% 48.00
Non-management
FEEE 94.84% 8.79
Training Performance of Employees of Retail Operating Line
ZEELEBRETZIER
Percentage of
employees trained Average training
Indicator (%) hours (hours)
it FHE D (%) ZIFHRE ()
By gender Male Stores
IR 5 FI5 100% 6.25
Roboshops
HeEs AR 100% 66.07
Female Stores
Z FIJ5 100% 6.25
Roboshops
HEEAREIE 100% 18.00
By category Management Stores
tze Syl EIE[E FYE 100% 6.25
Roboshops
YN 100% 18.29
Non-management Stores
FEEIRE FIE 100% 6.25
Roboshops
- YN 100% 72.27

POP MART
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VI.SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company continuously advances the development of a responsible
supply chain by formulating management policies such as the Supplier
Management System, the Documentation on Standardized Operation for
Procurement Department, the Non-product Procurement Management
System, and the Non-product Supplier Management System. These
systems clearly define regulations for supplier admission, evaluation,
selection, usage, and performance assessment. We are committed to
fostering stable and mutually beneficial relationships with suppliers and

partners to promote the sustainable development of the supply chain.

The Company has established a strict supplier admission, evaluation
and dismissal mechanism. By conducting regular compliance
assessments and audits on suppliers, we ensure the reliability and
stability of the supply chain. We have formed a supplier management
team with extensive industry experience. Additionally, we have set up
a well-experienced supplier management team, as well as a supplier
inspection team that is comprised of relevant responsible personnel
from procurement department, engineering department, quality
assurance department, quality management department and production
management department to ensures that suppliers strictly adhere to
relevant laws and standards regarding quality and safety, and thus

fostering stable and long-term partnerships.

Supplier Access

The Company's process of supplier access includes five key stages,
i.e., sourcing, qualification review, onsite review and approval, joint
inspection and admission. During supplier selection, we establish a
professional independent sourcing team to conduct comprehensive due
diligence, with a particular focus on suppliers” environmental and social
responsibility performance. This includes their capacity in key areas
such as energy consumption, carbon emissions, waste management,
environmental pollution control, labor rights protection, occupational
health and safety, and community engagement. Through the Supplier
Cooperation Application Form, we conduct a comprehensive evaluation
and scoring of suppliers based on multiple criteria, and priority will
be given to those with high scores, strong overall capabilities and

third-party certifications.

-
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During the supplier admission assessment, we evaluate key factors such
as production facilities, production capacity, technological strength, R&D
capabilities, quality control, and infrastructure. We also conduct rigorous
reviews on environmental protection, resource conservation, safety
management, and corporate sustainability. Suppliers are required to
comply with relevant laws and regulations, including the Atmospheric
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China K #E ANRFEFBIKE)SEPAE)), the Solid Waste Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China
# ANRAFEE SR Y5 R RIBENEE)) and the Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China % A
REAFMBENGT LI EE)). Additionally, they must submit environmental
impact reports, pollutant discharge permits, and other necessary
documents to meet our strict admission standards. Furthermore, our
supplier audits incorporate third-party certification and assessment
results, such as the International Council of Toy Industries (ICTl) Code
of Business Practices, the Disney International Labor Standards (Disney
ILS), the Sedex Member Ethical Trade Audit (SMETA) and the Business
Social Compliance Initiative (BSCI), which will serve as critical criteria in
supplier sourcing. Currently, a total of 7 suppliers cooperated with the
Company have obtained the certification of ICTI and 25 have obtained
the certification of Disney. Suppliers such as Danny Toys (Longchuan)
Co., Ltd. have obtained certifications such as Global Security Verification
(GSV®), Global Recycled Standard (GRS’), Forest Stewardship Council
(FSC®), etc.

We pay attention to the code of conduct of cooperative suppliers
and require them to sign the Cooperation Framework Agreement of
Production and Processing annually. This agreement explicitly mandates
that suppliers prohibit child labor, eliminate gender discrimination,
protect female employees’ rights, allow employees to take sick leave,
and provide employees with necessary labor protection equipment.
We impose clear requirements for labor rights protection. Suppliers
with significant risks or potential hazards are strictly excluded from our

cooperation network to uphold the highest supply chain standards.

GSV: Global Security Verification, that is the global security verification.
GRS: Global Recycled Standard, that is the global recycled standard.

FSC: Forest Stewardship Council, namely the forest management committee.
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Daily Management of Suppliers

We attach great importance to the daily management of suppliers.
Based on the supplier management list, we pay attention to and
supervise the continuity of implementation of all our cooperative
suppliers. Through monthly, semi-annual and annual evaluations, we
conduct regular performance assessments and hierarchical management
of the suppliers in our database. We continuously optimize the Supplier
Relationship Management System (SRM) to achieve online management
of the entire life cycle of suppliers, and implement differentiated reward

and punishment measures according to the supplier levels.

We strengthen the ESG risk management, informatization and digital
construction of the supply chain, and encourage suppliers to improve
their sustainable development performance. For suppliers that perform
excellently in aspects such as environmental protection and employee
care, we provide additional rewards. For suppliers with risks or problems,
we issue rectification notices in a timely manner and require them to
complete the rectification of unqualified indicators within three months.
For suppliers that fail the rectification inspection or have serious illegal
and irregular behaviors, we immediately terminate the cooperative
relationship and eliminate them. In addition, we regularly provide
suppliers with training in sustainable development, social responsibility
and other aspects to ensure that suppliers have a full understanding of
our policies and systems. We encourage suppliers to use clean energy

and guide suppliers to practice green behaviors.
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Green Procurement

The Company attaches great importance to the sustainable
development performance of suppliers and is committed to building a
green supply chain. During the procurement process, we give priority to
products that strictly comply with environmental protection standards
throughout the entire life cycle of the product, have little or no harm
to the ecological environment, and feature high-efficiency resource
utilization and low energy consumption. We require suppliers to follow
the principle of minimizing environmental damage in their production
activities. To further advance the environmental protection process,
we have established a raw material white list mechanism. We strictly
manage the white list and promptly remove unqualified suppliers from
the white list according to their actual performance, ensuring that all
suppliers within the white list mechanism have a sound environmental
protection system. In addition, we have established a new technology
department and actively cooperate with suppliers to promote the
development and use of environmentally friendly materials. In 2024, all
categories of packaging materials in our supply chain have obtained the

FSC certification.

As of 31 December 2024, the number and distribution of the Company’s

suppliers are as follows:
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Number and Distribution of Suppliers®

HEFRERDBHER®

Indicators

EE

As of 31 December 2024
B ZE2024F12831H8

By geographical region (number) Mainland China

Rt & (@) B g i 13,022
Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas
BRE KRB 170
Total (number)
#Er (fE) 13,192

The statistical scope of suppliers covers the number of suppliers and business
partners that have been registered in the Company's OA system and have
completed the admission review.
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VIl.  PRODUCT LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

The Company comprehensively integrates the culture of responsibility
into our business processes, demonstrating a high sense of responsibility
towards our customers through practical actions. We strictly abide by
laws and regulations such as the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China P ZEAREMEEREEX)), and the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumers Rights
and Interests (R EAREMBIEEEERREE)). We prioritize
product quality, optimize after-sales services, and provide customers
with a high-quality and convenient experience. We actively safeguard
customers’ rights and interests, improve the information security
management system, uphold the principle of responsible marketing,
strengthen the management of trademarks and intellectual property
rights, and comprehensively build a trustworthy brand image.

Product Quality Control and Recall

The Company adheres to the quality baseline, establishes and
continuously improves its product quality management system,
and strictly complies with the national standards of toys related to
our business, such as T/CPQS C010-2024 Fashion figures and similar
products for appreciation and collection, T/CPQS C011-2023 Fashion
figures and similar products for appreciation and collection — Limitation
and test methods of volatile organic compounds (VOC), GB 6675-2014
Toys Safety, and other national standards. The Company continuously
improves the technology of its model products and enhances its
product quality control level.

We have formulated management systems and inspection standards,
such as the Product Quality Testing Inspection Specification, the Quality
Standard Manual for Action Figures, the Quality Inspection Workflow and
the Product Special Procurement Process, which ensure the effective
supervision and management of all aspects of the production process,
and obtained the world’s first FSC certification for trendy toys. In the
product design stage, we focus on the structural safety of the products
and ensure the high standard of product research and development
through the product structural safety assessment and development
testing verification. In the product production stage, we enhance the
level of production automation to reduce the impact of human factors
on product quality, and strictly control key processes such as sourcing,
injection molding, oil spraying, and assembly. We also standardize
product packaging labeling to ensure that the production process
and production process meet the national environmental protection
standards regarding the “three wastes” emissions. We have established
quality control points, strengthened the monitoring and testing of
key processes, and promptly identified and corrected quality issues.
In the product sales stage, we have developed defective appearance
evaluation standards for action figure products, optimized common
defective process steps, and continuously improved the overall quality
of products and customer satisfaction.
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In 2024, we upgraded and adjusted the Product Quality Testing
Inspection Specification, clarifying the quality inspection and testing
standards for pop collectible figurines, theme parks, GONG, and
derivatives. We also added requirements for aspects such as clothing,
accessories, packaging materials, supplier audits, and (white list) catalogs
to ensure that our products meet national and industry standards and
comply with global laws and regulations. We further specified the limit
standards for migratable elements, plasticizers, packaging waste, heavy
metals, etc. in product and accessory materials, refined the testing
process, and strengthened the training and assessment of testing
personnel to provide consumers with a safer and higher-quality product

experience.

In terms of product recalls, our company has formulated relevant
systems and processes such as the Product Recall Procedure to clearly
standardize product recall operations. We have established a dedicated
QA team for product quality risk monitoring, which is responsible for
regularly sampling and inspecting the production process, raw materials,
and finished products, and has established an emergency plan. Once
a quality problem is discovered, we immediately assess it according to
the grading standards of severity. For high-risk quality problems, we
immediately notify the production department to stop the operation of
the relevant production line and suspend shipments. For products that
may have quality problems and have already been produced, we isolate
them. For products that can be repaired, we carry out rework, and for
products that cannot be reworked, we uniformly scrap them to ensure
that they will not enter the market. While handling the emergency,
we conduct in-depth investigations into the root causes of the quality
problems and formulate effective solutions. We will only resume the
operation of the production line and product sales after confirming that

the quality problems have been completely resolved.

We continually optimise our product packaging labels. The packaging of
our products is printed with warnings and reminders including product
information, instructions, safety use and maintenance matters, such as
“Not for children under 3 years old", “EU’s CE certification for product
safety”, "UKCA marking and environmental logo”, “Derivative or blind

non

box (non-toy) button batteries & coin batteries’, “France’s Triman logo
for environmental packaging design’, “FSC logo for product packaging
and cardboard boxes”, “EU’s directive to promote recovery of waste
electrical and electronic equipment (WEEE)" and other logos and related
dimensional requirements, to warn customers to correctly use, handle or

dispose of our products.
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In order to enhance our employees’ awareness of production quality
and production skills, and reduce the incidence of quality problems and
safety accidents, we continue to promote the construction of a quality
culture. In 2024, we conducted 15 training sessions on product quality
and safety standards for internal employees and 123 training sessions
for factories. The trainings covered the introduction of overseas textile
chemical regulations, the introduction of European general product
regulations, the introduction of domestic textile and apparel regulatory
details, etc., so as to enhance our employees’ understanding of the
international and domestic laws and regulations, and to provide a solid

guarantee for the steady improvement of product quality.

In 2024, the Company did not recall any products due to product safety

and health issues or product quality problems.

Protection of Customers’ Rights and Interests

The Company, adhering customer-oriented approach, continues to
strengthen the management of service quality and improves the
level of service quality, in bid to protect the rights and interests of
customers. We strictly comply with the laws and regulations such as
the Consumer Rights and Interests Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China € I A R B H B EH S IREE)), the Measures
for the Punishment of Acts Infringing upon the Rights and Interests
of Consumers  BEBEEERITAEIIINE)), and the Interim
Measures for the Handling of Complaints and Reports by Market
Supervision and Administration  TIZEBEREFRMEIZET
$HE)). In addition, we continue to optimize our rules and regulations
such as the Standard Operating Procedure for Stores, the Pre-upgrade
Processing Mechanism, the Customer Service Handling Regulations for
Omni-channel After-sales Issues and After-Sales Service Policy. In 2024,
we updated the above four regulations. We strengthened the after-sale
service policy and monitor after-sale abnormal nodes for product
categories such as building blocks, cards and apparel. In addition, we
established additional complaint handling channels, optimised the
process of identifying public opinion keywords, and perfected the
connection mechanism between the first-line customer service and
the major customer complaints handling group, so as to improve the
efficiency and accuracy of customer service handling and enhance the

experience of our customers.
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We continue to optimize our customer complaint handling system to
reduce the risk of customer complaints. We have set up “Consumer
Protection Channel” QR codes in our stores, which allow customers to
access customer service directly after scanning the code, thus realizing
fast complaint handling. For platform complaints, we have taken stock
of 24 customer complaint portals, including WeChat, Alipay and box
machines, and formulated a clear handling process and response
specifications to respond to customer requests in a timely manner. For
park complaints, we set up a customer service team to work closely
with regulatory and administrative departments, so as to efficiently
handle customer complaints. For event complaints, we connect with
the operation team in advance, anticipate and test possible problems,
establish a connection mechanism for unusual problems, output a
unified solution, and record and quantitatively analyze major incidents.
In overseas markets, we have launched customer service support on
platforms such as Shopee, AliExpress, and TikTok, achieving a 24-hour
resolution rate of more than 96% through chat tools; we have deployed
intelligent robots to quickly respond to and resolve simple user issues,
and automatically transfer complex issues to human customer service.
Customers can also contact customer service online or by email, and the
customer service team will contact the overseas operation and logistics
team to respond in real time, to ensure that problems are solved in a

timely manner, and to enhance customer satisfaction.
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Key Performance Indicators for Product Responsibility

ERETERERESR
Indicators Data for 2024
Eifd 2024 F HE
Total market regulatory complaints on products or services received (times)
BREENERSIRBOTISEERFEE (OR) 10,822
Clearance rate of market regulatory complaints (%)
MISEERFERE %) 100
Percentage of total products sold or shipped that are subject to recall for safety and health reasons (%)
EENEEXEMBE TR L2 EERIEHMALKE E 5 (%) 0
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Customer Privacy and Information Security

The Company attaches great importance to the privacy and information
security of our customers and protects their legitimate rights and
interests in all aspects. In strict compliance with laws and regulations
and departmental regulations such as the Cybersecurity Law of the
People’s Republic of China { FEARKMBPE L 2E)), the
Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China «
R AR EMBHE A S BARFEE)), the Measures for the Management
of Information Classified Security Protection {18 B&Z 2L HMIREEE
P ) and the Measures for Determining the lllegal Collection and Use
of Personal Information by Apps € App EAERKEFRHBEAEET
BRRTE A, the Company has formulated the Management System
for Cybersecurity Alerts and Incident Reporting, the Register System
for Information System Classified Security Protection, the Information
Security Management System, the Data Security Management
System, the User Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart, the Member Service
Agreement of Pop Mart and the Minor Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart
and other rules and regulations. We closely monitor the requirements
for user information protection issued by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the People’s Republic of China, the Office
of the Central Cyberspace Affairs Commission, and China Consumers
Association to ensure that our terms and conditions are in compliance
with the latest laws and regulations, and we remind users to read and
confirm the updated contents through pop-ups and other forms, in

order to fully safeguard the customers’ right to information.

We have established a dedicated information technology and R&D
technology department responsible for the management and
supervision of information and data security, and set up a network
security and informatization leadership team to coordinate information
security-related work. We have strengthened our information security
protection capability and avoided the risk of information leakage
through technological means such as underlying encryption technology,
anti-identification technology, intranet control, anti-virus software and
firewalls, etc. We regularly conduct compliance audits and information
security tests. Moreover, we carry out at least one external and one
internal audit on information security annually, and promptly rectify any

problems identified during the internal and external audits.
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In terms of information and data collection, we undertake in the
User Privacy Agreement of Pop Mart to adhere to the principle of
minimum collection, to clearly regulate the collection of users’ personal
information, and to strictly prohibit the collection of users’ personal
information from third parties without authorization. We will never
provide any personal information to a third party without the consent
of users, or improperly dispose of it by selling, renting out and sharing.
We fully respect users’ right to choose by authorizing them to access,
correct, delete their personal information and cancel their account at
any time. Furthermore, we will purge the user’s personal data within the
promised timeframe after we receive the user's statement that he/she/
it will no longer use our services. We have publicized the privacy policy
in our WeChat Mini Program to ensure that the requirements of the
relevant policy are applicable to all businesses within the Company, with
an aim to provide the maximum degree of protection for information

security of users.

In terms of information and data processing, we clearly define the
collection, transmission, storage, use, sharing, deletion, transferring
and disclosure of corporate data and users’ personal data in the Data
Security Management System. Following the principle of “prohibiting
keeping unless necessary”, we handle users’ privacy information
carefully and require core service providers with access to customer
transaction information to sign confidentiality agreements to ensure
that their staff strictly comply with data security and privacy protection
requirements. In the data analysis process, we encrypt the sensitive
information of customers and identify customers only through their
ID numbers in Pop Mart to prevent information leakage at the source.
The screenshots of our customer service system are embedded with
employee ID watermarks, and all transmitted data are highly encrypted
and monitored by the operation and maintenance team in real time
to ensure the stability and security of the system. In terms of authority
management, we accurately configure the minimum system authority
according to the needs of the post, and implement hierarchical
authority management. Operations such as data viewing and export
must be approved based on the principle of "necessity”. The accounts
of departing employees will be deactivated immediately and relevant
permissions will be withdrawn in advance to reduce the risk of customer

data leakage.
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We have formulated emergency response plans for information or
data leaks and other emergency incidents, and comprehensively
strengthened information security protection capabilities through
multi-level protection technologies such as Web Application Firewall
(WAF) and security encryption gateway. We cooperate with third-party
institutions to monitor the risk of data leakage in real time. In case of a
leak incident, we will immediately arrange security personnel to trace
the source of the problem, comprehensively evaluate and solve the
problem, and promptly report to the Company’s security management
and supervision departments to analyze the root cause of the problem
and formulate and implement corrective measures to prevent similar
incidents from happening again. We carry out emergency drills at least
twice a year, covering potential threat scenarios such as network failures,
network attacks and information leakage, so as to continuously optimize

our information security emergency response capabilities.

In overseas regions, we have established sound information security
protection measures and systems. We collaborate with professional
third-party teams to implement compliance planning work in light of
the potential security threats and regulatory requirements in overseas
markets, ensuring the security and compliance of our overseas business
systems. We also have a professional legal team. The Data Protection
Officer (DPO) takes the lead as the person in charge to carry out tasks
such as the review of privacy protection agreements and the in-depth

interpretation of relevant overseas regulations.
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Intellectual Property and Brand Protection

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Patent
Law of the People’s Republic of China (R %EARLMBEHEFE)),
the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China (% AR AN
R Z{ERE)), the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hZ=E AR EMBEIEIEE)) and Measures for the Supervision over
and Administration of Product Anti-counterfeiting (7 mBi1A B &
EIRPHE)), the Company has formulated management systems and
mechanisms such as the Intellectual Property and Software Management
Measures. We continue to strengthen the protection of intellectual
property rights, optimize the application process of trademarks,
copyrights and patents, and improve the level of brand protection,
thereby comprehensively building an intellectual property protection

system.

We actively protect our intellectual property rights, and professional
managers are responsible for trademark registration, copyright
registration and patent application. We clarify the intellectual property
application process, protection measures and infringement response
mechanisms, and monitor core intellectual property rights through
regular search and information retrieval and offline inspections to
ensure that they are effectively protected. We continue to strengthen
internal and external review and supervision, and once we find any
clues of infringement, we will quickly take necessary measures to
crack down on malicious registration, piracy and other infringements,
and if necessary, protect our legitimate rights and interests through
administrative or criminal means. In addition, we continue to optimize
the trademark registration process, provide solutions for trademarks with
low registration success and cannot be modified, and refine the process
information.
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We respect the intellectual property achievements of others by
continuously improving the review process for the use of products,
logos and materials to ensure that all brand logos are approved for use
by the Company, and proposing clear requirements for the area where
they appear, the form of exposure, the proportion of the appearance,
the position, the font and the color. When involving the use of fonts,
images, and other copyright-related scenarios and needs that are prone
to infringement, we take the initiative to obtain relevant licenses, and
regularly conduct infringement inspections or audits. In the process
of brand image design, we sign relevant agreements with partners
to enhance the protection of intellectual property, and use relevant
elements within the license conditions and scope to reduce the risk of

infringement.

In terms of overseas intellectual property protection, we strictly
implement intellectual property protection and reporting procedures
in key countries, coordinate with local colleagues to report, deal with
and crack down on counterfeit sales, and conduct graded treatment
according to the severity of infringement. We publicize the intellectual
property rights of the Company through overseas official websites and
global e-commerce platforms, and publicize the mailbox for complaints
and reports on the “Intellectual Property Protection” module of the
global official website of Pop Mart (www.popmart.com) to receive

infringement clues from customers and jointly combat infringement.

As of 31 December 2024, the Company owned 1,608 copyrights, 1,218
trademarks'® and 45 patents'!, of which 327 copyrights were registered
and 470 trademarks and 7 patents were applied for in 2024. In 2024,
we identified more than 10 forged authorization letters, took down
the domain names of 5 overseas websites selling infringing products,
initiated 3 infringement lawsuits, and successfully intercepted over 1.3
million infringing products at customs, making every effort to safeguard
the Company'’s intellectual property and the creative achievements of

our partners.

Refers to the number of trademarks whose registration has not been revoked or
whose application for registration has not been rejected.

Refers to the number of patents (inventions, utility models and appearance
patents) for which the rights granted have not been revoked or the applications
submitted have not been rejected.
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Marketing and Advertisement Management

In compliance with laws and regulations such as the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China KFEARLMBIEEZL)), the
Company adheres to the principle of responsible marketing, and has
established clear policies and usage standards in advertising design,
material selection, and placement publicity, etc.. With a focus on brand
positioning, the Company standardizes its advertising to ensure that
there is no concealment, exaggeration and deception in advertising, and

eliminate false publicity.

In order to ensure the compliance and authenticity of advertising and
marketing content, we continue to strengthen the audit of advertising
and marketing materials and develop countermeasures against potential
non-compliance risks. In the advertising design and material selection,
we require that the advertising title, label, detail page, etc. shall not use
extreme words or illegal terms suspected of defrauding consumers, and
promptly modify expressions that do not conform to facts or violate
laws and regulations, so as to prevent false publicity from misleading
consumers. We require all publicity documents to be reviewed jointly
by multiple departments in advance to confirm accuracy, authenticity
and non-infringement before being released. For offline marketing
activities, we have established a rigorous management system and
review mechanism to review text, pictures, videos and other materials in
on-site activities. We also regularly monitor the advertisements that have
been placed, and if we find that the content of the advertisements or
promotions is inconsistent with the facts or violates laws and regulations,

we will take appropriate measures to resolve them promptly.

With the continuous expansion of overseas business, we require
overseas partners to strictly abide by local laws and regulations and the
Company's publicity norms in the promotion process. The Company's
headquarters formulates a global unified advertising standard and
review process, and the regional legal team reviews and implements
it in accordance with local laws and regulations to ensure that the
promotional content is authentic, compliant and in line with local
cultural norms. In addition, we regularly organize marketing and
design personnel to learn about advertising laws and regulations and
the Company's rules and regulations, and share industry case studies
and points to note, so as to enhance their awareness of responsible

marketing.
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VIll. ANTICORRUPTION MANAGEMENT

Anti-corruption management is crucial to the compliance and
sustainable operation of a business. The Company strictly complies
with the laws and regulations of the place where it operates, such as
the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (7 # AR H
Bl'A&EDE)), the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China K #EAREMBERKEEZE)), the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China K FEAREFBER TN IEE HF

/&), and has established relevant management systems including the
Anti-Embezzlement Management Measures, the Anti-Money Laundering
Management System, the Gift Acceptance Management Regulations,
the Conflict of Interest Management System and the Employee Code of
Conduct Management System to standardize the integrity management
requirements, clearly define red lines for violations and corresponding
handling mechanisms, and rigorously combat any illegal, non-compliant,

or improper conduct by internal employees and external partners.

We consistently conduct risk assessments for corruption and
misconduct, covering domestic operational locations such as Beijing,
Dongguan, Shenzhen, Shanghai, and Yangzhou, as well as overseas
operational regions including South Korea, the United States, France,
the United Kingdom, and Thailand. We have publicly disclosed our
Anti-Embezzlement and Internal Audit System on our official website,
outlining policies against bribery and corruption. Additionally, we
released the 2024 Anti-Fraud Work Brief, which provides detailed insights
into the regular anti-fraud and business ethics reviews conducted, along
with the outcomes of confirmed corruption cases. During the reporting
period, there were no concluded corruption lawsuits filed against the

company or its employees.

We highly emphasis the cooperation on compliance with our partners.
We expect continuous communication on compliance requirements to
build an honest, trustworthy, transparent business environment together
with our partners. We sign the Sunshine Cooperation Agreement with
our suppliers and partners, which require them to comply with the laws
and regulations applicable to where they operate, and prohibit any form
of economic transactions with company employees or their relatives
and forbid implying, offering, or lending any high-value assets. We give
preference to partners who actively report irregularities and support

audit investigations.
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Compliant and Reporting Management

The Company encourages employees, suppliers, and other partners
to mutually supervise and report any behavior that violates business
ethics, working together to uphold a fair and integrity-driven business
environment. We provide internal and external personnel with a
variety of online and offline reporting channels, both anonymous and
identifiable, including bilingual channels such as telephone, mailboxes,
websites, letters, QR code for posters, “Sunshine Bubble”, Feishu (FRE),
“Bubble Phonograph” and “Direct Channel for our Friends (/NEfEE
JBE)" We also assign specialists to carry out investigations. Once the
report is verified, it will be handled according to the severity of the case
and, if necessary, will be transferred to the judicial authorities to pursue
legal responsibility of relevant personnel, in order to firmly protect the

interests and reputation of the Company.

We attach importance to the confidentiality of whistleblowers and
have specified detailed procedures for complaints and reporting in our
Internal Audit Management System, and established a whistleblower
protection mechanism. We are committed to maintaining strict
confidentiality regarding the identity of whistleblowers and the content
of their reports, limiting the dissemination of such information to ensure
protection. We also clearly prohibit any form of retaliation against the
whistleblower, including but not limited to obstruction, harassment,
insults, defamation, threat, intimidation or assault and in case of any
of such behaviors identified, relevant responsible individuals shall be
punished severely, and we reserve the right to pursue legal liability

against them.
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Anti-corruption Training

The Company places a strong emphasis on fostering a culture of
integrity. We require all new employees to undergo business ethics
training, which includes anti-corruption education, and we continuously
reinforce compliance awareness across the organization through
systematic training resources and communication initiatives. In 2024,
we released a bilingual (Chinese and English) edition of the Sunshine
Bubble Handbook, which covers whistleblowing management systems,
red lines for violations, and historical case studies of misconduct,
providing employees with clear behavioral guidelines for adhering
to business ethics. Based on resolved cases of misconduct, we
produced 46 bilingual educational videos on integrity and compliance
to strengthen the dissemination of a culture of integrity. Bilingual
posters promoting integrity were displayed in office areas to enhance
employees’ compliance awareness. Additionally, the “Sunshine Bubble”
subscription account on Feishu (%), published 12 related articles,
accumulating over 48,000 views. We distributed company-wide survey
questionnaire on integrity and compliance requirements to gather
employees’ understanding and needs regarding the integrity culture and
optimized our integrity initiatives based on the feedback. Furthermore,
we conducted integrity training and awareness activities for key client
distributors and over 70 suppliers, sending Spring Festival greeting cards
to nearly 200 suppliers to advocate for a no-gift policy. These integrity
education initiatives and anti-corruption training programs covered all
directors, middle and senior management, and full-time and part-time

employees, achieving a 100% training coverage rate.
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Key Performance Indicators for Anti-corruption

RESHEEVIER
Indicators Data for 2024
BE PIPLES ¢
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices (cases)
BEAESHARTHE (B) 0
Number of Directors participating in anti-corruption training (persons)
SHEREGEINESHAB(A) 4
Number of employees participating in anti-corruption training (persons)
SHEHNESEIETHAH(A) 6,600
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IX. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

Adhering to the brand concept of “creating trends and delivering
fineness’, and leveraging our strengths in creative culture, we actively
fulfill our corporate social responsibilities and strive to promote cultural
dissemination and enhance social well-being. We collaborate closely
with government entities, industry organizations, clients, partners,
and other stakeholders to initiate cross-brand partnerships, foster
harmonious and compassionate communities, and achieve mutual

prosperity for both our brand and society.

Case: the Brand Charity Project of “POP MART Charity
Aesthetic Education Center”

We continue to promote the brand charity project of “POP MART Charity
Aesthetic Education Center” Through a tripartite model of “hardware
+ curriculum + activities,” we provide schools in underdeveloped
regions with dedicated spaces for aesthetic education, along with
supporting educational resources and curricula. This initiative transforms
aesthetic education centers into vibrant hubs for the dissemination
and creation of beauty in rural areas, fostering the development of
aesthetic education for children in these communities. During the
year, we completed the construction of six aesthetic education centers
in Zhuozi County, Horgin Left Rear Banner, and Chahar Right Rear
Banner in the Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region, benefiting more
than 1,500 students. As of the end of the reporting period, a total of 13
aesthetic education centers under this project have been established
nationwide. Through the continuous implementation of activities such
as art demonstration courses, teacher training programs, and summer
camps, a model of 5 standard courses has been established, and nearly a

thousand student works have been produced in total.
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Case: The 4th China International Consumer Products Expo

In April 2024, we participated in the 4th China International Consumer
Products Expo (the “Consumer Expo”) and became the "Official IP
Partner of the Consumer Expo”. At this exhibition, we displayed a variety
of products, including the Chinese Zodiac Limited Long Yin Xian Rui
series, the limited joint gift box of POP MART Beijing Gifts, "MEGA
ROYAL MOLLY 400% Chang Shana - Dunhuang’, and the Universal
Kung Fu Panda series figurines, bringing trendy cultural experiences to
consumers in the field of interest consumption. At the same time, we
also collaborated with the “British Pavilion” of the Consumer Expo and
specially exhibited the co-branded product “1000% SPACE MOLLY X
PHILIP COLBERT" in cooperation with the well-known British pop artist
Philip Colbert. This product was deeply loved by British consumers and

promoted the spread of Chinese trendy toy culture around the world.

Case: MOLLY’s Tour of Chinese Traditional Culture

In August 2024, we launched the “"MOLLY's Tour of Chinese Traditional
Culture” project and released the first product of this project — MOLLY
PLAYING Wing Chun. In the next three years, we will launch co-branded
products related to traditional culture and intangible cultural heritage
every year, and donate part of the funds from the sales of these products
to support intangible cultural heritage inheritors and project protection
work, continuously empower the innovative inheritance of traditional

culture, and spread Chinese stories to fans around the world.
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Case: Wuzhen Theatre Festival Charity Livestream

The Company has always been committed to promoting and developing
art education for teenagers, empowering rural revitalization through
charity livestreams. In October 2024, we continued our collaboration
with the Wuzhen Theatre Festival for a charity livestream, during which
we donated seven units each of the “"MEGA LABUBU 1000% Sketch” and
“MEGA SPACE MOLLY 400% Panda” Leveraging our brand influence
and the artistic value of the MEGA series, the charity products garnered
significant attention and enthusiastic participation from viewers, selling
out quickly after being listed on the livestream. We donated the entire
proceeds of RMB51,086 from the livestream sale to the Wuzhen Theatre
Festival Charity Common Prosperity Fund (S#EEBIENZEE EEE D),
specifically for drama education programs benefiting teenagers and
children in remote areas, and to provide long-term support for emerging
young artists and art teachers who are spreading aesthetic education in

underdeveloped regions.

Case: The China Intangible Cultural Heritage Expo

In October 2024, we participated in the 8th China Intangible Cultural
Heritage Expo. We set up a themed booth named “New Rhymes
of Tradition, New Trends of Intangible Cultural Heritage” on site,
showcasing a number of trendy toy IP products integrated with
intangible cultural heritage elements. Among them, “"MEGA SPACE
MOLLY 400% Hidden Gold without Trace « Wood” was crafted in
collaboration with inheritors of intangible cultural heritage techniques,
using the ancient gold inlay technique dating back to the Shang and
Zhou dynasties. It demonstrates an innovative combination of traditional
craftsmanship and modern design, allowing people to experience the
charm of traditional culture through trendy toy products and injecting
new vitality into the inheritance and dissemination of China's intangible

cultural heritage.
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Case: “"MEGA SPACE MOLLY 400% Yin Hai Sheng Hua « Xi”
Art Auction

The Company has broadened its horizons to overseas regions,
promoting the development and progress of the cultural and art
industry through charitable auctions and other means. In November
2024, we successfully auctioned “MEGA SPACE MOLLY 400% Yin Hai
Sheng Hua « Xi" (MEGA SPACE MOLLY 400%%$R /&4 1E-85) at the Phillips
auction, which was sold for HK$95,250 (approximately RMB88,700). We
donated the entire proceeds from this auction to the Foundation for The
Arts and Social Enterprise, a Singaporean charity, to specifically support
the "UTOPIA Reimagined (Series Ill)" program, with an aim to encourage
artists to explore and interpret innovative concepts, promoting the close
integration of pop toy culture with social art through practical actions,

and endowing pop toy products with more warmth and social value.

Case: The 7th China International Import Expo

In November 2024, we participated in the consumer goods exhibition
area of the 7th China International Import Expo, showcasing trendy toy
IPs such as MOLLY, THE MONSTERS, and PUCKY, as well as a series of
products developed based on these IPs, presenting a comprehensive
display of contemporary high-quality trendy lifestyle. At the same time,
for the first time, we centrally exhibited limited products such as THE
MONSTERS limited edition from the Louvre in Europe, DIMOO limited
edition from Australia, CRYBABY limited edition from Thailand in Asia,
and DIMOO limited edition from the North American market. This
reflects our achievements in IP extension and localized operation in the
process of globalization, and promotes the exchange between Chinese

trendy toy culture and the international market.
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Case: The Intangible Cultural Heritage “Engraved
Decoration” Technique of Jingdezhen Ceramics

In December 2024, we jointly launched the "MEGA ROYAL MOLLY
400% Yan Yan Ru Zha - Porcelain” product with Jingdezhen Ceramics.
We innovatively adopted the intangible cultural heritage “engraved
decoration” technique to reproduce the finesse and characteristics of
the traditional technique on ROYAL MOLLY. Through the combination
of intangible cultural heritage and trendy toys, we present the essence
of ancient techniques with trendy toy IPs, helping the inheritance and

development of ceramic culture in modern society.

Case: “POP Blood Giver Campaign” Blood Donation Drive
in Thailand

The Company has established a charitable partnership with
organizations such as the Thai Red Cross Society to actively support
humanitarian actions and promoting the implementation of public
welfare and charitable projects. Together with the Thai Red Cross
Society, we launched multiple seasons of the “POP Blood Giver
Campaign” blood donation drive. Pop Mart blind boxes were presented
as tokens of gratitude to Thai citizens who voluntarily participated in
blood donation. The number of participants reached a new historical
high, effectively alleviating the problem of blood shortage in Thailand

and further enhancing our brand image in terms of social responsibility.

In recognition of our outstanding performance in social responsibility
this year, the Company has received multiple honors and awards. In May
2024, Pop Mart was honored with the "New Benchmarks in the Global
Communication Power of Chinese Brands” for 2024. In November 2024,
Pop Mart was granted the “Global Talent Magnet Employer” award by
LinkedIn, and ranked among the “30&30 Brands” in the second Forbes
China - Go-International Series Selection. In the same month, Pop Mart
was selected as a “Pioneer Enterprise for Supporting Rural Education and
Conveying Social Care” by the China Foundation for Rural Development
for 2024.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5

=f REEBRFENEITE

202412 A - BHMHEREERE L FHED
[MEGA ROYAL MOLLY 400% 15 i A\ #L.4 |
Em o B ERAEMEXLEEINEIT
#  FEROYAL MOLLY E EIREFHE A4
A6 o RPERIFEEBIEE ST
N AEMIPR2RHEREEE - BHBEE
MEERR M P EREER o

£ : ZE[POP Blood Giver
Campaign J Rt IE B

AARAREATTFEZHMELESE
ERHBE  BRXFEABEERTE  #
ENmEBEHAORAR - HMERBEA T
FEEFEZZF[POP Blood Giver Campaign |
BIMES) - REMR2EBONRELRE
TRBBFESUATRES  2HAHET
FEL¥Fm - AXER T RE MK E RN
B E—SPRAMSETREER -

ERAFEEHEEFTENSMERIE
RATRELIARBMEZIE - 2024551 -
IR 2024 B REB R EREE N [ 37
BEE 88 0 2024F 11 A 0 BRIBHEESE
HAE2024 [ 2EAA RS HEE] KR
EEZjEEMEITRE.LE2K R FE
R [ g2 LR RETOP30] o [
A maBEEgrESNERES TR
RB2024[ BV NENHE  BEMSHAET X
PRI o



2024 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2024 FBIE - HERERBE

200

POP MART

Pop Mart was granted the “Global Talent Magnet Employer” 2024 Forbes China « Go-International
award by LinkedIn in 2024 Series Selection: 30&30 Brands
BB SREARPE2024[ ERA A RS HEE | K8 2024 ET P E. B2 RIE R FIFE
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[ SELHERES 220245 S HUB LRI

Pop Mart was honored with the “New Benchmarks in the Recognized as a “Pioneer Enterprise in Supporting Rural

Global Communication Power of Chinese Brands” for 2024 Education and Conveying Social Care” by the China
B E2024h Bl MBS REB O FH e 58 Foundation for Rural Development for 2024

FEBNERESE2024[ Y HBNHE -
BEMEEE | £HEEHE

Looking forward to the future, the Company will continue to leverage FRERK - AR E 4B BRI UL E
the influence and social value of tide play culture, continuously increase EENNMMLEE  BENALREA
investment in the community, and integrate our brand philosophy and ERBETEEMSEMT  SmBRESEE
practical actions into all sectors of society, conveying more positivity to BTEmAtgsR mMEBE  (TEN
consumers, the industry, and the broader community. HEERE XL -
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THE INDEX OF THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE EABBZFTESGIRE

ESG REPORTING CODE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

ITRHER - BE  —RERERBRERER

<FRIZ S

Section

B

Governance Structure

E/ngﬁﬁ

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

HESFELNER  EPHEFTINAR

(i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;

() HEEFSLHRE HSLELRFENEE:

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and

(il BFRENRE  HFREREE T REE - a?ﬁqﬁﬁ BRI REBREZMNIRE L8 REBNE
BEE (BEHEBTAEBNER) E’\Jiﬁi ;

(iii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

(i) BFEFWNARERE - £ REAHEBE RREE  TRECPNAEETARBARE

Reporting Principles
EHREA
A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following Reporting Principles in the preparation
of the ESG Report:
LSRR REBERIR - L RE RSN &R ERRA -
Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to identify and the criteria for the selection of
material ESG factors; (i) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders
identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.
BEECRE HERELARSERE  ORPIEZRRE U REARARMNBERERELRRNE
Bl (hEBTABETROHERR  ERANEERMENHARBITAFNHESRNBERER -
Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools used and
source of conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where applicable)
should be disclosed.
ik - ARERRE ORER (WER) FTANERE - 7% BRE/HEFETANER - RFTE
P B0 B4R [ SR 6 2RO B T AR R o
Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any
other relevant factors affecting a meaningful comparison.
—HIE BITARERE  HEREARSPRESAEABARERIEENEE (0F) iEM AR
BEBEHENEERE -
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section
TEHE  BEH - —REBERBERERSE E=1:0]

Reporting Boundary

EREE

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing the process used to identify — About this Report
which entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should B AR
explain the difference and reason for the change.

FRIEIRIG - L@ MBI AMEOERSE - LiufiE ML BERAXBEMARE - HE R ERREMNRBIE -
HERBEFANE  BTARBREINRzEREHREA -

A.Environmental

A RE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EEAT : By

General Disclosure Environment
—RIREE Management
Information on: REERE

BREERIMORERBEIR - KR HOES BEREREZYNELSS

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and nonhazardous
waste.

(b) ETHETABERZENEBERNROIINER -

Note: Air emissions include NOX, SOX, and other pollutants requlated under national laws and regulations.

i R EAREREIY Y REM K BZOEEEZE RO ELTRY) o

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and

sulphur hexafluoride.

RERBEE ALl Tt SILER - GREESY  DREEERAEIG

Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.

B EERYIEBIZ R OIFTRES -

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environment
RASRAR RUIEIE A1 RS 28 L AR RE HE IR R - Key Performance
Indicators

RIBBREIIER

KPI' A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where  Environment

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Key Performance
BRERUERAM 2B (BE—) kg REE (BEZ) REREHMRE (UBEETE) & (@A) BE (LA Indicators
BESEM  BERMAE) - RIGFARERIEE
KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of  Environment
production volume, per facility). Key Performance
BREMERAISMEEETEEYEE (UEE) X (ER) BE (MASESEML - FHERMEET  Indicators

H) - RIEMRERIER
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

Section

B

KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FRETESRMAMEEREEREYE
CBI

KPI'A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RIS AE DR IR A SHRALPAR] LB E B IR R A E DG L B IR IREN 25K -

A8 (UMTE) R (WER) BE (WASEEEN - 8EEEA

KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BIRBEBURIRA LR AT REEEEYN A - RERETIHME B R R REDELE

RATERER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EREM

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.
BRERAER(BIEEIR - KREMEM K BBUE -

Note: Resources may be used in producr/on in storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
i BRAAREE - [#F RBE BT TFR
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s)

ig

and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREBIEIRALVRBR BN EE R/ JEEER (NE
(MABESER - BERETE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREBUERABFKERTE (NMASESEMN - BFERBTE) °

CREOH) BFEE (A TETERAE) REE

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RS AE WUR IR A2 3R AL PR S M BER(E et B IR M A i 215 L B AR FTER IRV P B

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

A BRAE BUR IR A2.4 1 it SR ERGE A 7KOIR £ 7] & (] R
) P8R -

KPI' A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per

AR AT SZ B 7Kk Ries B AR I AR BE L B R PR

unit produced.

RIRAE R RA2S BN mATA B EM M EE (UNEEHE) X (NER) SEEEUGE -

POP MART
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Section
TEHE  BEH - —REBERBERERSE E=1:0]

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3 : RERRRER

General Disclosure Environment
—MRAREE Management
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources. RREE

MEETAHRRERRAAEREREATENBR °

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the  Environment
actions taken to manage them. Management
BRERUE R A L EBRHERIBENARABE RNBEATE LD RNER AT ENTE o RIEER

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[BHEA4 : RIFEL

General Disclosure Environment
—RIREE Management

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those IRIZEIE
which may impact, the issuer.

BRINEHELARATRESHETAEEZENERARIEEBETHBOR -

KPI' A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may  Environment

impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. Management

MREBERAMN D ER AR EHBRTAELYENEARKREHER - LEHTTH - RIREE

B.Social
B. &
Employment and Labour Practices
BEREZEIER
Aspect B1: Employment
EmEB1 : &%
General Disclosure Employment and
—MRAREE Labor Standards
Information on: B R TAER
BRAZ AR - BB NS - TERE BE - FERS - 2ot R REMETE LB
(a) the policies; and
@ BE: &
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

(b) BTHETABEAZENRBMEIERRIINES
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

Section

B

KPI' B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full — or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

RASEERIEIEB.IRIER - BIFRE (N2 BasRE) - Fieip R EDMWIES L -

KPI' B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

RARAERIE B 2HZ MR - FiIRAESI Rt REIDESRAELLEK -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EmEB2 : RERZE

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Information on:
FHEREZ2TIEFRENRERESBEBELBEEN
(a) the policies; and

@ BX: &

Employment and
Labor Standards
B 1% K 55 TR
Employment and
Labor Standards
B 1% & 55 T2ER]

Employment and
Labor Standards
12 MR K 85 TR

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
(o) BFEHBETAGEAZENBBEZNADINER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.
BRERUEIRBLVBE=F (BREERFE) BFRAITHHABBLE -
KPI'B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.
BARERUEER 2B TIEBATIERS -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B AR DR IEBL 3R T IR MM B X R R R 2 2456 - UWRBERTRERTE -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EMEB3 : #EREI

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.

BRI E B BT TR E M M BB BUR - FUFINES) -

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer.
it IR - Al B EE T Y B AN SN EEARIE o

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior management,
middle management).

BRAETIEE MR REEES (NS RERE - PREERE) BNNXIIEEBDL
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TRER - BEH  —RRERBEERER

Section

B

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

RRERIEER 2R MR REEENE D - BREETKZIN TR -

Aspect B4: Labor Standards
[EEB4 : &5 T XA

General Disclosure

— MR R

Information on:
BRAMIFZETsksaf2 T
(a) the policies; and

@) BE: &

Employment and
Labor Standards
EfE &4 T2

Employment and
Labor Standards
1B & R 55 T 2R

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

preventing child and forced labor.
(b) BFHBETABERTENBREERMAOINER
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labor.

R AE DR R B4 R R B AR e A R E T RoRBIS5 T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

FASRAE IR IR B4 2 A SR MBI BERR B BB R P ERERA) 2B

Operating Practices

BEEE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

fEmBs : HrEHEERE

General Disclosure

— R

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.
ERHEENRE M ERBIEEK -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

RSB SRR B5. 1 i B B ) FE R B -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are
being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BBERUREBS 2t B RIS M EE B D] - MERTEBEOINMERMER - LA RABBEIMITRE RN
E ©
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KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and  Supply Chain
how they are implemented and monitored. Management
RS A5 RUIE AR BS 3 HE I B B Ak Bl (PR SE BHEIR BT A IR 35 e it & R s 0 1B 0 - DA MBI T REE R 50K o HERE

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when  Supply Chain

selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
RASEAE BURIEBo At E BB B IS (2 (2 2 BIRIRE fn R ARTE RO - ARMBRAIT RER 7% - HrEsEER

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EmBe : EmMEE

General Disclosure Product
—MRAREE Responsibility
Information on: Management
ERAMREERMRBNRERELZ S  ES  SHEILBFEURBERT AN ERBEEER
(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health

and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress.
(b) BIFHBETABEATENHBEZLRIINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. Product
FABEMIEIER I B EEEXERAHTRLT HERIERAMARKMNE DL Responsibility
Management
EmETER
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with. Product
RASE AR IE1E B 2B I A IO o S IRFS BV IR SR 8RB A R B 77 0% © Responsibility
Management
EmAEEERE
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights. Product
RAGRAE BUE 2 B6.3 Ha il B 4 & R R [ AN E RE B RA R IE I Responsibility
Management
EmAEEERE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product
BRERUEIZRBeAH B 2R EIBRE K EMOBGER Responsibility
Management
EmETER
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and  Product
monitored. Responsibility
RSB IR IZB6 S MU B B B RHRIE RALBECE - U RABBSIT RERF X - Management
EmAEERE
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B

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BHEB7 : RES
General Disclosure

— MR R

Information on:

HRGTIEERR - BR - BEEROERER
(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

Anti-corruption
RESER

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud and money laundering.
(b) EFHBETABERYENEREERRIINER -
KPI' B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
BIRAENIE B RERMAH BT AR ESREICEENESHFRRIOBE RFAER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented

and monitored.
BABHERUBEB7 2 [ # e S B IRAR T - A MBI IT R BRI »
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

BRAENIERB7 I MESR R B TRt R &5 -

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : HBRE

General Disclosure

— MR

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BN ESER T REEMETRBENEREAER TG EEHENROBCR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor needs, health, culture,
sport).
BARERUE TR BT BRI (HE - f2RE -

BHEE  BIHE e - BB -

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

MRERIEF2ETTHRBMBAER (M ERKHE) -

Anti-corruption
RESER

Anti-corruption
RERER

Anti-corruption
RESER

Community
Investment

Management

HRIREERE

Community
Investment
Management
HEREER
Community
Investment

Management

HRIREERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
RVR R IR

e
pwec

To the Shareholders of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 188 to 334, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended,;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

e

i ok Kk 18

BREREEBREEERDRAKRR
(REEHETMATHERAA])

=
EFEHETHAR

BABEEEREEERAR (A THEBIEA
AHREMBARATHABIE£E])5I&FH R
F188 2334 AWM A IIETHRE - BIE:

R2024F 12 A3 HNGEBEEBER

%zimEluzifé’] AR EEMEEK

RAEVBHRRNE  BRERETHRRRE
BREMEEESR -

EMHER

BMRBR  ZEREMBRERERIF(EERGTH
BREGFEMEEMFEMRETEEER
2024F 12 A3 1 AR E BB R EBEZA
IFFEMNFEMBRBERGEEEERE - B
BIBES(RAUEG) BB ER T Z REHE



BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

RENER

BAEREBECEBRFRER)ETER - RAE
ZEEATAENEECEARS [RBEE
AHRAMBREAENEE] BOHEE— R

it o

HFIEGE - RAMESHESEEET R LE
B RRANESF B REHER -

By %

RIBER ST AR X B EAIRE RS RAOCE
RERTEIERER TR (B2 BRRELEERE))
(AT EESFR))  RABLREERE
YEETERTRPHEMBRXBEET -

BRESEE

MEEAFRERBERMANEXRALE - RRY
AHGE AU BRENEARF/EENFTR - 5
LEFTERMEFBREAVBERERRLEA
ERBETREN RMTSHELEREHR
BENESR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment provision

for inventories.

EEEEE (%)

BPEEFTENNBRETSEEANTE
ELEE -

Key Audit Matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANENIEERRENER

Impairment provision for inventories

FEREER

Refer to notes 2.1(g), 4(a) and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
HEJ =z E‘ﬁz

AMIEREMFE21(9) * 4(a) }22 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's balance of gross
inventories was RMB1,556 million, against which a provision of
RMB32 million was made.

R2024F12A31H  EEENRGEEESHAARE 15568
B WrMHRGFEREEHEARKEIBEET

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FERRAMA ST FEMEPBRIEEDH® - IR FER
BELERKLBIETNMETEEREMTH T TRAMER
B EHE PIFR AR o

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration
of key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection,
estimated future selling prices and selling expenses of the
respective inventories.
FENREEGEGTPREEEEANE  ZSHEFER
FEERAERE - RARHETER » FEAARREBUARBEERN I EM
BREE -

We considered this is a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment involved significant management’s
judgement.
ENREM LI REBES RS RMRRE
FEAtEE -

= E R B

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BRREEE —RRETFENMT TUATERF

We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;

HIEE T (EEH R HEE A E 0 B A A b
% RHEE AR E A @

2 [ 25 7K

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
control and assessment process of impairment provision
for inventories and tested the key controls over
management’s estimation of impairment provision for
inventories;
BMTRIAETERBHES
AR AR TERESETE
i

R (B 85 F 19  422 Il 71
R AR AR RIS R

We discussed with management and evaluated the
appropriateness of the method and assumptions used in
impairment provision for inventories;
BMEREREr sl T FEREERERN A
MEBHRNBEE M

We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment provision for inventories to assess the

effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

BME AR BREGTEREEENTGHERET THE -
NEEERERFTRENE R

POP MART
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EANENNEERRENER

We found the assumptions adopted and judgment applied by

management in the determination of impairment provision for

We tested the aging profile of inventories items on a
sample basis by checking to relevant documents including
goods receipt notes;
BREERER (BRREE) &Y BAEmEROAR
FEEENEREBET TR

We compared the carrying amount of the inventories, on
a sample basis, to their net realisable value through review
of sales subsequent to the year end;
BEBHERUMENEEFENETEDS - EHERNE
W ENEENREE BN R FEET T R

We assessed the reasonableness of methods and
assumptions applied to the provisions by challenging
management'’s future sales projection, estimated future
selling prices and selling expenses, with reference to
approved budget developed based on historical data and
actual sales subsequent to the year end;
BMBRBEREBENARREETRD - RREEEKRM
HEBRNMG  2ERBELEHF CNRELRR
NFEEBRRNEBEREE  AEEBTENMRENAE
M

We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation

of the provision for inventories; and

BfeE T EEREEGETEEENE © &

We observed the physical condition of inventories during
stocktake to identify if any inventories were damaged,
or obsolete and inquired management if appropriate
inventories provision has been made.
BMAEFEREHESE T EENIERR - UHEERF
HeAHREERRE  TAREEEEECFHEER
TF SR EZER -

inventories were supported by the evidence we gathered.

BMRA BEEEEREFEREEREFRANRRKMER

E BN B R AT o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in 2024 annual
report of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Annual Report”)
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. We have obtained some of the other information including the
Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report.
The remaining other information, including the Financial Summary, Report of
Directors, Chairman’s Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management, Environmental, Social and Governance

Report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the Annual
Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and take

appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

POP MART
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or

error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

ARSI POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B354 BB S BA R A A
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Choi Ming Yan Brian.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaREMAEEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥T T AR®EFTT
Revenue Yz 6 13,037,749 6,301,002
Cost of sales FHE AR (4,329,984) (2,436,931)
Gross profit EF 8,707,765 3,864,071
Distribution and selling expenses KSE R SHERISZ 7 (3,650,464) (2,004,706)
General and administrative expenses — R R AT (947,093) (707,300)
Provision for impairment losses TREERBEBERE
on financial assets (3,446) (745)
Other income HAWA 84,288 74,900
Other (losses)/gains — net Hith (F18), Mz — F8E (36,778) 4,426
Operating profit R 4,154,272 1,230,646
Finance income BRI 10 212,335 184,217
Finance expenses BRI 10 (48,983) (32,337)
Finance income - net B — 558 10 163,352 151,880
Share of profit of investments accounted DEEAEREARNRERT
for using the equity method 18 48,188 33,229
Profit before income tax RR FRT 18 56 A& F 4,365,812 1,415,755
Income tax expense i 11 (1,057,467) (326,984)
Profit for the year FRER 3,308,345 1,088,771
Profit attributable to: T EMGRER
- Owners of the Company — KRR EEEA 3,125,473 1,082,344
- Non-controlling interests — FEE RS 182,872 6,427
3,308,345 1,088,771
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melREkEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaE ARBT AEBTT
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 mE s
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss FIREE# P A= B2 AI7E B
— Currency translation differences - EnE R 25,837 3,962
ltems that will not be reclassified to BAgEFHEEBEEZHNIEE
profit or loss
— Currency translation differences - EBnE e 126,314 71,144
Other comprehensive income for the year, FREMEEKE - BFE
net of tax 152,151 75,106
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2HEKFZHETE 3,460,496 1,163,877
Total comprehensive income for the year U TEMERNZHEUZEEE !
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — RARHEA 3,269,817 1,157,468
- Non-controlling interests — JEFERS R 2 190,679 6,409
3,460,496 1,163,877
Earnings per share for profit attributable A TEE ABEERNSREF
to owners of the Company
— Basic (expressed in RMB per share) —EX(UAFRAREITERT) 13 2.36 0.81
- Diluted (expressed in RMB per share) — B (AERAREITER) 13 2.35 0.81

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

PAE#R A B N H b 2 1 8 o 3K 7 B PR Y R

o

—GEE
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

REBEERER

As at 31 December

®W12831H
2024 2023
2024 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MtaE AR¥T T ARBETTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB LG 14 739,378 653,278
Intangible assets mEE 15 135,400 115,888
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 927,558 726,053
Investments accounted for using the FREREARNEE
equity method 18 136,783 107,001
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABENEREE
profit or loss 23 411,880 471,769
Prepayments and other receivables TE A5 FRIE Fo E A pE K8 21 136,563 127,989
Deferred income tax assets BEAMSTHEE 19 147,029 83,416
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 2,634,591 2,285,394
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables g 5 W GRIA 20 477,723 321,337
Inventories rE 22 1,524,521 904,708
Prepayments and other receivables T8 A5 FRIE fo H A FE R IE 21 576,594 467,561
Financial assets at fair value through RATEFABENEREE
profit or loss 23 11,434 8,415
Restricted cash XRHRE 24 25,649 18,159
Term deposits with initial term over MEEH=EANER
three months and within one year —FEARBTEEFR 24 3,511,143 3,885,362
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEEY 24 6,109,017 2,077,927
Total current assets BREBEE 12,236,081 7,683,469
Total assets mEE 14,870,672 9,968,863
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
MtaE AR®T AREFT
Equity fEm
Share capital [N 25 882 885
Shares held for share award scheme BLRR D SR EDET £ A MR (D 26 (9) (12)
Other reserves Ebf# & 27 4,280,527 4,438,448
Retained earnings REBAF 6,402,105 3,330,606
Equity attributable to owners AAREE AELER
of the Company 10,683,505 7,769,927
Non-controlling interests in equity R R 201,134 10,455
Total equity BRER 10,884,639 7,780,382
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
License fees payables [EfTRIEE 30 14,536 14,807
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 601,469 425,954
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEAMSTHAE 19 = 14,419
Total non-current liabilities HWERBER 616,005 455,180
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables S ENRIE 29 1,010,109 444,944
License fees payables JEf RS 30 341,835 179,393
Other payables H A S 5/IA 37 904,274 514,841
Contract liabilities AHEE 32 188,577 112,143
Borrowing B 34(c) = 15,058
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 363,092 351,799
Current income tax liabilities BVERFRE B R 562,141 115,123
Total current liabilities BREBEME 3,370,028 1,733,301
Total liabilities BmEeE 3,986,033 2,188,481
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 14,870,672 9,968,863
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 188 to 334 were approved

by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and were signed on its behalf by:

A bR BER BREEBEMNE—H5E -

F188E R FEI4EMERE M EHREN 202563 A
2oAEEEeHE W TNIESRERZE

Mr. Wang Ning Mr. Si De
ITEELE AERE

Executive Director & Chairman Executive Director
HITEFENEE WITES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
eSS ER

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARHE AEL
Shares held
for share Non-
Share award Other  Retained controlling
capital scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
ARORE
STEBEN
e Ry  HfbRE  REEF Mt FERER ait
(Note25)  (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Watas)  (Wa2e)  (W&27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fiiz | AE¥Tr ARETR AR®Trn AR%TR AR%TR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2024 R202451 A1 BHVEEER 885 (12) 4438448 3,330,606 7,769,927 10,455 7,780,382
Comprehensive income 2HEkE
Profit for the year ERER - - - 3125473 3,125473 182,872 3,308,345
Other comprehensive income Hit2EbE
Currency translation difference EHBEETE - - 144,344 - 144,344 7,807 152,151
Total comprehensive income 2ENELE S S 144344 3125473 3,269,817 190,679 3,460,496
Transaction with owners BEBANRS
Purchase of own shares EE=ES ) 2527 - - (78,031) - (78,031) - (78,031)
Cancellation of shares FHERG 25207 3) = 3 = > > =
Appropriation to statutory reserves  BEAATE R = = 53,974 (53,974) = = -
Dividends declared ERARE = - (373,025) - (373,025) - (373,025)
Share vested under the share award ~ IRIERR (7 2B T 2R BRI R (D
scheme 28 - 3 (3) - - - -
Share-based compensation expenses  ARR(A BEERENF % 28 - - 94,817 - 94,817 = 94,817
Total transaction with owners ERAEANRZ AT 3 3 (302265  (53974)  (356,239) - (356,239)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R2024512 831 BI& S 882 (9 4280527 6,402,105 10,683,505 201,134 10,884,639
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREHR
Attributable to owners of the Company
NS TN
Shares held
for share Non-
Share award Other Retained controlling
capital scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
SR RE
sHElEER
jig Ry EtEE  REEN NE SRR At
(Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Fsras)  (Biske)  (WEE27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mg ARETR ARBTRT ARMTR ARBTRT ARMTR ARBTT AR%TR
Balance at 1 January 2023 B03F1R1ANER 908 (14) 4,693,043 2,269,351 6,963,288 2,037 6,965,325
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit for the year EREF - - - 1082344 1,082,344 6427 1088771
Other comprehensive income Hit2EbE
Currency translation difference SUHREEE - - 75,124 - 75,124 (18) 75,106
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - 75124 1082344 1157468 6400 1,163877
Transaction with owners BEBANRS
Purchase of own shares BB FRH 2527 - - (333,709) - (333,709) - (333,709)
Cancellation of shares FHERG 2527 ) - 23 - - - -
Non-controlling interests arising MK RYERRBAREL
on newly established and HIEERER
acquired subsidiaries - - - - - 5271 5271
Acquisition of non-controlling WEE— BN R AR
interests on a subsidiary - - (1551) - (1,551) (3262) (4813)
Appropriation to statutory reserves B AETE G - - 21,089 (21,089) - - -
Dividends declared ERARE - - (7319) - (17319) - (m7317)
Share vested under the share RERHEE 2GR
award scheme 2K 28 - 2 2 - - - -
Share-based compensation expenses  BARR{D BEREHIREIF 28 - - 101,748 - 101,748 - 101,748
Total transaction with owners BEBANRSEER (23) 2 (329,719) (21,089)  (350,829) 2,009 (348,820)
Balance at 31 December 2023 202351231 BV EERR 885 (12 4438448 3,330,606 7,769,927 10455 7,780,382

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT T AERBTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELENRESRE
Cash generated from operations KEMBFRS 34(a) 5,415,453 2,143,208
Interest received 2HFIE 227,247 109,457
Income tax paid ERATEH (688,480) (262,069)
Net cash generated from RETHMEBRS TR
operating activities 4,954,220 1,990,596
Cash flows from investing activities REZBEENESRE
Increase in financial assets at fair value through &2 A F AT AEZER
profit or loss DRLEEE N 3.3(a) (4,351,977) (812,601)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BWENMEE (372,668) (324,179)
Purchases of intangible assets HBEREEE (144,022) (68,287)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair & & #Z A FET ABZEH
value through profit or loss ERMEEMBHA 3.3(a) 4,386,142 810,236
Dividends received from joint ventures and an W Z|& &1 K& —RE B &
associate RNEIRE 18,001 8,860
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEWME - BRE &EE -
equipment, intangible assets B EEMBRHIA 34(b) 5,424 866
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired UWEEHIEB AR - HRUIER S - 6,491
Placement of term deposits with initial terms — FAXZ AH=@E AN &
over three months and within one year —F AR EBIFER (4,945,685) (8,528,257)
Redemption of term deposits with initial terms  FEEI ¥ AR =188 A L&
over three months and within one year —FANKE TR 5,413,742 9,140,811
Net cash generated from investing activities REFEELBR S FH 8,957 233,940
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaE ARBT AEBTT
Cash flows from financing activities MEIBEENESRE
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENK 16,34(c) (505,104) (384,999)
Repayment of borrowing BEER 34(c) (15,058) -
Dividends paid BERRE 34(c) (378,015) (121,609)
Payments for purchase of own shares EEE B & R 25 (78,031) (333,709)
Advance received from non-controlling interest st/ & —FEE A M B A A
in relation to capital injection in a non- ) FE128 A AR 2o USCHR A 24 5K
wholly owned subsidiary 17(a)(iv) 17,705 -
Consideration paid in relation to acquisition of it Ui — IR 8 & =) FEFE %
non-controlling interests on a subsidiary TR E = (4,813)
Capital injection from non-controlling interests 345 B 8 25 B $TAK 32
on a newly established subsidiary MEAREE - 3,573
Net cash used in financing activities RMEEE AR FE (958,503) (841,557)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RE&ERBESEFEYIEINFEE 4,004,674 1,382,979
Cash and cash equivalents at FONERERELEEY
beginning of the year 2,077,927 685,314
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalent  IR& RIRESEEYAE KK 26,416 9,634
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRNESRRESEEY
of the year 6,109,017 2,077,927

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the "Group”) are principally engaged in the
product design and development and sale of pop toys in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") and certain overseas countries and regions.
The ultimate holding company of the Company is GWF Holding Limited
(formerly known as Grant Wang Holding Limited), which is controlled by

Mr. Wang Ning and his spouse, Ms. Yang Tao.

On 11 December 2020, the Company has successfully listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

("RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

—REH

AEBHFEREEEGRAR ([ARAE )R
20195 HORRBEMSHBRANEE2NE
(1961 FFE35RED - K556 RIERT) FEH
EREFMAIRERREERAAF - AR
Al EE AL AP.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman

Islands °

KRR RBEEERAT c R REKE
ANEl (I AEE]) Z2RPEAR KN
(TE ) RETEINER Kb @ A % 3
MITEREmRTEFAZEREE - AR T
KB ARIE PR A Bl AGWF Holding Limited (BT
T4 AGrant Wang Holding Limited) » ®3 £ %
S REBBH R LTIE o

R2020F12 8118 » RRARKNER B
AERGIERAR ([BRZFT]) ERET ©
BRIEREHRE > TRHRGAETBERERUAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have

been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless otherwise

stated.

The consolidated financial statements are for the Group

consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

(i)

(ii)

POP MART

Compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622. IFRS Accounting Standards

comprise the following authoritative literature:
IFRS Accounting Standards,
IAS Standards, and

Interpretations developed by the IFRS Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC Interpretations) or its predecessor
body, the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC

Interpretations).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

which are carried at fair value.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 BHBEBE®)
20 BAEHBEME (&)

(a) HREEZE (&)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended standards for

the first time for the annual reporting period commencing 1

(iii) REBERAAIAENEET R

AREEP 202451 A1 BFEBNE
EREHMEEXER TSR] &

January 2024: Al

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BRest AR BESERTE
Current or Non-current F1RIERT LI E)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BRest 4R W HERZERIETE B E

Covenants

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 7

and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The amended standards listed above did not have any material
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not

expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

(iv) New and amended standards and annual improvements

not yet adopted

The following new and amended accounting standards and
annual improvements have been published which are not
mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting period and have

not been early adopted by the Group:

E1SRIERT
BIRR B 5 H R 22 B
FE6RETE
B S ERE7 RN HEFHE L
B A 7 5 22 R
E7IRIERT

EROHFHERE

AR (ST RSB ¢ HRI R R
SHYMAMPE  BHATGYE
MR REEEEEARE -

(iv) [2f 7R BR A0 19 37 5] R AE 15 5T &
B R FEH#E
AT ET RS RT & 5 2RI A e 57
FEER2024F 12 A31 B 23
HAA B MBI IR $IETT - B
REAEEIR RN :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New and amended standards and annual improvements

POP MART

not yet adopted (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability
B & A RIS 21 5RIER] — SR AT Lt
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 -Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
BB B T 5 MR R 3R O 5% SR BB B FS s 5 R BIE 7 518 7T —
TRIADERGENERT
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11
BRI BRE G ERNFELE - B8
IFRS 18, ‘Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’
BURR B s R S YRS 1855 [ I TS Sk ) 2 51 R B2
IFRS 19, ‘Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures’
BIFR s dR S HE RS 1957 [ FERA K ZFEE (M B A A8 4K%EE

These new and amended accounting standards and annual
improvements are not expected to have a material impact
on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and
on foreseeable future transactions, except that the adoption
of IFRS 18 upon its effective date is expected to have certain
pervasive impact on the presentation and disclosures of the

Group's financial statements as described below.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)
(a) RBIELE ()

(iv) 18] 2K ER A 19 37 5T R AZ 15 5T 28
RIL R FERE (#)

Effective date
HEHE

I January 2025
20251 A1H
1 January 2026

20261 H1H
I January 2026

2026F 1 A1H
1 January 2027
20271 H1H
1 January 2027

20271 H1H

A EHR] RARIER] G5t R R F EUCE TR T
EHAKEERIRRNREHNEARTER
ARNZZELERTE  HERERB RS
BRI B EERI B 18RRI A S AR E Y
BHRENZIIRFEBEELETXMANETER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)
RBIELE (4%)

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New and amended standards and annual improvements

not yet adopted (continued)

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements,
introducing new requirements that will help to achieve
comparability of the financial performance of similar entities
and provide more relevant information and transparency to
users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the financial statements, its impacts
on presentation and disclosure are expected to be pervasive,
in particular those related to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and providing
management-defined performance measures within the

financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the detailed implications
of applying the new standard on the Group's consolidated
financial statements. From the high-level preliminary
assessment performed, the following potential impacts have
been identified:

Although the adoption of IFRS 18 will have no impact on
the Group's net profit, the Group expects that grouping
items of income and expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income into the new categories will impact how operating
profit is calculated and reported. From the high-level
impact assessment that the Group has performed, the

following items might potentially impact operating profit:

o Certain items (e.g. change in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss) currently
aggregated in the line item “other (losses)/gains —
net” in operating profit need to be presented below

operating profit.

(iv) 5] R BR A B9 #F 5T R AE M5 5T 2

RIL R FERE (#)

B PR B 7S S A RIS 18 SR A AR
BB &t R SR B R A A2
2l BIAFTIRE AR B IR fA T A
E’ﬁ?fﬁi’%ﬁﬂtb’l&&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%}%ﬁ
EZEEENRERE - BEER
E!?M%#&%ﬁﬁ”%mfﬁﬂT\%%’
BRI B MRS E - B8
HHELTRYEZY REE - LE
EHGEERREMPERGRRE
BT L UREMBREEER
RHEEEATHNERGE -

%ﬂ% B A IE RV FE R AT R E A

BIRaPBREANARYE - R
T)%%ﬂiﬂ’]?‘%"ﬁ‘;uﬁﬁ F EREEA B
HRE

BE RN BRI S R E
18577 S 7N 5% [ 1% R O
2 EXREERRKRAERE
KEMEER SRR BA R
XX IAB IR BT E
BB MEEE RRE - RIR
REBEITNEBYEFG -
UTHEBAREFELEE
A

o BHRIAFREE ﬁnﬂ
[Efn (E518), /i —
BIETHWETHERB (H
RN FEFARENES
BEENQVEZS) A
EREENAL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2 S BEBE @)

21 EREHBEME (8)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) WMBEE (&)

(iv) 12 7K BR AN 19 37 5] R A 15 5T 2

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(iv) New and amended standards and annual improvements

not yet adopted (continued) B R FEENE (&)

o Foreign exchange differences currently aggregated in o BAEIAFREE R ﬂ
the line item “other (losses)/gains — net” in operating [Hth (F1E), e —
profit might need to be disaggregated, with some 7 | IETE’\JEE%%EQZ&E
foreign exchange gains or losses presented in DI B HMNE W S
operating profit and the remaining presented below BHERAEERFN T2
operating profit. HI - WER T BB &

Z T2 -

The line items presented on the primary financial - FEMBHRXELEHRHIER

statements might change as a result of the application AgeeRERATERE&EER

of the concept of “useful structured summary” and the Z A RAEF RO IFRAIN

enhanced principles on aggregation and disaggregation. SR IR o A - B

B AREEEAGBRDERT
T 7SR A R B R A,
BVEESRH WEEEAR
present them separately in the balance sheet. RPEFE -

In addition, since goodwill will be required to be
separately presented in the balance sheet, the Group will

disaggregate goodwill and other intangible assets and

The Group does not expect there to be a significant
change in the information that is currently disclosed in
the notes because the requirement to disclose material
information remains unchanged; however, the way in
which the information is grouped might change as a result
of the enhanced aggregation/disaggregation principles. In
addition, there will be significant new disclosures required

for:

o management-defined performance measures (non-
IFRS adjusted net profit);

o  a break-down of the nature of expenses for line items
presented by function in the operating category of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income - this break-down is only

required for certain nature expenses; and

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

RN IREERE R MR E
N AREETEH B AT
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New and amended standards and annual improvements
not yet adopted (continued)

o for the first annual period of application of IFRS 18,
a reconciliation for each line item in the statement
of consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income between the restated
amounts presented by applying IFRS 18 and the

amounts previously presented applying IAS 1.

From a cash flow statement perspective, there will be
changes to how interest received and interest paid are
presented. Interest received will be presented as investing
cash flows, which is a change from current presentation as

part of operating cash flows.

The Group will apply the new standard from its mandatory
effective date of 1 January 2027. Retrospective application is
required, and so the comparative information for the financial
year ending 31 December 2026 will be restated in accordance
with IFRS 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i) Subsidiaries

POP MART

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power to direct the activities
of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are

deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit of loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated

balance sheet respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

b) FERBREZETFTEERE
(&)

K18 2 5] (#)

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

Subsidiary controlled through contractual arrangements

There is an entity controlled by the Group under contractual
arrangements. The Group does not have legal ownership in
equity of the structured entity. Nevertheless, under Contractual
Arrangement entered into with the registered shareholders of
the structured entity, the Company, through one of its legally
owned subsidiaries, controlled the structured entity by way
of controlling the voting rights, governing its financial and
operating policies, appointing or removing the majority of
members of its controlling authority, and casting the majority
of votes at meetings of such authority. Accordingly, the Group
has rights to exercise power over the structured entity, receives
variable returns from involvement in the structured entity. As
a result, it is presented as a controlled structured entity of the

Group.

(ii) Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure
of the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature
of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint

ventures.

(i) Subsidiaries (continued) (i)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(ii) Joint arrangements (continued)

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method (see (iv) below), after initially being recognised at cost

in the consolidated balance sheet.

(iii) Associates

POP MART

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the

voting rights.

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iv)

below), after initially being recognised at cost.

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares with

preferential rights or convertible redeemable preferred shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares
with preferential rights or convertible redeemable preferred
shares are accounted as financial assets measured at fair value

through profit or loss (Note 2.1(f) and Note 23).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting ) mERBRESR
(continued) (%)

(iv) #Em %

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

2t EERE

(iv) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from
joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying

amount of the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred

obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures and associates are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested
for impairment in accordance with the policy described in
Note 2.1(e).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(v) Changes in ownership interests

POP MART

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate

reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRS Accounting
Standards.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to

profit or loss where appropriate.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
("the functional currency”). The Company'’s functional currency
is United States Dollars ("USD"). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
the Company’s and the Group's presentation currency. The
Company's primary subsidiaries are incorporated in the
mainland of the PRC (“Mainland China") and these subsidiaries
consider RMB as their functional currency. Some subsidiaries
may have other currency as their functional currency, such as
USD, Hong Kong Dollars ("HKD"), Singapore Dollar ("SGD"), Thai
Baht (“THB"), South Korean Won ("KRW"), Macao Pataca (“MOP"),
Indonesian Rupiah (“IDR"), Australian Dollar ("AUD"), New
Taiwan Dollar (“TWD"), Great Britain Pounds (‘GBP"), Japanese
Yen ("JPY") and Euro ("EUR).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment
hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a

foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income within “finance income -
net”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income within “other (losses)/gains — net’.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or

loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.

(iii) Group companies

POP MART

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as

follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance

sheet

income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

2 BEBERE @)

21 BERE

sTBURBLE (4)

) INBSIRE (%)
(”) x%&/nﬂ 75 (,‘A‘E)

(iii)

LASNES BB AR A

UIEE  RBETAFEERAZ
ERBRE - RATEINENEER
BEZHREZEERANTERSE
lE Bz —E D - BlmIEEBIEE
ERAE(WERTFEFABZER
CRMEE)MREZEEBETE
RAENFERZREEBH IS

FEABZHE

- AT

UL eI RN
BB BEREZEH)H
FERFBRIIEAT A RE S
2E%

REERBRMEVICEENRERE
REEANEMETSRE

EREkEMEARERZBAR
xR FHERGRE (BRIFLLEE
WIEZERHBRBEAEE R
EHABEAE - TRIWARBZ
MRS ABBRE) &

EER A E R Z5E R
WS R TER o



2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or

loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the

foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

(d) Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 39(0). Goodwill
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of

goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those
cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units
that are expected to benefit from the business combination
in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for

internal management purposes, being the operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(i) Software

Acquired software are capitalised on the basis of the costs

incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

(iii) Intellectual property rights (“IP Rights”)

Acquired IP rights are capitalised on the basis of the costs
incurred to acquire. They have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Variable payments in relation to purchase of
IP rights that depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which the condition that triggers those payments

occurs.

(iv) Licensed intellectual properties (“Licensed IPs”)

POP MART

The historical costs of licensed IP rights are measured at the
present values of the fixed minimum payments at the date of
purchase of the respective license rights. License rights are
stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Variable payments in relation
to license rights that depend on sales are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those

payments occurs.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(d) Intangible assets (continued)
(v) Research and development costs

Research cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. Development cost is capitalised only if all

of the following conditions are satisfied:

it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it

will be available for use

management intends to complete the software and use or

sell it
there is an ability to use or sell the software

it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits

adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the software

are available, and

the expenditure attributable to the software during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development costs that do not meet those criteria are

expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (continued)

(vi) Amortisation methods and periods

POP MART

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life

using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Software 5 years
IP rights 10 years
Licensed IPs 2-10 years

The Group estimates the useful life of the IP rights and
Licensed IPs based on the estimated period during which
such assets can bring economic benefit to the Group. The
Group estimates the expected lifecycle of major IPs will be
more than 10 years. Among the rights relating to each of the
acquired IP rights, trademark has a term of validity of 10 years
and is subject to renewal after its expiration, and patents for
each IP are valid for 10 years from the date of application. For
acquired IP rights, the useful lives are determined based on the
shorter of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and 10 years, being
the term of validity of the major rights of the IP rights. For
licensed IPs, the useful lives are determined based on shorter
of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and contractual term of the

respective license agreements (Note 4(b)).
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(e) Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting

period.

Investments and other financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), or through

profit or loss), and

those to be measured at amortised cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

() Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

POP MART

Classification (continued)

The classification depends on the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCl. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment

at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only when

its business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BFEE#SME @
2.1 ERETTHEME (&)
(f) Investments and other financial assets (continued) (f REREMERERE (&)

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(iii) Measurement (iii) 512

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss (“FVPL") are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are

solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement

categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument
that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and
is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised
or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in interest income using the effective interest
rate method. Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(f) Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(iii) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

2 BHBEBE®)
210 EREHHERE (&)

() RERHEMEMEE (&)

(i) 5TE (%)

EBTA (&)

POP MART

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in “other (losses)/gains — net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in “other (losses)/
gains — net’, and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(iii) Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or financial assets at FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and is not part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net in
the consolidated statement of profit of loss and other
comprehensive income within “other (losses)/gains — net”

in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as ‘other (losses)/gains — net” when the Group's right to
receive payments is established. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other

changes in fair value.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “other (losses)/gains - net” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(f)

(9)

POP MART

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends

on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for details.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. Costs of
purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and
discounts. It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to

make the sale.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as

non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently

at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(h) Trade receivables (continued)

Details about the Group’s impairment policies and the calculation

of the loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1(b).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the Group has received
considerations from the customers before the control of the goods

transferred or the services rendered.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable
on the current period’s taxable income, based on the applicable
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary

differences and to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to

the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(j) Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax

POP MART

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those

temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(j) Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(ii) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity, respectively.

(k) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable, and represents amounts receivables for goods
supplied or serviced provided, stated net of discounts and the

relevant value added taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(ii)

POP MART

Sale of goods - retail store sales and roboshop sales

The Group operates a chain of retail stores and roboshop
machines for selling pop toys. Revenue from sales of goods are
recognised when the control of the product has transferred to
the customer. There was no right of return for the sales to the
end customer. Retail sales are usually settled in cash, by credit/

debit cards or through online payment platforms.

Sale of goods - online sales

Pop toys are also sold through self-operated online platforms
or other third-party e-commercial platforms and revenue is
recognised when the control of the products has transferred
to the customer, which is the point of acceptance by the
customers. Revenue from these sales are recognised based
on the price, net of the estimated sales discounts at the
time of sale. Transactions are settled by credit/debit cards or
through online payment platforms. The commissions to the
third party e-commercial platforms are incremental costs to
obtain contracts. The Group applies the practical expedient
to expense the commissions as incurred as the expected

amortisation period is one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 S BEBE @)
21 BEREHBERE (#)
(k) WHER ()
(i) BB — &P B EE

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) Sale of goods — customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail and
online customers accumulate award points for purchases made
which entitle them to discounts on future purchases. The
Group accounts for award points as a separate performance
obligation of the sales transactions in which they are granted
(the “initial sale”). The fair value of the consideration received
or receivable in respect of the initial sale is allocated between
the award points (based on the stand-alone selling price
considering breakage), which is credited to contract liabilities,
and the products sold. Revenue from the award points is
recognised when they are redeemed or expired. During the
years ended 2024 and 2023, the majority of award points
expire within no more than 12 months following the initial

sales occur.

(iv) Sales of goods — wholesale

Sales are recognised when control of the goods has transferred.
Control is considered to be transferred at the point in time
when the products have been delivered to the wholesaler, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the wholesaler's acceptance of the products. Delivery
has occurred when the products have been shipped to the
specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the wholesaler, and the wholesaler has accepted

the goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iv) Sales of goods — wholesale (continued)

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered,
since this is the point in time when the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is required

before the payment is due.

(v) Revenue from others

Revenue from others mainly arises from sales of goods and
provision of services in the amusement park operated by the
Group and at the conventions hosted by the Group. For sales of
goods, revenue is recognised when the control of the products
has transferred to the customer, see Note 2.1(k)(i) above. For
provision of services, including tickets sold and other services,
revenue is recognised when the relevant services are rendered
and the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the

benefits provided by the Group.

() Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding

liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by

the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The

Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and

non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it

has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and

instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

POP MART
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

()

Leases (continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not

be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of

the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less

any lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease

term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

()

POP MART

Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension

options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which

does not have recent third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,

currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in
the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is

reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
() Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases

are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

(i) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that
are linked to sales generated from a store. For certain stores
including fixed and variable rental payment terms, the
lease payments are on the basis of variable payment terms
with percentages ranging from 9% to 18% of sales. Variable
payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including
minimising the fixed costs base for newly established stores.
Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers

those payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

(m) Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees
via the Post-IPO share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”).
Information relating to the scheme is set out in Note 28. The fair
value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the
restricted shares is recognised as an expense. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
restricted shares granted as at grant date, excluding the impacts
of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions,
when applicable. The total amount expensed is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified

vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income with a

corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium (included in other reserves in the consolidated balance

sheet) when the shares are vested.
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2

SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Other accounting policies

Besides the material accounting policies as described above, the Group
has also adopted other accounting policies in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. See Note 39 for the summary of other

accounting policies.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risks
(including foreign exchange risks and cash flow/fair value interest rate
risks), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
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performance. REBEETFFERERIEK -
Risk Exposure arising from Measurement
[ B [ELBR i O A A SRR
Market risk — foreign Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency Cash flow forecasting;
exchange different from its functional currency. Sensitivity analysis
M5 Rk — JME NEED e B TR ENEREERBE - RemETRA - GURIMEDHT
Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, term deposits, financial Aging analysis;
assets at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables. Credit ratings;
Diversification of
investments in
financial assets at FVPL
ZERR ReRRSEBEY  IRHRE  EBHFER  RATEFA  REIT - EETHR
BENSREE - 85 RWHIE K EKFIE - BATEFTABRZD
TREEREZ T
Liquidity risk Financial liabilities Rolling cash flow forecasts
MENE S AR EAH=NE BRI B E TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(@) Market risk (a) TiZEkE
(i) Foreign exchange risk (i) SPE R fz
The transactions of the Company are denominated and RRABINR G A EEE T2
settled in its functional currency, USD. The Group's subsidiaries REEE - REBEMMBARES
operate in Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and wit - B B - 2 RFINA
overseas, and they are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising RBREY HBRTAEE(XEAE
from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to USD TCRIETL) BONE R R o Bt - A
and HKD. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from ERfEEEREREEEFBEANM
recognised assets and liabilities in the Group's subsidiaries in BB A RIEERE  RFT - &8
Mainland China when receiving or to receive foreign currencies N 58 FUEN S B NS
from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies to counter parties XA RETINERFFTERNE E
in Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas, and recognised FEBGE URAEEHESRE R
assets and liabilities in the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong, F9 - B RBINOIE AT E
Macao, Taiwan and overseas when receiving or to receive Wi s B AR R BRI S
foreign currencies from, or paying or to pay foreign currencies HFWE S ZWOMNE - T Tk(E
to counter parties in Mainland China or other different regions RONER IR EERBE « &
or countries. The Group did not enter into any forward contract F024F N 2023F 12 A31 B IEF
to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk for the years B AEESE I AWEREDN
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. VAT B AN @ g A o
Exposure [ fx s 2
The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk as 31 December REER 2024 202312 A31
2024 and 2023, expressed in RMB was as follows: A sNE RO (LAA R TS
T
31 December 2024
2024%12A31H
uUsD HKD SGD EUR
E Y7 BT g T BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®BTR AR®BTR AR®TR
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 115,882 11,398 12,049 29,776
Financial assets at fair value BRATER AERD
through profit or loss CREE = 11,434 = =
License fees payables RS (25,811) (9,436) = (65)

POP MART
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Exposure (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 MEBREE (&)
(a) TR (4)

() SMNERBR (%)

RR\Bai O (42 )

31 December 2023
2023128318

usb HKD SGD EUR

ET BT ANIlIE BT

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 101,812 4,866 - 6,961
Financial assets at fair value BATER AR

through profit or loss TREE - 8,415 - -

License fees payables ERREE (33,425) (45,390) - (125)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)

3 BEREE 2
3.0 BIREBEZ (&)
(a) TIERMR ()

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i) SMEREFE (&)
Sensitivity BRRE
As shown in the table below, the Group is primarily exposed IR AEBFTEEBRET
to changes in USD/RMB, HKD/RMB, SGD/RMB and EUR/RMB HARKEXR BT ARKEE
exchange rates. & FnE T H A R E R R BT
HARMERES) o
Impact on post tax profit
HBRHERFNE
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HLEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTTT
USD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% ETHAANREER — EF10% 6,755 5,129
USD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% &0 H ARBIER — TE10% (6,755) (5,129)
HKD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% BILHAREER — FF10% 1,005 (2,408)
HKD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% /B0 H ARKIER — TFE10% (1,005) 2,408
SGD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% T H ARMESE — EF10% 904 -
SGD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% T AR EEER — REE10% (904) -
EUR/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% BT H ARBESR — EF10% 2,228 513
EUR/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% BT AREER — TFE10% (2,228) (513)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (i) BE7ER N -FEFRE R

POP MART

Financial assets and liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest-rate risk while financial assets and liabilities
at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate

risk.

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates as the Group
has no material assets/liabilities bearing significant interest.
The Group currently does not hedge its exposure to interest

rate risk.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalent, restricted cash,

term deposits, financial assets at FVPL as well as credit exposures

to wholesale and retail customers including outstanding trade and

other receivables.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis. For trade receivables,
each local entity is responsible for managing and analysing
the credit risk for each of their new clients before standard
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered.
The Group's credit sales are only made to customers with
appropriate credit history. The Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk. The carrying amounts of cash and
bank balances, restricted cash, term deposits, financial assets
at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assefts.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, substantially all of the
bank deposits are deposited in or managed by state-owned
or reputable domestic and international commercial banks
which are all high-credit-quality financial institutions without

significant credit risk.

For retail and online sales, trade receivables mainly include
credit card receivables and receivables from third-party
payment platforms. The management of the Group believes
the credit risk is limited because the deposits in transit was
held by high-credit-quality financial institutions or other third
parties. There has been no recent history of default in relation
to these financial institutions and third parties, the credit risk

inherent in such trade receivables is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

POP MART

Risk management (continued)

For trade receivables due from wholesalers, the management
assesses the credit risk quality of the wholesalers based on
their financial positions, past experience, expected loss rates
based on the payment profiles of sales and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure credit terms are granted
to reliable wholesalers. The Group's historical experience in
collection of receivables falls within recorded allowances and
the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for

uncollectible receivables has been made.

The Group is also exposed to credit risk in relation to financial
assets measured at FVPL. The maximum exposure at the
end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of these

investments as set out in Note 23.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to
the expected credit loss model.
trade receivables, and

other receivables

While cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and term
deposits with initial term over three months and within one
year are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9,

the identified impairment losses were immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)

(b) EERMR (#&)
(i) EMEERE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all account receivables. To measure the expected
credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of
sales over a period of twelve months and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors

affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and

2023 was determined as follows for trade receivables:

B 5 WA

AEBERABERMBEHREELF
SV DE ERIMEERE
& IEE TR R WRR S E R 2 IR
HIEERRE - AT ERRERES
1B EZREFRE RIBEXRNE
ERBEHaRBETAA -

TEHIE IR R AN+ — (B AR N
B 4 5 15 SR 0 LA B 7% HA R A B9 48
RESEREBEEMGL - BLER
REELHE  URRBEHETER
FHEERYIAE NN RBEER
EME R RATEILER

FHER L ZUTHEBETES
JEUFRTB R 2024 F N 2023F 12 A

31 AR EIR R

31 December 2024 2024%12H31H

Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days 91-180 days 180 days Total

REBEERE 0Z90Xk 91Z180Xk 180KM L et
Lifetime expected credit FHIFEHEEEEX

loss rate 0.79% 8.97% 100.00% 1.83%

Gross carrying amount HARTEE 472,557 9,752 4,329 486,638

Loss allowance R (3,711) (875) (4,329) (8,915)

468,846 8,877 = 477,723
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BmERMET
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIEKRREE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) E 2 EWGRIE (F)
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H
Over
Provision on collective basis 0-90 days  91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0F90K  91E180K  180KRMLE #aEt
Lifetime expected credit FHIFEHIEEEEXR
loss rate 0.48% 9.41% 100.00% 2.23%
Gross carrying amount HARTEE 311,485 12,523 4,648 328,656
Loss allowance R (1,493) (1,178) (4,648) (7,319)
309,992 11,345 - 321,337
Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable B 5 FE W FRIE PN A A 12 U B TE HA RS o IF
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable EEBWEBHNDREE (KR EHE) EBA
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of REEEAREEERENEE - URRBRBER
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and 180 A K HARE AR BEVEH & KU 3K ©
a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater
than 180 days past due.
Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as B REWFIEN R EREBELE RN AT AR
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent BEEEFE - BrRWE A EAMESET AR

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited —I8H -

against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N L
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Other receivables o fth & YR 1E
Other receivables mainly include deposits for lease. The HtEWHEEZREHEERS -
management of the Group makes periodic collective AEFERETHRBERELEED
assessments as well as individual assessment on the 8 N2 1T A GRS H A FEUGRIB RO AT
recoverability of other receivables based on historical U o] 14 3 77 8 — &1 1 LA K2 {R 51 5F
settlement records and past experiences. The Group measures e AEEFREAOBE([EL
credit risk using Probability of Default (“PD"), Exposure at W] BAORR#H O ([ELHE
Default ("EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD”"). This is similar gk 0 ) RERBAE ([ENIE
to the approach used for the purposes of measuring expected KEDT2EERR - EHBERE
credit loss under IFRS 9. B S R E oK IE N 5T =78 5

EEBEMAITEERMU -

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial - UATERFREAEERED
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1’ and have their credit HMEWRRIBE DA BER
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected VJEASESRHERZEE
credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis. ERk - HAMEEEER 2

FESS S

If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when - MR R fﬁ?‘fﬁﬂégﬁt
the debtor is more than 1 day past due on its contractual mABEMN(EENS - ER
payments) since initial recognition is identified, the BARE DR @HH AP
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet B eRMIEWBE[RE
deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss is 2] BMRWRAREEEREE
measured on lifetime basis. BE - HEEEEEREET

BHEETE o

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, - MemMIAZAEEERE(A
when the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its BmE  2EBANEHMNK
contractual payments), the financial instrument is then BHEo0ORIA L) - Alem T A
moved to ‘Stage 3". The expected credit loss is measured WHRE[RE3] - BEEEE
on lifetime basis. BREEFEREENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABBRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

In view of the history of cooperation with the debtors and
collection from them, the management of the Group believes
that all of the Group's other receivables are classified in Stage 1
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, and the credit risk inherent
in the Group's outstanding other receivables is not significant.
The average loss rate applied as at the 31 December 2024 and
2023 were 1.21% and 1.09% respectively.

b) EERM (&)
(i) EMEERE (&)

HAtb e R (48)

ERBTLEEBASERRER
AW REEBRERS - A&
[ P A H fth FE U SRIB R 2024 FF 2
2023F 12 A31 AN AR -
AR ERERE 2 Kb B IER
BREERBILTERKN - R2024
FR2023F12A31H  FTERAK
FHEIEESRA1.21%5K1.09% °

Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit REmNTERE R E EAREBE
or loss HER
Year ended 31 December
BZ12AALEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTT
Impairment losses: RIEEE
Provision for expected credit loss B S RUGRTE B E B E R E
allowance for trade receivables 1,596 28
Provision for expected credit loss H e RIBTE s B R e RE
allowance for other receivables 1,850 717
Provision for expected credit loss CHEERHNGESERE
allowance for financial assets 3,446 745
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABMBRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (0 REEZREMK

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group's
finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining

adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by the finance department of
the Group. The finance department of the Group monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs as well as the liabilities to

other parties.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

FREEGEHFBEANRERRES
By AR EEERBNSEEE - &
SENMBREEETREANET N
ReFEMRERESNTRNE -

ReRETRR AL EY B EBET -
REBUBHERAEERPESH
REPRB TN - ARREEEHHE
SR MBELERTKAREEMITH A
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MERRERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEEEE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () REBESER (&)
Total
Lessthan1  Between1  Between2  Morethan contractual Carrying
year and2years and>5 years 5years  cash flows amount
BHEE
DPR-F -ZME WEEE  EENE  RELE BREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TRT AR%Tn ARETR AR¥TR AR%TR
As at 31 December 2024 2024512 A318
Trade payables BHENTIE 1,010,109 - - - 1,010,109 1,010,109
License fees payables ENEEER 341,835 13,285 3,460 728 359,308 356,371
Other payables (excluding ~ EERFIE (TRELE
wages, salaries and other e REMEERAILE
employee benefitand tax ~ {4#78)
payables) 599,866 = = = 599,866 599,866
Lease liabilities HEBE 400,547 261,186 296,108 107,139 1,064,980 964,561
Total o 2,352,357 274,471 299,568 107,867 3,034,263 2,930,907
As at 31 December 2023 ®2023F12A318
Trade payables B HENTIE 444,944 - - - 444,944 444,944
License fees payables ENREE 180,830 11,296 4260 728 197,114 194,200
Other payables (excluding ~ EERFIE (TRELE
wages, salaries and other e LhEMEERAALE
employee benefitand tax ~ {4#{78)
payables) 309,376 - - - 309,376 309,376
Borrowing EE S 15,093 - - - 15,093 15,058
Lease liabilities HEBE 386,387 219,157 212,565 62,046 880,155 777,753
Total E 1,336,630 230453 216,825 62,774 1,846,682 1,741,331
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3
3.2

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeqguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for owners of the Group and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to enhance owners’ value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt. As at
31 December 2024, the Group has no net debt. See Note 34(c) for the
reconciliation of net cash for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are

recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements.

(a) Financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows

underneath the table.

3.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

3 BEREE 2

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)
(i) 2FEERE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

B4 E#&2 E#3 st

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TRT AR%Tn AR%Trn AR%TxR

As at 31 December 2024 F2024% 124318

Financial assets at FVPL BATEFAERNSREE
~ Investment in associates —BRHEFABRHEN

measured at FVPL BEARRE - - 189,222 189,222

~ Other unlisted investments —Ef3EEmiRE - - 41,597 41,597

— Private equity fund investments ~ — FAERIEESIRE - - 181,061 181,061

~ Listed equity securities-stock — FIRARES - RE 11,434 = = 11,434

Total @5t 11,434 - 411,880 423,314

As at 31 December 2023 F2023F12A31H

Financial assets at FVPL BATERABRNSREE
- Investment in associates —RATEFABRIEN

measured at FVPL BENRRE - - 227477 227477

- Other unlisted investments — Hih3E FTRE - - 48,133 48133

- Private equity fund investments ~ — FAERIEESIRE - - 196,159 196,159

- Listed equity securities-stock — ETRAER - RE 8,415 - - 8,415

Total @t 8,415 - 471,769 480,184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

MEEEEE 2
3.3 AFEME (&)

() ERMEERERE (4)
N FEER (&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i)

The Group analyses the financial instruments carried at fair
value by valuation method. The different levels have been

defined as follow:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These

instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for private equity fund investment, other
unlisted investments and investment in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Further details of the Group's
financial assets and financial liabilities that are measure at fair

value using level 3 inputs are given in Note 3.3(a)(ii) below.

There were no transfers between the levels of fair value

hierarchy during this year.

REBRBEETEDITARFE
FIRNERMTA - TRNEREE
W

B LEEMSEENSRT
B (ARG ZITETARBKA
BHE) ZRTFEDERHREHARD
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STHINAEZFIF -

B2 WHRERTEEENE
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ool 2 215 A AT B R T A5 B T AR
DIRRBR BB E (T o WEtHE
TEZAFEMFENEHERBA
IR AR B REE - AIZTAY
AE&2m -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

POP MART

inputs (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

3 BEREE 2

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)

(i) EHEXT B A B 15
BT FER 2 (BAR3)

TRINFRERIEB REE2024F
128318 &2023F12A31HIEF

EryEE)
Investment
Investment in Wealth
in associates Private Management
measuredat ~ Other unlisted equity fund Products
FVPL investments investments ("WMPs") Total
BATETA BRER
BHTEN AbELT nERE  (EEER)
BenaRg i ESRE e @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Opening balance at 1 January 2024 R202451 B1BHENHE 07477 48,133 196,159 - 471,769
Acquisitions Wig - - = 4351977 4351977
Disposals iHE - - (8573) (4,377,569) (4,386,142)
Change in fa value NTEEY (38,255) (6,536) 6,525) 25,592 (25,724)
Closing balance at 31 December 2024 K2024512A31 ANEREE 189,222 41,597 181,061 - 411,880
Opening balance at 1 January 2023 R203F1B1BHENHE 231808 45355 181871 - 459,034
Acquisitions Wig - - 20000 792601 812,601
Disposals g - - (19 (809,517) (810,236)
Change in fai value ATER (4331) 2778 4993) 16916 10370
Closing balance at 31 December 2023 RABE1ANBNERES 274171 4813 196,159 - 471,769
* includes nrealised (losses)/gains recognised in - * BERERTRANFEHRS
profitor loss attributable to balances held at the  BEBEERER (BB)/ Wi
end of the reporting period
2004 W4F (38259) (6,536) (6529) - (51316)
2023 W3E (4331) 278 4993) - (6,546)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

3

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

value

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included

investments in associates measured at FVPL, other unlisted

investments and private equity fund investments. As these

instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair values

have been determined by using various applicable valuation

techniques, including discounted cash flows and market

approach etc..

The following table summarises the quantitative information

about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair

value measurements:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

BRRER &)
3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEERERE (&)

(iii) G ERAM ~ A B 5 R HE R
FIEAIEE

ER3zBETAEERRERAT
T AR BB E R ARE
Hth Ik EHRARAERRESRE

HEITEE

%ETAWENERN S

HAFEFEERAZE

ERAERMN (BRMRESR
BERMGEF)EE °

TR AERERIETAFER
EZERTABEGHABEILEE

EH

Fair value Range of inputs
198 BABREE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
M2A318 M2A31H
2024 2023 2024 2023
W4E | 03F Significant unobservable WUE 3% Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 |  RMBO00  Valuation Techniques inputs RMB'000 AVBO00  inputs to fair value
it ARBTR |ARETT  HhERA EXTTRERALE ARBTR | ARETR  FUBERAHBRLATENEE
Investments in associates measured | 178,649 199829 Market Approach (1) Price to sales (PS") PS:0.69-2.56 | PS:084339  Thehigher the PS or EV/S, the higher the far
atFupL ‘ HEH) Enterprise value to sales EV/S:044- | EV/S:034348 value
ROTET\ERrENEE i (FV/S) » Discount for lack 322 | DLOM:210%  The higher the DLOM, the lower the far value
MR ilit (1 4 . " ‘ e A s . s
RANRE ofmarketabmty[DLOM) DLOM.Z:(;O(:/:/O W sempasessuesy waE . AT
R MEEEEHE ' % : 084 e
Spw msmmy | DHE: 069 . - ‘
L% HzBrEh v | L HOEBERFRSEE 0TAGE
frax | PREERS
A
L2k 034348
044322 B
P31 - HiEE
A% 21.0%320%
20.0%-40.0%
Weighted average cost of 18.00% 1800%  The higher the WACC, the lower the fair value
capitel (WACC) METATHARS  LTEE
METIERRR
10,573 17322 Income approach (2 Terminal growth rate 200% 200%  The higher the revenue growth rate or the
W&t REEER terminal growth rate, the higher the far
value
WAEREFAEBLRREYR  ATEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

3 MBEREE®)
3.3 AFEME (&)
) TRIEERAE (&)
(iii) 1 EE M - A BIE R R

value (continued) FERIEE (&)
Fair value Range of inputs
AV BABER
As at 31 December As at 31 December
#2A318 #12A318
2024 2023 2024 2023
W4E N3E Significant unobservable WUE WBE  Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 | RMBO00  Valuation Techniques  inputs RMB'000 RMBO0O  inputs to fair value
i AR |ARHTT BRI EATTRREANE ARRTR | ARETL  FIRRBRARBEATENBE
Revenue growth rate 6.8%-38.1% | 22%-66.2%
BNERE
10326 Back-solve from recent ~ Conversion/redemption/ NA N/A The higher probability of conversion with
transaction price market liquidation probability TER i correspondingly lower probability of
multiple method (3) gh /B0 /%8N liquidation and redemption, the lower the
BESRAERERT  mal fair value
SR80 BRI  EARERATAL
HE - DTESE -
Subtotal 189,222 D147
it
Other unlisted investment 41,597 48133 Market Approach (1) PS» DLOM PS:0.69-147 | PS:084-162  The higher the PS, the higher the fair value
A TRE THE) M Bz EEe DLOM: 15%- | DLOM:20%  The higher the DLOM, the lower the fair value
EES 2% % THEAR ATEES
TR 060 |THE 04 RTEEIOTERMS - ATEHE
147 162
REBELN | GzEH
E SRR = A
25% 2%
Private equity fund investments 181,061 196159 Netasset value (4) N/A N/A NA - N/A
LEREEeRE REREY ANk TER AER TR

POP MART
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iii) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair
value (continued)

M

The fair values of certain investments in associates measured at
FVPL and other unlisted investment are determined by using
the market approach and the combination of observable and
unobservable inputs include market multiples and discount for
lack of marketability.

The fair value of investment in an associate measured at FVPL
is determined by using the discounted cash flow method and
unobservable inputs mainly include assumptions of expected
future cash flows and discount rate.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of investment in an
associate measured at FVPL was calculated using the Back-solve
from recent transaction price market multiple method. In this
model, the fair value was determined by the implied equity
value derived from a recent transaction in the respective unlisted
company's equity.

The Group determines the fair valuation of its private equity fund
investments as at the 31 December 2024 and 2023 based on the
net asset values of the private equity funds with underlying assets
and liabilities measured at fair value as reported by the general
partners of the funds.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

(@) Impairment provision for inventories

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration of
key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective inventories.
Management reassesses these estimations of impairment provision for

inventories at each balance sheet date.

(b) Useful lives of Licensed IPs and IP rights

The Group has Licensed IPs and IP rights that are primarily used to
design and sell pop toys. The Group estimates the useful life of these
Licensed IPs and IP rights to be 2-10 years based on the contract and
expected economic benefit. However, the actual useful life may be
shorter or longer than management’s estimate, depending on the
market competition. Periodic review could result in a change in useful

lives and therefore amortisation expense in future periods.

(c) Fair value of financial assets

The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in active markets is
determined using valuation techniques. These techniques include the
use of market approach, discounted cash flow model, price of recent
investments, and the net assets value provided by the respective private
equity funds, etc. To the extent practical, models use observable data.
The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the

end of the reporting period. For details, please refer to Note 3.3.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

Current and deferred income taxes

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will be reflected in the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made. In addition, the
realisation of future income tax assets is dependent on the Group's
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise
income tax benefits and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future
profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that

could have a significant effect on the income tax expenses.

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China
to foreign investors are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10%.
The Group regularly assesses its needs to make distributions out of its
subsidiaries in Mainland China. In this regard, withholding tax will be
provided in the period in which dividends are distributed or on the
undistributed profits to the extent they are expected to be distributed in

foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in brand development, design and
sales of toys in Mainland China and other countries and regions outside
Mainland China, including Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and certain
overseas countries (collectively, "Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and
overseas”). The chief operating decision makers (“CODM") reviews the
Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. Management has determined the operating segments based

on these reports.

As at 31 December 2024 and for the year then ended, the Group had

two reportable segments:

The Mainland China operations; and

Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas operations.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments mainly
based on revenue and segment results. The revenue from external
customers reported to CODM is measured as segment revenue, which is
the revenue derived from customers in each segment. Segment results
represent the operating profit earned by each segment excluding certain
unallocated items which mainly include certain expenses attributable to
headoffice, IP department, R&D department, IT department and shared

service center of the Group.

There were no separate segment assets and segment liabilities
information provided to the CODM as CODM does not use this
information to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of the

operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 7HER®
The segment results and other items included in the consolidated MEZELERRERMNEZE20245F12 A
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income provided SVHIEFENEZE2023F12A31BIEFE
to the CODM for the reportable segments for the years ended 31 ZAIZMAHBN D BEBEURGEEERR
December 2024 and the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively are Hip 2E WS RPEHINNEMIEER 550
as follows: T
Year ended 31 December
BENANBLEE
2024 2023
2045 WBE
Hong Kong, Hong Kong,
The Macao, The Macao,
Mainland ~ Taiwan and Mainland Taiwan and
China overseas China overseas
operations operations Total operations operations Total
HE BRAR il BRAR
nib R BHEH &3t Mm% BINER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR®Tn  ARETR | ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Revenue from external customers REMBEFHBRA 7972074 5065675 13,037,749 5,234,901 1,066,101 6,301,002
Segment results AEHEE 2,637,353 181400 4,451,443 1,239,503 191,556 1,431,059
Unallocated expenses and other gains/losses AORERRE MG/ BB (297,171) (200413)
Finance income - net BRA -8 163,352 157,880
Share of profit of investments accounted for AERRREENRORE RN
using the equity method 48,188 3329
Profit before income tax REEHAER 4,365,812 1415755
Income tax expense FERES (1,057,467) (326,984)
Profit for the year EREF 3,308,345 1,088,771
Significant non-cash expenses EXREHX
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment N BEREENE 249,838 36,643 286,481 20,791 12,500 233291
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fPREAENE 345,305 107,013 452,318 313,792 34,598 348,390
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEER 101,205 22,819 124,024 79614 7,270 86,884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, information about the Group's
non-current assets (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and deferred tax assets) which is presented based on

DEER (&)
MR2024F K 2023F12A31H » BEARER
RBEE (BRATEFABZNESMEE
MIEEFRIBEERIN) NERHZE EMIRAL

geographical location of the assets, is as follow: B2
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
The Mainland China operations AR B b 7 1,478,586 1,434,042
Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas operations 758 & MG N7 597,096 296,167
6 REVENUE 6 W=
Breakdown of revenue by business lines is as follows: BEBZE DB WA T
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLELEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Revenue from the Mainland China operations & B AP Bl iy #th 275 A U 25
Revenue from retail store sales TEEHEE 3,827,861 2,661,009
Revenue from online sales R SHE WS 2,697,619 1,524,578
Revenue from roboshop sales e AR RS RS 698,416 552,697
Revenue from wholesales and others o2 R HAtb Uz 748,178 496,617
Subtotal NEF 7,972,074 5,234,901
Revenue from Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and R B8R A KEMEKHIWRE
overseas operations
Revenue from retail store sales TEEHE W 2,937,910 582,909
Revenue from online sales R EHE W 1,455,162 155,805
Revenue from roboshop sales B2 A RS S E W 133,061 57,378
Revenue from wholesales and others P2 R E AU ES 539,542 270,009
Subtotal et 5,065,675 1,066,101
Total st 13,037,749 6,301,002

pLY S POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

6 REVENUE (continued) 6 W (®)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Revenue Yz
Point-in-time T B A B P B 12,948,272 6,278,843
Over-time P B 89,477 22,159
Total et 13,037,749 6,301,002
For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no revenue derived HZE2024F K2023F12A31MBIEFE - I
from transactions with a single customer represent 10% or more of the ERHE-RPARHSEEANKRSELREE
Group's total revenue. U 10% A E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

7 BUEETHRAX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBEFTT
Cost of inventories included in cost of sales FFAEERANFERA 3,474,213 2,042,672
Employee benefit expenses (Note 33) EERAFAEZ (FFE33) 1,462,406 1,048,487
Commissions and E-commerce platform e kEETERBEE
service charges 614,399 279,986
Advertising and marketing expenses B MEHEAY 567,630 269,650
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) FREEENE (MiEie) 452,318 348,390
Depreciation on property, plant and Y - WE REETE (Mist14)
equipment (Note 14) 286,481 233,291
Expenses relating to short-term leases and REFAHEEENHEEHAER
variable leases not included in lease A EE BB (Mistie)
liabilities (Note 16) 457,906 185,893
Transportation and logistics expenses JEEa)N il iib-a 543,180 169,803
Design and license fees RETRIRES 393,499 156,921
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) | EE (MEEs) 124,024 86,884
Taxes and surcharges e R nE 117,010 45,047
Cost of moulds with useful lives within one year — {F TR &—FAMWEERK A 48,505 26,138
Impairment of inventory (Note 22) FERE (MHs22) 14,432 8,016
Auditor's remuneration Z SR B & 7,643 6,030
— Audit services — AR 5,300 5,100
- Non-audit services — FEAH RS 2,343 930
Others Hith 363,895 241,729
Total #et 8,927,541 5,148,937

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&iai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




8 OTHER INCOME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

8 Hflg A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3ALEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARMBETTT

Income from license fee and other services s R EMREWA 56,662 43,008
Government grants (i) BT 8k () 24,925 30,909
Others EHfth 2,701 983
Total st 84,288 74,900
(i)  The amounts represent government grants related to income which are () FEASERBTHLE  EEEMCELRE

received from the local government for the contribution to the local
economic growth. These grants are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon the
receipt. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.

9 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS - NET

HERM A ZEFREOBAGRE - %%
SRR SISO RSy BN el G
MR o MBS A A BARER R
HAEIH

9 Hftt (BB) W — FH

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBTT
Changes in fair value of financial EAFEFABENERITA

instruments at FVPL (Note 23) NHEZE (ME23) (23,382) 6,111
Exchange (losses)/gains [ (B18),/ s (16,053) 1,501
Donation B (865) (2,654)

Losses on disposal of leasehold improvement REHEREREMMRENER
and other equipments (655) (2,540)
Net gains on termination of leases BIEHERF = 2,821 2,364
Others Hh 1,356 (356)
Total st (36,778) 4,426
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 FINANCE INCOME - NET

10 WA — 5

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Finance income p 3N
— Interest income — FBUA 212,335 184,217
Finance expenses P35
~ Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEaENSRX (42,628) (30,754)
- Others — HAh (6,355) (1,583)
Finance income -net BB — FE 163,352 151,880
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FEHEX
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT
Current income tax BIEAFR1SH% 1,135,499 330,124
Deferred income tax IRIEFTSH (78,032) (3,140)
Income tax expense FrsHi = 1,057,467 326,984

(@) Cayman Island and BVI Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Island income tax pursuant to
the current laws of the Cayman Islands. The Group entity incorporated
or registered under the Business Companies Act of BVI are exempted

from BVI income tax pursuant to the current laws of the BVI.

P33 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr S EAR A &

(a) HEHEREBERTSHENR

ARARREHEHERARERHESHETE
MK RERRERAR  REHSHS
RITEAR  ARAREBEAGMFESHEME
B REBERBERBESRITEAZ  REX
BHERFSHERRDALMA LM
SEERERNCBMABERTEMEN -



11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b) Income tax for Hong Kong, Macao, Taiwan and overseas

operations
(i) Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HKS2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
the Group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate 16.5%. Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the Group's
estimated assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023:16.5%).

(ii) Thailand income tax

The group entity incorporated in Thailand is subject to corporate
income tax at tax rate of 20% on the assessable profits for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 20%).

(iii) Other jurisdictions

Taxes on taxable profits in other jurisdictions have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries and regions in which
the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations

and practices in respect thereof.

Mainland China Corporated Income Tax (“CIT")

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the Mainland China has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
25%), based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in

respect thereof.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, certain group
entities have been granted certain tax concessions to small scale entities
by tax authorities in the Mainland China whereby the subsidiaries

operating in the respective jurisdictions are entitled to tax concessions.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

11 iB88RxX @)

(b)

REBRE REBIEBRER

() EBFEB

BEMBAGFEHHERNE &4
REEERMNE2B8E8B T HMNBIZ
8.25%M M REAM - M2BEBBITIA L
T IR 16.5% B REBR - THFA
MBS FIE R LG E A EEE LS
i B R — T 16,50 T o &
E2024F12A31ALLEE  AEED
AL ETERBUE R IR 16.5% M B X512
BBMEBRME (2023F : 165%) °

(i) Z=EFEH

REEZMR YN ERERERER
202412 A31 AL FERERT R F
R20% BB RGN EFER (2023
&1 20%) °

Hip =B AR

A EL A B HE (8 ) 8 SR 048 ) B0 AR IR
DERAEBEEMAERR KR AE
TREFE  TERZFER IR
MERITED] - BERESIME

(iii

=

FREIAMEERSES ([RERE
B )

N B h AP B S B FTAS R BB AR IR
HE2024%12 A3 HILFEAEFER
S FIE 25% R B R (20234F : 25%) 5HE - A
ERBERIRTAG - RERESME

o

HE2024F R2023F 12A3VHILEFE &
TEEBEDEPBERMBEEEBER T/
REMAREEOETHKESR  BUHES
BREREEENMNBRARBREZZHI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(d) Mainland China Withholding Tax (“WHT")

POP MART

According to the applicable Mainland China tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the Mainland China to a foreign
investor with respect to profit derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the Mainland China and Hong Kong,

the relevant withholding tax rate will be 5%.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate undistributed earnings of
the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the Mainland China are
RMBS5,685,934,000 (as at 31 December 2023: RMB2,649,591,000). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future, and that the Company
has the ability to control the timing of the distribution from these
subsidiaries. Accordingly, despite an assessable temporary difference on
such retained earnings exists, no deferred income tax liability has been

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”)
Pillar Two rules apply to multinational enterprises that have consolidated
revenues (which, as defined by the OECD, include any form of income
and are therefore not limited to revenue recognised in accordance with
IFRS 15) of EUR750 million in at least two out of the last four years. As at
31 December 2024, the Group is not within the scope of the OECD Pillar

Two model rules and therefore has no related current tax exposure.

The Group will be within the scope of the OECD Pillar Two model
rules starting from the year ending 31 December 2025. Pillar Two
legislation was enacted in certain jurisdictions in which some of the
Group's overseas subsidiaries are incorporated, and has/will come into
effect from 1 January 2024 or 1 January 2025 respectively. Under the
legislation, the Group will be liable to pay a top-up tax (if any) for the
difference between the Global Anti-Base Erosion Proposal (‘GloBE’)
effective tax rate for each jurisdiction which the group entities operate

and the 15% minimum rate.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

11
(d)

(e)

FrEHMAX &)
Bt FE N ([FE 08 )

REBEANTREAMBLRER - EFER
A B R BIFLR 20081 A1 B 2R ELE
/)5 A R SN R B & 5 R /) R B R A
M10%ETEIF o WA BB AN
BEERMEPERNMETSE BT INE
ERBENLHEETOGRERAE - 8148
BAR TR R B 2 1 5% o

M2024F 128318 » AEBEFRBE AT
MM B AR RS B FIRE A A
R#5,685,934,0007T (FA20235F 12 4318 :
AR#2,649,591,0007T) c EFRAE
B A B KA BER A T8 R A0 #8 R 5 BL 3%
ZRA WAARRAENEHNZENE
AEIDRBF R - Al BEGFEZ
EREBBMNNERTEFMEZRE - BI R
NG M RERERT BTN SHAE -

[y
A

KBS ERERARS ([OECD]) XX
HARBENFHRELRENEHEE
E|750 B BT B R (RIZOECDME
> BREEMEABNEA - B SRAE
BER B REENE 1SHERO )
HZE2024F 128318 - AEBTBROECD
XEZIDEEARNEE - Bt RS
AT LB o

AEBKBEZE2025F 12831 BIEFER
BROECDSIH A ANEE - I
ZIEGIE R AR KBS BN E A B R
B HE T RVERE G - ARIE B
202451 A1 BER2025F1 A1 RAER -
BIEZED  AEBEREEBEBLEHN
ERERERENEIRRBEFEMREZ
([GIoBE]) BB & B A (R H 2 15% 2 [ &Y
EEINHEN (0E) -



11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
(e) (continued)

The Group is currently in the process of assessing its exposure to
the Pillar Two legislation for when it comes into effect. Due to the
complexities in applying the legislation and calculating GloBE income,
the quantitative impact of the enacted or substantively enacted
legislation is not yet reasonably estimable. Therefore, even for those
entities with an accounting effective tax rate above 15%, there may still

be Pillar Two tax implications.

The reconciliation between the Group’s actual tax charges and the
amount which is calculated based on the statutory income tax rate of

25% in the Mainland China is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

11 FTEHRAX (2
(e) (#)

REEBANET G S DRADIE RS &
E AR R o F DA DI KA E GloBE
WARERMNE  CHRGLEE LD HHH
AR EEFEREAGEME o Bt
BIEENEHERRERIR 15 EEE - )
FIRETFAE ARG -

REBENERBKEBEBEPBEAME
TEPTIS R 25%t HH & 5 2 MR E BRI
T~

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023

20244 20234F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

Profit before income tax B FT1S B A g 7 4,365,812 1,415,755

Tax calculated at applicable tax rate of 25% ZiE AR E25%T HHTIA 1,091,453 353,939

Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions HEMAEEETNRARENTE (14,228) (2,072)
Tax loss for which no deferred income RERBLEMSHEENTIAEBE

tax asset is recognised 144 756

Share of profit of investments accounted for DR EREREARNIEE SR

using equity method (12,047) (8,307)

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes TANFRA X 41,253 26,077

Income not subject to tax mARTBUA (49,108) (43,409)

Taxation charge HWEA 1,057,467 326,984
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 DIVIDENDS

The total dividends paid in 2024 amounted to RMB373,025,000 or
RMB28.21 cents per share (2023: RMB117,317,000 or RMB8.70 cents
per share) (which are net of the dividend of RMB4,763,000 (2023:
RMB1,678,000) attributable to the shares held for the Share Award

Scheme).

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB81.46
cents per ordinary share of the Company issued for the year ended 31
December 2024, representing an aggregate amount of RMB1,093,916,000
based on the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date
of approval of this consolidated financial statements. In the event of
change in the total issued share capital of the Company before the
record date for dividend payment, dividends will be distributed per

share and the total distribution amount will be adjusted accordingly.

The proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in
the consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as an
appropriation of distributable reserves for the year ending 31 December
2025.

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme and shares
repurchased by the Company for cancellation during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

12 K&

72024 F RS B RR S48 FE A A R 373,025,000
THEBRARYE28.219 (20234F + AR
117,317,0007c sk B AR A R¥8.705 ) (FOBRBLAR 17
HEET 2 A RRD EEREARE4,763,000
7t (20234 : AR¥1,678,0007T)) ©

EEERAMAE2024F 12831 BIEFEIRN
REREFRARAIBBITEBBRARES 46
D BEBEAGEUBHRERAMAEBPERF
BERTRABHAE  HERAHAARE
1,093,916,0007T ° A K E52 8% B BRI AR A AR
BIIRABHBHMES - AREBIETIRS K
o IRARZE S AR R -

PRI B I AR RER A B ISRk P R A FE AR
B MR AEE2025F12 431 B IEFEHD
BEAR R A

13 8RER
(a) BREAREF

BRERBNIDIRBEEE2024F k20234
NANBILEFEE - RAFHEE AEER
R DA B 81T AR 0 T 19 BUR B AR 15 82
BN ET I FT IS MR R AN A RIS B DA FE 85 2 iR
Mz EmMERBE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20235
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RRAEMER ANEME T
(RMB'000) (AR¥ETFT) 3,125,473 1,082,344
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 277 & @ % hni F O EUR LA 1D
issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme RENETEIFT IR D AR R
and shares repurchased by the Company for LARESE 2 D 2 2= (FAR)
cancellation (in thousands) 1,326,541 1,338,035
Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB per BREARZF
share) (AFBRARBTERTR) 2.36 0.81
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13 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Dilute earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31

December 2024 and ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

13 BREF &)

(b) BREERF

HZE2024F 12 A31 B &2023F12A31HIEFE
REERFNTEHINOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Profit attributable to owners of the RAEIHEB AEERT
Company (RMB'000) (AR¥ETFIT) 3,125,473 1,082,344
Profit used to determine diluted earnings AR EE BREE & 895 F)
per share (RMB'000) (ARETIT) 3,125,473 1,082,344
Weighted average number of ordinary B BT L @R N - BUR AR (7
shares in issue less shares held for Share SRRV ETEIFT AR D A F]
Award Scheme and shares repurchased by BRI GESE 2 R 2= (TR
the Company for cancellation (in thousands) 1,326,541 1,338,035
Adjustment for TR
— Restricted Shares granted and assumed —ERLRBREER
vested (in thousands) SR B H (FR) 5,539 2,471
Weighted average number of shares for diluted  &F A% 5% 2 F i% {7 hniE
earnings per shares (in thousands) FHE (FI) 1,332,080 1,340,506
Dilute earnings per share (expressed in GhcEE R
RMB per share) (ABERAREITETR) 2.35 0.81

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, diluted earnings
per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company's potentially dilutive ordinary
shares comprised shares which may be granted and assumed vested
under the Share Award Scheme. A calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market price of the Company's
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
to the outstanding shares granted under the Share Award Scheme
(defined as the “Restricted Shares”). The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that would have been

issued assuming the exercise of the Restricted Shares.

HE2024F ) 2023F12 A3 BILFE » S
SERFTAREMEESEXENEELBR
B E AREITEIN G BRA INE T EE
HoARRAEEESYENTBREERE
B EEAHEETFTREBREZBHRNG 5
HEDRBE R REE EIR THEBITRG (8
BRIZEHRM]) I RBEENEEEER &
EAEATE (EARARRGHFANFTES
) BEMRMGEE o BIE Ll 5 A5 RS
ERRERITIE IR HIAR (0 FT AT RO RR BLL B »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y%  BERRE

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold  Construction-
machines Moulds and others  improvement in-progress Total
BEABE
EEH A REREM HEEE ERIR b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F128310
Cost KA 106,487 271,580 58,409 777,071 47 1214018
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (63,185) (152773) (25134) (319,648) - (560,740)
Net book amount REFE 43302 118,807 33275 457423 471 653278
Yearended 31 December 2024  HZ2024F 12831 AL EE
Opening net book amount FNREFE 43,302 118,807 33,275 457,423 4n 653,278
Additions HE 14,761 119,683 27,986 189,628 26,620 378,678
Depreciation charge HEER (21,115) (103,458) (12,692) (149,216) = (286,481)
Disposal HE (2,521) (116) (429) (2,926) - (5,992)
Currency translation difference EHMEETE 268 - 180 (553) = (105)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 34,695 134,916 48,320 494,356 27,091 739,378
As at 31 December 2024 R20245128310
Cost AR 114,989 212,733 85,261 920,037 27,091 1,360,111
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (80,294) (77,817) (36,941) (425,681) = (620,733)
Net book amount REFE 34,695 134916 48,320 494,356 27,091 739,378
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBRRMET
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14 %  BERSKE =)
Roboshop Equipment Leasehold  Construction-
machines Moulds and others  improvement in-progress Total
HRABE
EGk BRE  REREM BEXE IR &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETRL  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  AR%TR  ARETR

As at 31 December 2022 R20225128318

Cost R 99,009 196,705 43071 414416 66,952 820,153
Accumulated depreciation Z2iE (45,199) (91,505) (16,716) (217,382) - (370,802)
Impairment for fixed assets ETEERE - - - (467) - (467)
Net book amount REFE 53810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,952 448,884

Yearended 31 December 2023  EZ2023F12A310LEE

Opening net book amount FUREFE 53,810 105,200 26,355 196,567 66,95 448,884
Additions AE 11,260 93655 15,850 118150 200875 439,790
Transfer EE ] - - - 267,356 (267,356) -
Depreciation charge FEER (19,185) (80,002) (8,545) (125,559) - (233291)
Disposal HE (2,560) (46) (406) - - (3012)
Currency translation difference EHAEER 23) - 2 909 - 907
Closing net book amount EXREFE 43302 118,807 33275 457423 4 653,278
As at 31 December 2023 ®2023F128318

Cost KA 106,487 271,580 58,409 777,071 47 1214018
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (63,185) (152,773) (25,134) (319,648) - (560,740)
Net book amount REFE 43302 118,807 33275 457423 471 653278
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(@) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment has been charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income as follows:

14 ¥ - WERSZRE ®)

@ YE BEEREHECEFABEaREE
2RI - TR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Cost of sales S B 103,458 80,002
Distribution and selling expenses LI RIEERE 174,908 145,735
General and administrative expenses —MRITE R X 8,115 7,554

286,481 233,291
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBmMRMET
15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15 B EE
Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
L CIGETY) IPERE g e a@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥Tn AR¥Tn AR%TR AR%Tx
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318
Cost AR 326,801 24,440 28,288 103 379,632
Accumulated amortisation EHE § (232,774) (15612) (15,358) - (263,744)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 94,027 8,828 12,930 103 115,888
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE2024F 12831 ALEE
Opening net book amount EMRAEFE 94,027 8,828 12,930 103 115,888
Additions B 134,529 2,500 5,842 - 142,871
Amortisation charge BHEH (111,874) (1,436) (10,714) = (124,024)
Disposal & (36) - (51) - (87)
Currency translation difference ERHEES 585 S 176 9) 752
Closing net book amount FREEFE 117,231 9,892 8,183 94 135,400
At 31 December 2024 R2024%128318
Cost AR 355,188 26,942 34,350 9 416,574
Accumulated amortisation SFTHH (237,957) (17,050) (26,167) = (281,174)
Closing net book amount FEREEFE 117,231 9,892 8,183 94 135,400
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

POP MART

15 BEEE (&)

Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
RREP
(HizEa) IPER B e @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETR AR%®Tn AR¥Trn AR®Tr AR%Txn
At 31 December 2022 R2022%128318
Cost AR 283411 24,440 22,018 104 329,973
Accumulated amortisation RETEH (161,033) (13,981) (8,165) - (183,179)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount EREEFE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ2023F5 12831 ALEE
Opening net book amount FREFE 122,091 10,459 13,853 104 146,507
Additions AE 50342 - 6,304 - 56,646
Amortisation charge BHER (78,054) (1,631) (7,199) - (86,884)
Disposal & (394) - - - (394)
Currency translation difference EhmE =R 42 - (28) (1) 13
Closing net book amount FEREEFE 94,027 8,828 12,930 103 115,888
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318
Cost A 326,801 24,440 28,288 103 379,632
Accumulated amortisation ZETEH (232,774) (15612) (15,358) - (263,744)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 94,027 8,828 12,930 103 115,888
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@) The amounts represent the exclusive and non-exclusive license rights
obtained by the Group in accordance with the respective license
agreements. Upon initial recognition, the Licensed IPs are recognised at
the present values of the fixed minimum payments with the corresponding

amounts recognised as license fees payables (Note 30).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15 BEEE (&)
st -

(a)

FHRSHEEAKEREREBRERZNEN
BREIFBRERE - RYIEHERIL - REP
ZEFESEMNRNBRERR  HESEER
RIEMEEE (HFE30) -

(b) Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the consolidated (b) EFEEHHECAGABEAHME2ERE
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: =B ATAR
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TR ARETTT
Cost of sales SHER A 113,310 79,685
General and administrative expenses —MRITHAY 10,714 7,199
124,024 86,884
=
16 HE

16 LEASES

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The following amounts are recognised in the consolidated balance

sheet:

(a) EEEBERAER ZEH

UTeBEFRABEERBRPHER

As at December

M12A

2024 2023
2024%F 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT T AREFTT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Offices and warehouses WAEREE 92,645 92,319
Retail stores TER 754,605 542,481
POP LAND papagites s aEdE| 80,308 91,253
927,558 726,053

Lease liabilities HEAE

Current Vi) 363,092 351,799
Non-current ERE 601,469 425,954
964,561 777,753
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 LEASES (continued)

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (continued)

POP MART

Movements on the Group's right-of-use assets are as follow:

16 & (&)

(a) EEEBERABRI 2 (B)

AEBEREEENESIOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFT
At 1 January B1A1H
Cost B AR 1,235,890 1,146,056
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZEHTERBE (509,837) (444,429)
Opening net book amount FHREFE 726,053 701,627
Year ended 31 December BZ12A31HILEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 726,053 701,627
Additions NE 699,560 407,785
Depreciation charge nEEH (452,318) (357,043)
Lease termination HERIE (45,737) (26,316)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 927,558 726,053
At 31 December M12831H
Cost B AR 1,491,115 1,235,890
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2ETERE (563,557) (509,837)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 927,558 726,053
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16 LEASES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income

The following amounts are recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

16 & (&)
b) BEREMEEAKS RIS HE

LA
i

D
cy

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

FEBmMEMEEKRERT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERAESEREER
Offices and warehouses WANEREE 69,241 72,581
Retail stores ZEE 373,554 275,024
POP LAND NN s SR AR 5 9,523 785
452,318 348,390
Interest expenses B 42,628 30,754
Expense relating to short-term leases RHRE 2 ABRAX
(included in distribution and selling (FIAESERBERI AR
expenses and administrative expenses) THRFSE) 140,514 72,590
Expense relating to variable lease payments Rt AHEEER
not included in lease liabilities (included AIBHENRZEBRE
in distribution and selling expenses) (GTALSERIFERST) 317,392 113,303
The cash outflow for leases as operating activities ~ HEEAKEEEH 2R LML 424,926 175,516
The cash outflow for leases as financing activites ~ HEEARME TS 2R LR 505,104 384,999
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 LEASES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income (continued)

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores and POP
LAND. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security

for borrowing purposes.

For certain lease contracts of retail stores, there are terms about variable
lease payments that based on the sales volume, which expose the Group
to variable lease payments. A 10% increase in sales across all stores
in the Group with such variable lease contracts would increase total
lease payments by approximately RMB55,042,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: RMB10,755,000).

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&iai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

16 & (&)
b) BEREMEZERRERI>SHE

(%)

AEECHERRRAE  2FE - ZEE
SRR TER - HEAKNEEH
B—RAI1E5F - HEGRRDEBERE
B ERERESETRMGEREAMRE - H
SHBALTRIMEMRHE  HHEEET
S REERNER -

HETEEENHESGNNES HBEE
RFEEN A ERENRNER - FARE
E/AAEREBEENRK - BiE2024F 128
JNREFE  AEEMEZEUEHES
Rz MABPFIENHEER10%  BEHEE
R zEE mxy AR ¥ 55,042,000 (B &
2023F 12 A3 HIEFE + ARM10,755,000
TT)°



17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BTSRRI
17 R B A TIHNIRE

(a) MR

Ownership interest

Ownership interest

held by non

held by the Group ~ controlling interests
FEEREN FEREERE
Issued and fully LEL L RECE L
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ M2A318 m12A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BEARAR
AL/ ERALER/ LERRA/
ARER LEYEE EERBED HMER | 2024F | 023%F | 0uF | 08F IEEE/LE4E
Directly held
ERBE
Pop Mart (BV)) Holding Limited The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"), 10 Limited liability company USD3,829,051 100% 100% = - Investment holding/BVI
May 2019
Pop Mart (BV1) Holding Limited AR HS((EBER EREfAT 38090510 RERR/5BERES
&1) 019%5A108

Indirectly held
BiERE
Beijing Pop Mart Cultural & Creative The PRC, 20 October 2010 Limited liability company ~ RMB200,000,000 100% 100% - - Design and sales of pop toys/The

Corp, Ltd. (‘Beijing Pop Mart") () PRC
IREREE A ERAT RE - 010F10A 208 BRERAT AR%2000000007 R REEARTA/

([mansEE]))
Beijing Paguhuyu Technology Co, Ltd ~ The PRC, 8 March 2016 Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - - - - Intemet technology services/The

('Beijing Paquhuyu’) i PRC
FRESERMEERAA(LRE  RE 0165388 BREMAA ARE 100000007 ERBRIRE/ 8

BER) ()
Beijing Paqu Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 April 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Technology development/The PRC
IREEHRERAR RE - 01654A21R BREALT ARH 10000007 Kiikg /o8
Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural The PRC, 29 November 2016 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

Communication Co, Ltd.
RELUEEXERERAT RE 2016511 8298 BREMRA ARES 0000007 BEBINA/ 48
Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, 27 January 2017 Limited liability company HKD1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and sales of

pop toys/Hong Kong

Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited &% m781R278 BEREALA 1000000780 BNEERKESRTE /R
Shanghai Pagu Commerce Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 September 2017 Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
LEEEERERAA RE - 01759A21R ERERAT ARE20000007 BEBRRA/HE
Beijing Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 October 2017 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
TREAEEEERRAR RE - 07EI0ATIA BREMRA ARE50000007T BERRA/HE
Shenzhen Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 31 October 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
MIBREEEHARAA HE - 2017F10A318 EREHEAT ARH1,0000007 HEHTNE/hE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 A B RARINERE (&)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest

held by non

held by the Group  controlling interests
FREREN FRRERNE
Issued and fully LEL L 2HhRREE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ m2A318 M2A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BEARAR
A/ ERALER/ LERRL/
248 HERAH EEEREL HMER | 04F | 0BF | 04F | 03F IEEE/ €Y
Indirectly held
BEKE
Chengdu Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 22 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RBAESEFERAT RE 01711 ARR BREMAA AR 10000007 BEWINA/HE
Chongqing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EREAE5ERAT B8 2017511 ABA BREFAA ARE10000007 BERIRA/HE
Beijing Paqu Tracing Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 December 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pap toys/The PRC
TrE885ERAT HRE - 2075 12R29R EREAAR ARH1,0000007C HEWINA/ 48
Shenyang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 March 2018 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EFEAEERRAR RE 0183518 BREMRA ARE 10000007 BERIRA /8
Zhengzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 4 April 2018 Limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
FeaErEsERAR RE 01854 4R ERERAT ARE10000007T BERRRA/ t
Qingdao Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 April 2018 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERLAEREAARAT RE - 0185F4R17R BREAAT ARE1,0000007T BEMIRA /8
Beijing Silai Art Design Co, Ltd The PRC, 26 April 2019 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
KRERENRHERAR R 2019F 47268 EREALT ARE10000007 BERIRA/ HE
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited  Hong Kong, 27 May 2019 Limited liability company HKD1 100% 100% - - Investment holding/Hong Kong
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited &% + 20195278 BREFLA 18T RERR /&%
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. South Korea, 11 July 2019 Limited liability company -~ KRW 1,500,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/South Korea
Pop Mart Korea Co, Lid. &F 019573118 EREMAT 15000000002 E HERRNE /88
Shandong Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 24 October 2019 Limited liability company RMB3,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
LREEEFERAT RE - 20195104 4R EREALT AR30000007 BERRTA/ HE
Xian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EZHOERESERAA RE - 2019512A25R EREFLA ARE1,0000007 HEBRRA/ HE
Wuhan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BEBRESERAT hE 0195127178 EREMAT ARH10000007 HERRTA/HE

POP MART
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17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 A B RARINERE (&)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held by non
held by the Group  controlling interests
AEEREN FERERRE
Issued and fully LLL L 2BhRRE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ #12A318 m2A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BEARER
RY/ERRLER/ LERRE/
ARER BARAH TEREEY HRER | 0u4F | 203F | 0u4F | 203F EEEE/LE4Y
Indirectly held
3
Guiyang Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 January 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
R nBREEBARAT RE - 00F1A108 BREAAT ARB10000007C BEMRRA /T
Changsha Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 02 January 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ROEAHERRAA RE - 00%1 A2R BREAAT ARE 10000007 BERRRL /8
Taiyuan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ARBAEREAERAR 8 20053A3R BREFAA ARE1,0000007T BEBRRA/H
Fuzhou Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ENESEHERAA HE - 200F3A258 BREEAA ARH10000007T BERRRA/ 0
Tianjin Paqu Cultural Media Co, Ltd. The PRC, 27 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REESX(LEEERAR 8 200F3A278 BREFAA ARE50000007T BEMInA /8
Haerbin Pagu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REREIEERRAR RE - 00F4R10R EREAAT ARE10000007T BERRRA/HE
Dalian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 13 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
AELAEREAERAT RE - 00548138 BRERAT ARE1,0000007C HERITA/HE
Xiamen Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 14 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EFEEESERAR R 2020F4A148 EREFAR ARE10000007 BERIRA/ HE
Changchun Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 15 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RENSEESRRAT 8 00F4A15R ERERAT ARE10000007 HEBRRA/ hE
Jiangxi Pagu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 May 2020 Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IREBEAERAT 8- 200F5A2IR EREAAT ARB20000007C BEMIRE /8
Guangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 06 May 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EMEEREZERAR 8 20045 A6 R ERERLT ARE1,0000007 HERRTA/HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 A B RARINERE (&)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held by non

held by the Group  controlling interests
AEEREN FERERRE
Issued and fully LLL L 2BhRRE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ M2A318 M2A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BEARER
RY/ERRLER/ LERRE/
ARER BARAH TEREEY HRER | 0u4F | 203F | 0u4F | 203F EEEE/LE4Y
Indirectly held
3
POP MART UK CORPORATION LTD UK, 23 June 2020 Limited liability company GBP 10 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/UK
POP MART UK CORPORATION LTD EB 00%6A 238 BREREAA 1058 BEMINA /X8
POP MART JAPAN INC. Japan, 1 July 2020 Limited liability company ~ JPY 30,000,000 60% 60% 40% 40%  Sales of pop toys/Japan
POP MART JAPAN INC. BA 00%7818 BREEAF 30000000E 7T BEMRRA/BA
Yunnan Pagu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 September 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EREAESERAT hE - 00F9A4R BREFAA ARE1,0000007T BERRRA/HE
Foshan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 7 December 2020 Limited liability company RMBI1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BB ESARAT HE 200512878 BREEAA ARH10000007T BERRRA/ 0
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Ltd. Canada, 11 January 2021 Limited liability company CADT 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Canada
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Ltd. mex 001818 BREALA 1 HEBTME/ NEX
Dongguan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,26 January 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REMBEESERAA RE - 200151 B6R BREAAT ARE10000007T BERRRA/HE
Beijing Pop Mart Technology Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC12 February 2021 Limited liability company R\B2,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
TREABEHRERAR RE - 01528128 BREAAT ARB20000007T HERITA/HE
Pop Investment Holding Limited The BV, 9 March 2021 Limited liability company USD50,000 100% 100% = = Investment/The BVI
Pap Investment Holding Limited RBARHE 0nF3/0B  AREMLF 50000%TT e/ 5BEREES
Hangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 April 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
asEE5ERAT - 2021 F4A9R ERERAT ARE10000007 HEBRRA/ hE
Gansu Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,17 May 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HBEEBHERAR hE - 02155 AI7R BERERAT ARE1,0000007C BEMIRE /8

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest

held by non

held by the Group  controlling interests
AEEREN FERERRE
Issued and fully LLL L 2BhRRE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ #12A318 m2A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BEARER
RY/ERRLER/ LERRA/

ARER BARAH TEREEY HRER | 0u4F | 203F | 0u4F | 203F EEEE/LE4Y
Indirectly held
BEEE
Shanghai Paqu Cultural & Creative The PRC, 21 May 2021 Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

Corp, Ltd.
HEEEUEERRAT RE01FSANA BREEAF AR 100000007 HEWINA/hE
Shijiazhuang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 June 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RREEBEHERLA RE 01568118 BREFAA ARE10000007 BEBIRA/HE
Anhui Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 15 June 2021 Limited liability company RIB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RHRAERESRRLA RE201F6A15R BREEAA ARES0000007 BERRRA/ 0
Qinghai Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 July 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BEEAEHERAA RE - 001%57A3R ERERAT ARE10000007 BERIRA/HE
Guangx Nanning Paqu Trading The PRC, 11 August 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

Co, Ltd.
BRRERAESARAT R@ - 021%58A118 AREMLAT NRE1,0000007T HERRTA/ R
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED Australia, 17 August 2021 Limited liability company ~ AUD 1,260,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/Australia
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED BARIE 20187178 EREALT 16000027 BERRRA/ BANE
Beijing Pop Mart Paradise Management  The PRC, 18 August 2021 Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 100% 100% - - Playground/The PRC

(o, Ltd.
PR AR ERERAA RE - 0158R 18R EREAAT ARE100000007C B45 /18
Pop Mart USA Inc. The USA, 27 August 2021 Limited liability company UsD20 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/USA
Pop Mart USA Inc. 8 01585 7R ERELF WET HEERNA /%28
POP MART UK LIMITED UK, 31 August 2021 Limited liability company GBP 10 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/UK
PO MART UK LIMITED AE 001587318 BRELAA 1055 HEBRRA /%8
Ningbo Wanxinhuigui Investment The PRC, 13 September 2021 Limited liability company ~ RMB100,000,000 100% 100% = - Investment/The PRC

Co, Ltd.
BRI BEREARAA R 2021597138 BREAAT AR#1000000007C RE /18
Wulumugi Pop Mart Trading Co,, Ltd. The PRC, 14 October 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BRRERNERESERAT RE 2015104148 EREEAR ARE10000007 BERRRA/ HE
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED New Zealand, 3 November 2021 Limited liability company NZD1 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/NEW ZEALAND
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED HEH 001511838 BREAAT By HEBTRA/ HER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 A B RARINERE (&)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest held by non

held by the Group  controlling interests
AEESEN FERERRT
Issued and fully LEL L 2HhRREE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December

Country/place and date of share capital/ m2A318 M2A318 Principal activities/place of

Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BERAR

R/ ERALER/ LERRLK/
kL BERAH EREREL HMER | 0% | 03%F | 04F | 0BF IEEE/SEE
Indirectly held
BEKE
Shanghai Paqu Technology Co,, Ltd. The PRC, 4 November 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Exhibition Business/The PRC
LEEANEARAA RE - 001%11A4R BREMAA ARB 10000007 RELH/HE
POP MART MACAU LIMITED MACAU, 22 November 2021 Limited liability company MOP 25,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/MACAU
POP MART MACAU LIMITED B 00511 AnA EREALT 5002M7T BERInA /85
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE.Ltd ~ Singapore, 14 December 2021 Limited liability company 5GD 6,080,001 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and sales of

pop toys/Singapore
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd 140138+ 2001128148 BREfELA 6,08000157 7T EHEERBERRTA / Fst
Nanjing Paqu Cultural & Creative Corp, ~ The PRC, 4 January 2022 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Customer service/The PRC
Ltd.
BREAXEZERAA RE 2051 A4R BREALT ARE10000007T EFRE/HE
POP MART SINGAPORE PTELTD. Singapore, 6 January 2022 Limited liability company §GD 4,000,000 100% 100% - - Yetto commence operations/
Singapore
POP MART SNGAPORE PTELTD., i - 202%1 A6 BRRERA 4000000370 HRRGEE/ HR
Beijing Yifu Trading Co, Ltd The PRC, 19 January 2022 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
tR-RHEARAA RE - 00F1B19R BREAAT ARE 10000007 BERARA /8
POP MART Americas Inc. USA, 27 January 2022 Limited liability company - 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/USA
POP MART Americas Inc. £0 00%1 878 BREfEAA - BERInA/ %8
POP MART KOREA Holdings CO, LTD. South Korea, 24 February 2022 Limited liability company  KRW3,100,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/South Korea
POP MART KOREA Holdings CO,LTD. %88 » 202052 A 248 BREFLA 3,1000000008E HEBRRA /%8
Shanghai Lingzuo Cultural & Creative The PRC, 18 April 2022 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
Corp, Ltd.

HERER K EIERRAR RE - 00F4R 188 ERERAT ARE100000070 HERRRA/ hE
Hainan Pop Mart Trading Co, LTD The PRC, 21 April 2022 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EROBERERRLA HE NNE4ANE BRELAA ARE1,0000007 HERITA/HE
POP MART TAIWAN Co,, LTD TAIWAN, 6 May 2022 Limited liability company TWD6,000,000 60% 60% 40% 40%  Sales of pop toys/TAIWAN
POP MART TAWAN Co, LTD 2 00%5 A6 BRELRA 6,00000037 2% BEMRmA/ At

POP MART
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17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest

held by non

held by the Group  controlling interests
AEESEN FERERRT
Issued and fully LEL L 2HhRREE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ m2A318 M2A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BERAR
R/ ERALER/ LERRLK/
kL BERAH EREREL HMER | 0% | 03%F | 04F | 0BF IEEE/SEE
Indirectly held
BEKE
Hangzhou Resonance Magic The PRC, 17 August 2022 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
Technology Co, Ltd.
MNEBEENEERAT RE 200488178 BRREAT ABRH1,0000007C HERRRE /T
POP MART FRANCE SASU FRANCE, 6 September 2022 Limited liability company EUR 1,000,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/FRANCE
POP MART FRANCE SASU HE 00F9A6R BREMAA 100000081 7T BEWINA /8
POP MART MALAYSIA SDN BHD MALAYSIA, 18 January 2023 Limited liability company MYR 2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/MALAYSIA
POP MART MALAYSIA SDN BHD BRES - 0351 A18A BREERA 2000000 BERIRA/ BRER
EREDLE
Neimenggu Paqu Trading Co, Ltd The PRC, 7 April 2023 Limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RELEEEHARAT RE03F4ATR ERERLT ARE10000007T BERRRA/HE
POP MART VIETNAM €O, LTD VIETNAM, 19 May 2023 Limited liability company USD100,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/VIETNAM
POP MART VIETNAM CO,LTD HE - 03E5A198 BREEAA 100000% 70 BERIRA /W
POP MART (THAILAND) COMPANY THAILAND, 29 June 2023 Limited liability company ~ THB 42,000,000 49% 49% 51% 51%  Sales of pop toys/THAILAND
LIMITED ("Pop Mart Thailand') (iv)
POP MART (THAILAND) COMPANY RE - 03E6AE BREEAA 4200000055 BEmInA /%8
LIMITED ([Pop Mart Thailand] ) (i)
Beijing Fushangfushang Technology The PRC, 10 July 2023 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
Co, Ltd
FRREREMEARLA RE - 0B3%7R10R BRERAT ARE10000007T BERRRA/ t
Beijing Limian Space Art and Culture The PRC, 24 July 2023 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% 100% = - Exhibition Business/The PRC
(o, Ltd.
PREREREERAA RE - 035F7R4R ERERAT ARE100000070 BELE /18
POP MART ITALY SRL. TALY, 9 August 2023 Limited liability company EUR 10,000 100% 100% = - Sales of pop toys/ITALY
POP WIART ITALY SRL. BATI 03%8 A9A BRERAT 1000087 BERRRA/EXH
Xinxiang Pop Mart Cultural & Creative The PRC, 28 August 2023 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% = - Customer service/The PRC
Corp, Ltd.
FBEXLABARAT HE - N3E8A8E BRELAA ARH1,0000007 ZFRE/ 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest

Ownership interest

held by non

held by the Group  controlling interests
AEEREN FEREERE
Issued and fully LLL L 2BhRRE
paid ordinary At 31 December At 31 December
Country/place and date of share capital/ #12A318 m2A318 Principal activities/place of
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity registered capital 2024 2023 2024 2023 operation
BEARER
AL/ ERALER/ LERRA/

ARER BERAH TEREEY HRER | 0u4F | 203F | 0u4F | 203F EEEE/LE4Y
Indirectly held
BERE
Pop Mart Netherlands B.V. Netherlands, 29 September 2023 Limited liability company EUR 100,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Netherlands
Pop Mart Netherlands BY. F# 03598298 BRELLT 10000084 7C BEBA /R
Shanghai Paguhuyu Technology Co, The PRC, 25 October 2023 Limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 - - - - Intemet technology

Ltd (‘Shanghai Paquhuyu’)(i) services/The PRC
PEEAERNAERAT ([ D88 B 03F10A5E EREMAA ARH100000007T ERBKITRE /e

EER) )
PT Pop Mart Indonesia (i) Indonesia, 25 January 2024 Limited liability company ~ IDR110,000,000 100% NA - NA Sales of pop toys/Indonesia
PT Pop Mart Indonesia i) 0 04515258 BEREMAT 1100000000 EELL NER MNIE  HEETHA/OR
Pop Mart Germany GmbH (i) Germany, 28 May 2024 Limited liability company EUR 700,000 100% NA - NA~ Sales of pop toys/Germany
Pop Mart Germany GmbH (i) =8 014ESAE BREERA 70000087 MR MIE  HERTIA/EE
Pop Mart Spain S.L. i) Spanish, 26 November 2024 Limited liability company EUR 3000 100% NA - NA~ Sales of pop toys/Spanish
Pop Mart Spain SL. (i) HIF 2004511 A 26 EREAAT 3000857 NER NER  BERTME/ BT
POP MART MIDDLE EASTTRADING LLC ~ Middle east, 27 August 2024 Limited liability company UAE 2,500,000 100% NA - NA Vet to commence operations/UAE

(i)
POP MART MIDDLE EASTTRADING LLC K+ 20458 A7 BREEAA 2500000 0 i TER  HARREE/

i) gtk Wil aERE
Liaoning Pop Mart Cultural & Creative ~ The PRC, 17 April 2024 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% NA - NA~ Sales of pop toys/The PRC

Co, Ltd (i)
EERRBEXLARARLA  FE 204F4A1R BREEAA ARHS0000007 0l TR HEERA/ 4
Tibet Paqu Trading Co, Ltd (il The PRC, 6 May 2024 Limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% NA - NA Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BREEE SRR R 200455 A 68 AREALT ARE1,00000070 T TER  HEHRmA/f
Sichuan Pop Mart Cultural & Creative The PRC, 20 May 2024 Limited liability company RMB,000,000 100% NA - NA Sales of pop toys/The PRC

Co, Ltd (i)
EiEaBeRAERRARm  FE 2045550 BREEAA ARHS0000007 0l TER  HEMA/ 4
Beijing Pop Mart Gift Cultural & Creative  The PRC, 8 July 2024 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% NA - NA~ Design and sales of pop toys/The

Co, Ltd (i) PRC
PRRBEXAEARARG)  RE - 0457 A8R BREAAT ARE 10000007 TR TR RAREERIRE /P
POP MART EASYFUN TECHNOLOGY PTE.  Singapore, 27 December 2024 Limited liability company SGD 200,000 100% NA - NA~ Yet to commence operations/

LTD. (i) Singapore
POP MART EASYFUN TECHNOLOGY PTE.  3Is% » 20144 12A278 BREEAA 2000008772 0 elii TER  HRRREE/FNR

LTD. (i)

POP MART
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17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

0]

(if)

(iiD)

(iv)

This subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprises with limited

liability established in Mainland China.

The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal ownership
in equity of Beijing Paquhuyu. Nevertheless, under certain
contractual arrangements entered into with the registered owners
of Beijing Paquhuyu, the Company, through one of its legally
owned subsidiaries, control Beijing Paquhuyu by way of controlling
the voting rights, governing its financial and operating policies,
appointing or removing the majority of the management of
the controlling authorities, and casting the majority of votes at
meetings of such authorities. Accordingly, the Group has rights to
exercise power over Beijing Paquhuyu, receives variable returns
from its involvement in Beijing Paquhuyu, and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over Beijing Paquhuyu. As a
result, Beijing Paquhuyu and its subsidiary, Shanghai Paquhuyu, are

presented as structured entities of the Company.

Registered during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Management has concluded that the Group controls Pop Mart
Thailand as the Group is entitled to a majority of the voting rights
in the shareholders’ meeting as well as the board of directors of
Pop Mart Thailand where, according to the articles of association, a
simple majority votes is required to determine the matters relating

to the relevant activities of Pop Mart Thailand.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

(i)

(if)

ZM B R B RET B AR
BERREMEDRE -

ARBLBEEXKEERILREBE
R HEBARZERE -EEMWM
b REEIERAEBRERELHER A
AUNETANRYE KRR RA
BEBRANNBRARBBENRE
B REEVBRELERE  ZEX
REREZEHEIBPINKILLERE
B ARRBEEBPINEELITRE
BEBRERE - EMmESERERE
R At - AREEREILERESBE
RITEES - 2RI REBEIRES
AEDR - BAENERE IR
BERZENZEZFER - At
IERAEBRE IR E I E A F) L&
BRIERARRINGEEERZT -

HZE2024F 12831 HIEFEER -

BERESLER  AEBE¥Pop Mart
Thailand B1E I - BAKREEBELE
Pop Mart Thailand MR R KA RES
eFHAZHEFORE  MEBEHEGE
T24HAY - HETE EPop Mart Thailand 878
EE BN EETEMELHZAM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

(iv)

POP MART

(continued)

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution of Pop Mart Thailand
dated 4 November 2024, the Group and one of the non-controlling
shareholders agreed to inject additional capital of THB114.84 million
and THB83.16 million in Pop Mart Thailand, respectively. Pop Mart
Thailand had received advance payments in an aggregate amount
of THB174.8 million in relation to the capital injection prior to 31
December 2024, among which the advance payment received from
non-controlling interest amounting to THB83.16 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB17.7 million) was recorded in other payables
(Note 31) in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
2024. The capital injection was completed in March 2025, upon
which the capital of Pop Mart Thailand had increased from THB42
million to THB240 million, and the Group’s ownership interest in
Pop Mart Thailand had increased from 49% to 56.425%. At the
same time, following the completion of the capital injection, the
Group purchased 1.575% ownership interest in Pop Mart Thailand
from one of the non-controlling shareholders in March 2025. Upon
completion of the share purchase, the Group’s ownership interest
in Pop Mart Thailand had increased from 56.425% to 58%.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end

of the year.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

17 RIB A RINRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

(iv)

(&)

HBIHEPop Mart Thailand 2024411 A
ABRRRABER  AEBRHEP —
HIFERBRREBEE D B MPop Mart
ThailandZB9MNEE114.84 B EFH K
8316 B E Tk - FE2024F 12 A31 H
Bl * Pop Mart Thailand B Ug Z 2 1t )X
FEBBMBARA 1748 8%
8k K IR R S IR TR AT
MB8l6ABRLK (HERVARE 177
BEIT)R2024F 12 A31 ANEAE
EAFERNHMERNKE AR (M
31) o JEER2025F3 A5ERK + BE&Pop
Mart Thailand )& AR# 42 H & F k1%
INZE2408 %8 - NEETEPop Mart
Thailand BV FT B & 1E49%E N E
56.425% o B EIR - X ETTAIE
AEBMR2025F3 B HP —FIEE
A% A% B EE B Pop Mart Thailand#91.575%
FiERER RNBETKE &%
E7EPop Mart Thailand B FT A RERE RS 1
56.425%35 MNZE58% ©

BEM B QRN ERBITEAERSE



17 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2024 amounted
to RMB201,134,000 (As at 31 December 2023: RMB10,455,000). No

subsidiary has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

(c) The English name of the subsidiaries are direct translation.

18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD

Management is of the view that none of the Group's joint ventures and

associates is individually material to the Group as at 31 December 2024.

The movements of the carrying amount of investments in joint ventures

and associates (which also includes the aggregate information of the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 A B RARINERE (&)
(b) FEIZ=RRAERR

2024512 A31 0 - SEIERERBERA
R#201,134,0007T (7A20235F 12 A31H = A
R#10,455,00070) - BEM B AR E ¥
REBEBEANIETERER -

() MEBRARRIER/EEE -

18 E AR EAIRINIRE

R2024F 128318  ERERAEAREES
ERERBEARENMEEAERTE
ERX - REETPENBERREENER

DE)(BEAEEEIAE2ZEERER
Group's individually immaterial joint ventures and associates) are as BN T H A HHARD 10T -
follows:
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBEFTT
Opening balance as at 1 January B ATVBRF SR 107,001 83,333
Elimination of downstream profit BT R I 8 (2,016) (1,361)
Share of profit for the year 45 F A& A 48,188 33,229
REGEPENR—
Dividends from joint ventures and an associate BN o (18,001) (8,860)
Currency translation difference BmEE 1,611 660
Ending balance as at 31 December R12A31 BN EREGEE 136,783 107,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Details of the Group's joint ventures and associate as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

% of ownership interest

18 FHAERZEZARNKRE #)

M20249F % 2023F 12 A31H » REEHE
BHENEBENRFBIO TR

Carrying amounts of the investment

Place of EREREENEA L REREE
business/ As at 31 December As at 31 December
country of R12A318 Principal Nature of the Measurement 127318
Company name incorporation 2024 2023 activities relationship method 2024 2023
EELEYE
ARER RIER W4E WBE TEER BHE HERE W4E ABE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart ~ The PRC 52% 52 Salesof poptoys  Joint Venture Equity method 44269 47909
Co, Ltd. ('Nanjing Pop Mart")
ERCENRERHEARAR TE 52% % HEMEmE  aEhX A
(Ereass])
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD.  Singapore 50% 50%  Salesofpoptoys  Joint Venture Equity method 52,159 NAN
(‘Singapore Pop’)
POP MART SOUTH ASIAPTELTD.  #A1% 50% 0% HEERRE  AEGE Ly
([ Singapore Pop))
How2work Limited Hong Kong 25% 2%  Designandsales  Associate Equity method 20835 2434
of pop toys
How2work Limited B 25% X% RihEE YN R
ARma
DANNITOYS (LONGCHUAN) €O, The PRC 10% 10%  Manufacture of toys — Associate Equity method 19520 15,187
LTD. (‘Danni’) i)
ARTA (B ERAR hE 10% 0% BEA BELAT s
(A0

(i) Although the Group’s shareholding in Danni is less than 20%, the
Group is able to exercise significant influence over Danni by virtue
of its contractual right to appoint director to the board of directors

of Danni under its Articles of Association.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

(a) Deferred tax assets

The balance of deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences

attributable to:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 IEFEFTBH
(a) EEEMIEEE

BEEMBEEAHBERERNLEER  HB
)N

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Lease liabilities MEAE 241,140 194,438
Tax losses HiEEE 40,163 56,725
Impairment losses VRN SE 11,292 6,762
Accrued expenses, unrealised profit on FERTRIY - SEIMBEER
intra-group sales and others BN RN SR B 102,218 8,260
Total deferred tax assets EEHEEEHAE 394,813 266,185
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities (b) HIHREFIEB E () (247,784) (182,769)
Net deferred tax assets EEBIEEEFE 147,029 83,416
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Deferred income tax assets: BEERSHEE !
- to be recovered within 12 months — &R 1218 A AL E 121,900 59,432
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — R ERE1 218 A B Uk [E 25,129 23,084
147,029 83,416
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) Deferred tax assets (continued)

The movement is deferred income tax assets during the period, without

19 IEEFREH (&)
(a) IEIEFHIBEE (&)
REH A — BT BAHE R 7O B A5 B 4

taking into consideration the offsetting of the balances within the same HMIRIEFT S EENZ e T
tax jurisdiction, is as follow:
Accrued
expenses,
unrealised
profit on
intra-group
Impairment Lease sales and
losses  Taxlosses liabilities others Total
FESHBAS: -
EEBHE
REREF
RESE HESR 2 HERE RHEAM st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTR AR®TR AR¥TR
As at 1 January 2024 RM2024F1A1H 6,762 56,725 194,438 8,260 266,185
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated ~ F4RAEZE M EM
statement of profit or loss and other 2EMSRTA S
comprehensive income (k) 4,530 (16,562) 46,702 93,958 128,628
As at 31 December 2024 72024%12831H 11,292 40,163 241,140 102,218 394,813
As at 1 January 2023 ®2023F1H1AR 4,617 63,066 185,283 4,275 257,241
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated ~ FARA B R EM
statement of profit or loss and other 2EMSERFA S
comprehensive income (#0k%) 2,145 (6,341) 9,155 3,985 8,944
As at 31 December 2023 RN2023%F12831H 6,762 56,725 194,438 8,260 266,185

The Group only recognises deferred income tax assets for cumulative
tax losses if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those tax losses. Management will continue to assess the
recognition of deferred income tax assets in future reporting periods. As
of 31 December 2024, the Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of RMB145,000 (2023: RMB1,090,000) in respect of cumulative tax
losses amounting to RMB580,000 (2023: RMB4,360,000). These tax losses
will expire from 2025 to 2029.

p2: 0 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEp S @A R A &

REBEENRRAIGEA R KBRS A F)
PR IE SRR 3t R 5 B8 BB R RIRE A
SHEE EREHEETHRRBREH
MAEEMSHEERRBR - HE2024
F12A318 - AEEWEMRFRIBEEE
AR ¥580,0007T (20234 + AR 4,360,000
TT) BRIRIE TS I E E AR 145,000
(20234 : AR®1,090,00070) ° ZEFHIE
1R 70 2025 F 2 2029 S| Bf -




19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 IEEFREH (&)
(b) ELEFIEEE

The balance of deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences

attributable to:

BEERBREAREREREER  HB

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets EREEE 231,889 182,769
Fair value changes of investments in financial assets & Bt & ERE N FEET) 15,895 14,419
Total deferred tax liabilities EEHRESEEE 247,784 197,188
Set off of deferred tax liabilities IR EREAE (247,784) (182,769)
Net deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEETFE = 14,419
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFT
Deferred income tax liabilities: ELEFEHREE:
— to be settled within 12 months — R 12ERARNEH = 2,104
— to be settled after more than 12 months — R 12ERRESE = 12,315
- 14,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

19 IEEFREH (&)
(b) IEIEFIBEE (&)

HE2024F K2023F12A31HILFEH
F - BEMSHEENESIT

Fair value
changes of
Right-of-use investments in
assets financial assets Total
SREERE
EREEE DR EZE FoEy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTR AR¥TR
As at 1 January 2024 M2024F1R1H 182,769 14,419 197,188
Debited to the consolidated statement of PR ERkEMEE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income W&k 49,120 1,476 50,596
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%12831H 231,889 15,895 247,784
As at 1 January 2023 7202351818 176,264 15,120 191,384
Debited/(credited) to the consolidated statement of R4rA Bz MEMEE
profit or loss and other comprehensive income W &R (GtA) 6,505 (701) 5,804
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12831H 182,769 14,419 197,188

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5




20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

20 B 5 BUWRE

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Trade receivables (a) B S EWRIE )
— Third parties —%=H 442,605 237,437
- Related parties (Note 36(e)) LG EENO)) 44,033 91,219
Subtotal et 486,638 328,656
Less: provision for impairment allowance (b) B RE R (b) (8,915) (7,319)
Total trade receivables BESEWFIEATE 477,723 321,337

(@) For trade receivables from retail store sales, roboshop sales and
online sales, the amounts are usually settled in cash, by credit/
debit cards or through online payment platforms. For wholesale
transactions, trade receivables are settled within the credit terms as
agreed in sales contracts. The majority of these wholesalers are with
credit terms of 30 to 90 days. Certain customers with good history
and long-term relationship are extended preferential credit terms of

up to 180 days.

HRETEEHE BBEAFEHE
R EHENBSEIFKEMES © %
ERHEBEURS  EHRF A ERLF
SRBREINTEEE - BALHER
SmME  BIEWRERBEEESENH
THWEEHRRNEE - KBOZEIHE
ARHEEHAI0E0K - BERITE
ERERAEENE TRFERE%180
ROEREEEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) (continued)
An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is

as follows:

20 EZEWFEE (2)

(a)

(&

REZAHNE ZERZTENER S
M :

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARMBETTT
Within 3 months 3ME AR 472,557 311,485
3 months to 6 months 3MEAZE6EA 9,752 12,523
Over 6 months 61E A A E 4,329 4,648
Total et 486,638 328,656

(b) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Note 3.1 provides for details about the

calculation of the allowance.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate

risk can be found in Note 3.1.

Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as

follows:

(b)

AEBERAEREBEHREENFERE
AT ERMEREEBRE - L iy
BB SEEFIAER 2 BEYNER
B o M3 R ARR BT E R

I o
FHE S BUGRIERAENRANEER
FREVfE B R B - SNE B K R X R g
BER - FLRWEE3 -

B 5 RN REREZESMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®ET T AREFTT

As at 1 January R1A1H 7,319 7,291
Provision for impairment allowance SRE B 1,596 28
As at 31 December M12H831H 8,915 7,319
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(0

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

20 EZEWFEE (2)

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies: (© ZHEWFIBATIIEEE
As at 31 December
M®12A31H

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®EF T
RMB AR 221,489 173,058
TWD MRk 75,212 30,436
HKD BIT 48,481 44,124
usb ETT 36,191 4,273
SGD T 25,396 21,811
JPY Hit 21,379 23,060
IDR Efe& 17,163 -
Others EHfth 32,412 24,575
477,723 321,337
Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying (d) ERNEZERZENESEHME - HER

amounts are considered to be reasonable approximations of their

fair values.

=Z =[5 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EEMRRAEENFERIERSE

POP MART

291



292

POP MART

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21 AN FIRE R H R IR

As at 31 December

R®12A31H
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETTT
Deposits for lease (i) HEZE() 282,842 248,841
Prepayments for design fees TEfTERET B RIE 100,578 118,394
Prepayments for inventories A ERIE 97,218 79,342
Recoverable value-added tax and other taxes AU E R 2 B B 18 85,748 33,364
Prepayments for advertising and marketing expense JBIESE MHiEE 24,369 15,632
Prepayments for short-term leases and TSR EEEEIA
property management fees 28,663 25,625
Staff advances and other payments for employees & 8 BN M Hith /8 B 7Kk 16,705 14,108
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment TR - BE K& HEHFIE 10,449 8,465
Others Hth 66,585 51,779
Total e 713,157 595,550
Less: prepayments and other receivables- W EMREREMERRIE -
non-current portion FREIBH
Deposits for lease (i) HEZ () (126,114) (119,524)
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment TERME - BEMEERE (10,449) (8,465)
(136,563) (127,989)
Prepayments and other receivables- A RRIE R H e R E —
current portion BN 576,594 467,561

(i)  The deposits for leases are mainly denominated in RMB, KRW, HKD, (i)

THB, GBP and USD.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21 FEfZERHEMEKRRIE #)

(continued)

Movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables is as HAb EUGRIBRERENZ ST

follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3ALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

As at 1 January R1A1H 2,885 2,168
Provision for impairment allowance RE R 1,850 717
As at 31 December M12A31H 4,735 2,885
For the current portion of other receivables, the carrying amounts are R E At B IE R BN B ) 0 R BRI S -
considered to be reasonable approximations of their fair values, due to HIFEERR AEA N ESEMBESE

their short-term nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 INVENTORIES

22 FE

As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Merchandise (a) 7 ah(a) 1,556,041 921,796
Less: provision for impairment (b) W BB (b) (31,520) (17,088)
Total 5T 1,524,521 904,708

(@) The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to
approximately RMB3,474,213,000 and RMB2,042,672,000, for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

(b) Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by which

the carrying amount of inventories exceeds its net realisable value

and was recorded in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The provision

for impairment of inventory amount to RMB14,432,000 and
RMB8,016,000 for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,

respectively.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

(a)

HZE2024F %2023 12A31 B ILE
B BRAMEEKNANEBEAES R
DB ANRY3,474,213,0007T B A RE
2,042,672,0007T ©

REECEEHEBLHATZRFEY
PHRERRERE Vit AGeER
REM2EKEEROIEEKAR] - B
E2024F R2023F12A3HIEFE -
FERERED R HARE 14,432,000
TR ARS,016,0007T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH B EAFEFTAEENEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
20246 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARET T
Current assets REEE
- Listed equity securities-stock (a) — FTRAES - B () 11,434 8415
Non-current assets FRBEE
~ Investment in associates measured at FVPL (b) —BATEGABZAREE A RNIRE b 189,222 227,477
- Other unlisted investments (c) — Ef3E EMRE (0 41,597 48133
- Private equity fund investments - EREESKE 181,061 196,159
Subtotal Nt 411,880 471,769
Total @st 423,314 480,184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

POP MART

The fair values of the listed securities are determined based on the closing
prices quoted in active markets. They are accounted for using their fair values
based on quoted market prices (level 1: quoted price (unadjusted) in active
markets) without any deduction for transaction costs.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has invested in certain unlisted
companies. The Group exercises significant influence over these associated
companies by virtue of its contractual right to appoint director to the board
of directors of these investees. In addition, the Group has the preferential
right pursuant to which the investees may be required to redeem the shares
held by the Group at guaranteed predetermined amount upon certain
events which are out of control of the investees. Hence these investments
are accounted for as debt instruments and are recognised as financial assets
measured at FVPL.

The Group does not have significant influence over these investees and
these investments are recognised as financial assets measured at FVPL.

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are mainly
denominated in RMB.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

ZRAFEFABZENERMEE

(%)

(a)

ETESF R FETREERTES MR E
BE - EMESRERTSRE (R &
BT ME CREHE)) HRAFEAR - R
R ERR SR -

2024124318 - AEBREREFIEL
MAR - AEBMAEAEBANEFZEZER
BREFESENES  HZEHEQRES
BAYEN - I AEEHREZERIR
BRI E R S e BRI
BHNBAETHRECHEERNALERSE
K2 - At - ZSREAREEBH L
ARERABEAFEFABENSREE -

AEEHZERRANT L BEAZES - %
SEREEARBBAFEFTABRENSRE
o

RATEHABENSBAETBUARK
A -

RIBRHERN SRR

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R AREETT

Fair value change on listed equity securities-stock ETRAES - RENQTEEES 2,342 (4,259)

Fair value change investment in associates BAFEFABEOREEQEM

measured at FVPL BRERNTEEH (38,255) (4,331)
Fair value change on other unlisted investments HEaEEmRENAFEE (6,536) 2,778

Fair value change on private equity fund investments FLERIEESIREN A FEES) (6,525) (4,993)
Fair value change on WMPs B ERNAFEZS 25,592 16,916
Total st (23,382) 6,111

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FE MR MEE
24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24 BERREEEY
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR¥ETTT
Cash at banks and cash in hand RITHRERFERS
Denominated in FHEEE
- uUsD — %7t 4,664,377 4,199,104
- RMB - AR% 3,016,112 1,345,767
- THB — Rk 514,559 43,546
- HKD — BT 482,848 101,443
-SGD — ¥t 256,263 54,753
- JPY — BT 108,882 13,118
- EUR — BT 105,023 13,235
- AUD — Rt 100,800 74,106
- MOP — JBPIE 75,676 38,672
~ KRW — &L 73,033 44,432
- TWD — ek 58,607 24,884
- GBP — W 49,622 7,534
- IDR —EfEE 44,720 -
- Others —Hitp 95,287 20,854
Less: o
Restricted cash 2R IR &
- pledged for letter of credits — BHEAEERR (25,649) (18,159)
Term deposits with initial terms over three TR BB =E A ER
months and within one year (i) —ERNHEEIFER) (3,511,143) (3,885,362)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEY 6,109,017 2,077,927
(i)  As at 31 December 2024, the balance includes the accrued interests for (i) F2024F 128318 © B BEVRBRESA
term deposits with initial terms over three months and within one years =EAER—FRNTERTROESTFEA
amounting to RMB125,874,000 (as at 31 December 2023: RMB140,786,000). R#125,874,0007T (20238128318 + AR
The effective interest rate of these term deposits ranges from 4.41%-5.25% #140,786,0007T) © Bt E2024F 12 A31HIE
per annum for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: 2.03%-5.52%). FE ZEEHEZNERFNER441%
£5.25% (20234F : 2.03%ZE552%) °
The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies s\ RS E MR IR AN . DR
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank AL EBNRTESRESELRE
balances and cash out of Mainland China are subject to relevant rules PO - AZE B S R B BT AE A M NE B )
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the #7548 81 48451 o
government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES 25 BRAREFR
Authorised: EE
Nominal value
Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares shares
EBERHE EBEREE
usD’000
FER
Ordinary shares of US$0.0001 each BiREi#EAR0.00013ETT
On 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 31 F2023%F1 H1H ~ 20234
December 2024 12A31B&2024%12A831H 5,000,000,000 500

Movements in issued and fully paid ordinary shares are as follows:

EEHTRBREBRESMNT

Carrying value of

Number of Nominal value Nominal value Number of  treasury shares
ordinary of ordinary of ordinary treasury (included in other
shares shares shares shares reserves) (Note 27)
ERRREE
(FrARfRE)
ZERBE TEREE LTEREE EFREA (F¥aE27)
UsD'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Fxn ARWTR ARBTR
At 1 January 2023 R2023F181H 1,380,540,550 139 908 (12,950,400) (186,395)
Purchase of own shares (i) BEEHRNMO - - - (19,947,000) (333,709)
Cancellation of repurchased shares (i) T HEE R R 17 (i) (32,297,400) (3) (23) 32,297,400 509,636
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 1,348,243,150 136 885 (600,000) (10,468)
Purchase of own shares (i) BEE IR - - - (4,700,000) (78031)
Cancellation of repurchased shares (ii) SEEHEE 7 BRAA (i) (5,300,000) (0.5) (3) 5,300,000 88,499
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 1,342,943,150 135 882 - -

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company acquired
4,700,000 ordinary shares of the Company (2023: 19,947,000
ordinary shares) through purchases on the open market. The
total amount paid to acquire the shares during the year was
HKD85,826,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB78,031,000) (2023:
HKD370,688,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB333,709,000)).

pAs1 3 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr s EAR A &

REBZE2024F12A318LEFE » ZAFE
BARTISEEIE A4,700,000 AR E)E
A (20234 19,947,000 8 L @AX) - F
WA AR M R 4$ %8 585,826,000
BT (FHE R AR 78,031,0007T) (2023
& :370,688,0008 T (HMERHVARK
333,709,0007T) ) °




25 SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES

(continued)

Particulars of the shares repurchased during the year ended 31

December 2024 are as follows:

No. of Shares

Month of Repurchase L AEPEE) Repurchase
e

R EE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

25 RAREFR @)

HZE204F 12831 HILEE - BOKGH

BERBENT
Aggregate
Consideration
Price Paid per Share (HKD)

BRXM BRE GBI

Highest (HKD) Lowest (HKD)
B=E(EL) &EE(GET)

January 1A 3,890,000 19.96 17.00 71,168,524
February 2R 810,000 18.46 17.62 14,657,964
Total “et 4,700,000 85,826,488

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company cancelled
5,300,000 repurchased shares. As a result, the Company recognised a
debit to share capital of USD530 (equivalent to RMB3,766), a debit to
share premium (included in other reserves) of RMB88,496,000 and a
credit to treasury shares (included in other reserves) of RMB88,499,000
(Note 27).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company cancelled
32,297,000 repurchased shares. As a result, the Company recognised
a debit to share capital of USD3,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB23,000), a debit to share premium (included in other reserves)
of RMB509,613,000 and a credit to treasury share (included in other
reserves) of RMB509,636,000 (Note 27).

(i)

MNEZE2024F12A31 B IEFEE - KAAF
$45,300,000 IRHE Bl 2 & 1n o Bt - AR F]
R A Z 3530k T (HHER ARMS,766
TL) c BROEEIHE GrAEMREE) AR
88,496,000 7T & EE1F AR ABR (Bt A E AL )
AR #88499,0007T (FiaE27) e

REZE2023F12A31BILEE - KRAFF
$432,297,000 & @ 2 15 o Bt - RAF]
R ANZ 43,000% 7T (HERDARE
23,00070) ~ B HEELHE (FFAE M)
AR#509,613,0007C REFBRAR (GFAH
1) AR #509,636,0007T (H5E27) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

26 B RMRBFEFEHRSD

As at 31 As at 31 As at 31 As at 31
December December December December
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 20234 2024 F #2023
12A31H 12H31H 12A31H 12A31H
Shares Shares RMB RMB
%) W tn AR T ARBT
Shares held for Share Award Scheme of ~ FLAR{7 28E)ET BIFTIS &%
US$0.0001 each 0.0001 5= TTHY AR 17 14,781,511 18,384,576 9,374 11,936

These shares are held by the Group's Share Award Trust for the purpose
of issuing shares under the Group's Share Award Scheme (see Note 28

for further information).

AREEBNRDEEETHED
M AEREBERNEENR G EEEZETRG
(E— B RWE28) °

ZE R B

Number of

shares RMB

Details E3H BRHOEBE AR®T

Balance at 1 January 2023 A2023F1 A1 AW ER 20,663,762 13,524
Shares vested under the Share Award Scheme BB B ET 2 55 8 MR (D

(Note 28) (F7E28) (2,279,186) (1,588)

Balance at 31 December 2023 7A2023F 12 A31 AR 18,384,576 11,936
Shares vested under the Share Award Scheme BRI (0 22BN AT 2157 /B M I (9

(Note 28) (F7E28) (3,603,065) (2,562)

Balance at 31 December 2024 M2024F12 A31 B EER 14,781,511 9,374

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBMRME
27 OTHER RESERVES 27 Hib s
(a) Other reserves movement of the Group (a) NEEMEMFHEES
Share-based
Share Capital Statutory  Translation compensation Treasury
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves shares Total
DY
RERH
R EE ERfiE LR ERffE B BER @t

RMB000 RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
AR®Tn  ARBTR ARRTR AR®TR ARRTR  ARMTx  ARMTx

Asat 1 January 2024 ®2024F1818 11,304,842 (7,383,710) 78,816 332,576 116,392 (10,468) 4,438,448
Currency translation difference ERAEER - = s 144,344 - - 144,344
Dividends declared ERRE (373,025) - - - - - (373,025)
Appropriation to statutory reserves  EAEE B - - 53,974 - - = 53,974
Purchase of own shares (Note 25)  EIEEE F k(A (i 25) - - - - - (78,031) (78,031)
Cancellation of repurchased shares st $AEIERRR (A (FiTsE2s)

(Note 25) (88,496) - - - - 88,499 3
Share vested under the Share Awerd  TRIER Y B EIHEMR N

Scheme 101,338 - - - (101,341) - 3)
Share-based compensation expenses  bABk(D BERARIE - - - - 94,817 - 94,817
Balance at 31 December 2024 #2024F 12431 B SR 10,944,659 (7,383,710) 132,790 476,920 109,868 - 4,280,527
Asat 1 January 2023 W2023E181A 11,844,909 (7,382,159) 57,721 257452 101,509 (186,395) 4,693,043
Currency translation difference ERBEER - - - 75,124 - - 75,124
Dividends declared ERRE (117317) - - - - - (117317)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests {8 —RIMB A F3EARER

on a subsidiary - (1,551) - - - - (1551)
Appropriation to statutory reserves B AEE R - - 21,089 - - - 21089
Purchase of own shares (Note 25 ELEE B &A1 (Bi3525) - - - - - (333,709 (333,709)
Cancellation of repurchased shares  sE A EIERAR (A (fitE25)

(Note 25) (509613) - - - - 509,636 23
Share vested under the Share Award  IRIERR () 22B15 T2

Scheme GBORY 86,863 - - - (86,865) - 2
Share-based compensation expenses  JAIRTD BEBMRHE % - - - - 101,748 - 101,748
Balance at 31 December 2023 RABF12A3IABEE 11304842 (7383710) 78816 332576 116392 (10468) 4438448
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(@) Other reserves movement of the Group (Continued)

(i) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC,
when distributing the net profit of each year, the Group shall set
aside 10% of its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated losses from
prior years) for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the

reserve balance has reached 50% of the paid-in capital).

Statutory reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase

the paid-in capital after approval from the appropriate authorities.

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company adopted the Share Award Scheme on 24 July 2020
with a duration of 10 years commencing from the adoption date. The
objective of the Share Award Scheme is to align the interests of selected
participants with those of the Group and to encourage and retain
selected participants to make contributions to the long-term growth

and profits of the Group.

Under the Share Award Scheme, Pop Mart Partner Limited (the “Share
Award Trust”) was established in British Virgin Islands on 7 May 2020.
As the financial and operational policies of the Share Award Trust are
governed by the Group, and the Group benefits from the Share Award
Trust's activities, the Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's

financial statements as a special purpose entity.

The aggregate number of restricted share unit (the "RSU") will not
exceed 10% shares without shareholders” approval subject to an annual
limited of 5% of the total number of issued shares as at the date of

adoption.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

27 HiufEeE &)
() AEBEWEMEEES (&)

() EERE
RBEFEBREEIERNRE - 2
FERFEAMNE  REDBXENS
BRAPBEFHRAEERER  AK
B e R EUEL R TS BRI R A 10%1E /B
EERBRES ERBBEHRDEIE
BEARBS0%AIBRSIN) o

BEGIEEREMR ZEERETH
RBAEERIEMEHER -

28 LARR 17 5 E 1 59 2R A

AR FR20204F7 A 24 BRI 2R =
- BRMBHRAR0F - MK EEE
ElZEMDNEET2EENTREALRER
FRREFE—B ZERKRBETL2EER
AEERREREFELER -

RIEAE (5 2B ET &) - Pop Mart Partner
Limited ([ B {7 BBENEFE 1) 70202065 A7 B
ERBHERFEEKL - ARKRG EZEET
WBREEREIAEEETRE - BAE
ERRHEBELENESHP IR - KK
REETIRAEBUBEREREE ARAR
HEMERS -

EARERRIAT - KRGO EL ([F
PR B B |) BB & HTSEBE10%HI X
n o WRNERA BB BTN AE5%H
FERERR -



28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to
issue 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share Award
Trust for nil consideration in relation to the Share Award Scheme. The
above issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the RSU
held by the Share Award Trust was recorded as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the RSU are vested
or cancelled. The number of shares under the Share Award Scheme
have been changed to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue on 11
December 2020.

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, the Group has granted RSUs
to selected participants which include employees of the Group and
third-party vendors with various vesting schedules and conditions as
described below. Once the vesting conditions of the respective RSUs
are met, the RSU are considered duly and validly issued to the selected

participants at nil consideration, and free of restrictions on transfer.

The above granted RSUs have various vesting schedules including:

Certain RSUs shall be fully vested immediately on the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 78th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 90th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 300th day

following the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 365th day

following the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 3 years, with
35% of granted RSUs vested 300 days after the grant date, 50% of
granted RSUs vested one year after the first vesting point, and the
remaining 15% of granted RSUs vested one year after the second

vesting point;

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

28 IR BERAERM =)

720207 H248 « ARBESBSEHANUT
RERARG EEE 3172442873 AR A
LR - ARRMDEEEMNEEEE -
M EITER 20207 A28 B ¢
A& 15 B2 B 1= ST 15 8 B0 X2 PR 1 AR 19 B8 1 51 AR
B, ZEE BB RD | - Wi
HHRHR - EEXRBIRMDEMFBHT
o R2020F 12 AN BEREITE - B
MERENETEI TN BEE 524,428,730
Hﬁ °

RIBE D REFE - AEEMEEL2EE
(BRAEBERERBERE=TTHER) KD
HEHRMEL - WHE T EE
BEBERRMGE - RGO ELH
BB —&ED - RGO EASEK
BREZREEARBUETTECLHE
% BEIEEERRS -

EREEEERHBHENRBEEES
TR - B

BT EBREBIB D B RE L BRI
EHFE

ETZRBBHEMRELBHES
78 AE—HREE

ETZRHBRMDEMRIKREBEES
HNE—HIREE

ETZRHBRMEMRIKREBEES
300 A AE —HREFE ¢

ETZERHBRMECARIKREBEES
365 AAE —HLRERE ¢

ETEXRHBRNDEMNFEBRHERLY
AB3F - BEFR3S%EREEZBHI RGN E
AR BB E30088RE  50%02
BRHZREIRMDEMRE R FBEE
—FHBE BT 15% 0 REZRHRG
BRAREZRGRBME—F5HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

28 IR HERAERM )

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 300 days,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested on the 90th day following the
grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs vested upon
the maturity of the entire vesting period;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 50% of granted
RSUs vested on the second anniversary of the grant date, 25% of
granted RSUs vested on the third anniversary of the grant date,
and the remaining 25% of granted RSUs vested on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 45 months,
with 25% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 9th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 75% of granted RSUs
vested in 3 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of
36 months;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 25% of granted
RSUs vested on every anniversary of the grant date over the vesting
period;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 47 months,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 23th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs
vested in 2 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of
24 months.

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 3 years, with 25% of
granted RSUs vested on the first anniversary of the grant date, 50%
of granted RSUs vested on the second anniversary of the grant
date, and the remaining 25% of granted RSUs vested on the third
anniversary of the grant date; and

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 3 years, with 25% of granted
RSUs shall be fully vested immediately on the grant date, and the
remaining 75% of granted RSUs vested in 3 equal installments over
the remaining vesting period of 36 months;

ATSZREBOHEMNFEBERERY
A3008 B 50%E B HZ RS
BURBRLAMHBEIORRE M
Tso%E&ﬁxﬁE%HHﬂ“““'uﬁ‘JEAWI
SEEHE R E

ETERHBRNDEMNFEBRERD
B4E - EFR50% 0 &SRSG5 E
UAREAPE—FBFARE - 25%
EERHZEHBROEMCHIEHBEHE
ZEBEFERE - M T25% B RET
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FHEB

ATZREBHEMNFERERY
B4s@A - ESEP25%E&&§[SE%IJH%}
BEUREEBBEEIEARES
ﬁ%T75%E?ﬁxﬁE%\Jﬂ%‘““uﬁWﬁ%
T36ERFEHRANDIBEEEE

ETRRGROBELNEBERRRRS
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SESREE NN EAFHER

ATZRHBHEMNFEBERERY
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BANRKREABESE2BEAREE -
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ETERBRDECNEBERERA3

F o EH25%0 & RGN EAR

ROBHNEEAEFRRE S0t X
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ERAFHRE  MA T2 REZR

i B 1 ALY IR H B EY 58 = (EIA
HEB : &

ETSREBOEMNEBEEFRE A3
F “‘EPZS%E&ﬁxBE%\JHxP“uEA
Et =R R C TR 75%E
Tw“jxﬁE%IJfo““uHIJEAﬁé%T%fI)EJ
SEANIHISES

R EEXRBBIRMANAELE  BESE
HEHEEETAE o UMD BER R
MR RS TARE  URBRRAE GG
MER]

Evaluations are made as of each reporting period to assess the likelihood
of vesting conditions being met. Share-based compensation expenses
are then adjusted to reflect the revision of original estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

28 IR HERAERM )

EREZREMNBRODEMCEE RABATE
EHMT :

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

Movements in the number of RSUs granted and related fair value are as

follow:

Years ended at 31 December

BZ12A3ALEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Average fair Average fair
value per Number value per Number
share of shares share of shares
SBFHY BIRFH
AFE RGEE NFE abard=
(RMB) (Thousands) (RMB)  (Thousands)
(AR¥TT) (F®) | (AR¥T) (F1&%)
Opening balance as at 1 January M1 A1BNEDER 24.63 10,609 43.12 4,343
Granted & 36.09 909 19.21 8,758
Vested 5B 28.03 (3,603) 38.1 (2,279)
Forfeited KR 26.66 (702) 34.43 213)
Ending balance as at 31 December 12831 BMERLEER 24.18 7,213 24.63 10,609

There were no RSUs expired during the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

The fair value of the granted RSUs was calculated based on the market

price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant date.

As the Group will receive employment or service of these employees in
exchange for the grant of RSUs, share-based compensation expenses
in respect of the employee services received is to be recognised as
expenses over the vesting period. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by the fair value of the RSUs and taking into account the
number of RSUs that are expected to be vested. The total expenses
charged to the profit and loss for RSUs granted to the Group's employees
under the Share Award Scheme are RMB94,817,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: RMB101,748,000).

=Z =[5 ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HZE 2024 K 2023F 12831 B IEFEE - 1
BRI BN DR

ERBZRHIB N ELHRFEDREAR
RAPOHREEREAMNTHEFE -

A 7N B B 4 4% o 2 R 1 AR 1) B8 17 LA R R
ZEREMEESIRY - FEESRBK
ER A DARR 17 7 B 1 A S BN B <8 70 57 B B
BRAME - BT X HMNESTEIRZRS
BHEMHNATEEE - BEZEESRE
FENTREBRMEMEE - BZE20245F
12ANAILFE - BRERGEE S5
MAEEEEREOZRAKRMNEMLEIE
@R H 25 A AR 94,817,000
(20234128318 : AR¥101,748,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

The Group granted some RSUs via the Share Award Trust to certain
third-party vendors as part of consideration of purchased assets, which
have been fully vested immediately on the respective grant date.
The above transactions are accounted for as share-based payment
transactions, under which the fair value of the RSUs are recognised as
part of the original cost of purchased assets. As of 31 December 2024,
total amounts recognised as assets for RSUs granted to the Group's
third-party vendors under the Share Award Scheme are RMB13,325,000
(31 December 2023: RMB13,325,000).

29 TRADE PAYABLES

28 IR HERAERM )

AEBBEBROBEELERNE TE=ZFH
ERFELHBAZRHR D EL - ERKE
BENBHIRE BERSBEREL AR
BNEHEE - LillZXHARABURG BE
MHERRS - Bt - ZREIRD ELLA
NYPERRBWBEBEENTDKARE -
HZE2024F 128318 BERMDER
ERMAKEE - ST HEBRRENIR
BOBENERBEENBSEAARE
13,325,0007C (2023 F 12 A318 : ARM
13,325,0007T) °

29 B EARE

As at 31 December

M12A31H8
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Merchandise payables 72 o FE ST SRR

1,010,109 444,944

The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers are
usually current to 180 days. The carrying amounts of trade payables are
considered to be reasonable approximations of their fair values, due to
their short-term nature.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the aging analysis of the merchandise
payables based on invoice date is as follows:

HEBRTOERENREANCEERRSE
REAHZE 180K - AR E ZEMNFIAAREH]
HE - HEEETRS B RSEEAF
ERRE -

R2024F K2023F12A31H  ER#EEH
B mEN BRSO T ¢

As at 31 December

M12A31H8
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Within 30 days 30K AR 589,043 224,494
30 to 90 days 30290k 370,583 150,226
90 to 180 days 902 180K 18,452 26,907
Over 180 days 180K E 32,031 43317
Total et 1,010,109 444,944

The trade payables are mainly denominated in RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

30 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES 30 E(TIREE

As at 31 December

M12A31H8
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

License fees payables JEfT IR B 356,371 194,200
Less: non-current portion o FEBNERER > (14,536) (14,807)
Current portion BUEA IR 341,835 179,393
As disclosed in Note 15(a), the Group entered into various license WESEE1S() T EE - ANEBBEENKT L
agreements with artists to obtain Licensed IPs. Pursuant to the license ETEERS - UIUSEEIP - IRIERER
agreements, fixed minimum payments are payable in tranches during & BESENREREG QARSI HN
the contracted term while variable payments that depend on sales MERHE A Z M RARBEZFNK
are payable in the period in which the condition that triggers those BRI LM BIRA A -

payments occurs.

As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AEBTTT
Analysis of license fees payables: ERREEDN
Non-current FEENER
— the first to second year - F—EF-F 11,703 10,271
— the second to fifth year —FEFERF 2,382 4,085
- more than five years —AFENRE 451 457
14,536 14,807
Current BNHEA 341,835 179,393
The license fees payables are mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD. ENEEEETZUARYE  ExT BT

&

The maturity profile of the Group's license fees based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows is disclosed in Note 3.1(c). REBEREGHNRMRBESRENEEE
BB RT3 ()R EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 OTHER PAYABLES

31 HAiuE(SFIE

As at 31 December

R12A31H

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T ARBETTT

Wages, salaries and other employee benefits TE - HekHEMEBRT 214,847 126,769

Accrued sales and marketing expenses FEETIHE k&MY 167,458 60,045

Logistics fees W g R 150,117 39,211

Payable for leasehold improvement JEM S A TRIA 144,870 142,333

Other tax payables JET E A B IE 89,561 78,696

Payables for short-term and variable rental expense  JE{TH2 85 N Al 4 FH & FA 2 60,656 24,638
Advance received from non-controlling interest in HEE—FIFEEEMBAF
relation to capital injection in a non-wholly owned [) FE 428 A A 2o U ) #24 5K

subsidiary (Note 17(a)(iv)) (BF3E17@)(v)) 17,705 -

Deposits payable FERHE 7,867 11,979

Others Hit 51,193 31,170

Total #at 904,274 514,841

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of other

payables are considered to be reasonable approximations of their fair

values, due to their short-term nature.

{013 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEp: s @A R A &
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32 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 EHNEE

As at 31 December

As at 1 January

R12831H N1 A1H

2024 2023 2023

20245 2023 20234

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETTT ARETTT

Online sales HEHE 102,525 49,352 39,731
Customer loyalty programme (i) P EHEE) 63,444 26,271 22,077
Wholesales s 11,000 30,504 18,518
License income REWA 11,608 6,016 8,471
188,577 112,143 88,797

(if)

(ii)

During the years ended 2024 and 2023, the majority of award points
expire within no more than 12 months following the initial sales

occur.

The Group applied the practical expedient of not to disclose
the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance

obligations as contract terms less than 12 months.

The increase in contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to the
increase in advances received from online sales and the increase
of fair value of the consideration received allocated to customer
loyalty programme, mainly as a result of the increase in revenue

during the current reporting period.

Revenue and other income recognised in relation to contract liabilities

balance at the beginning of the year:

(iii)

R2024FE N 2023FE RN » KL HHE
BRESEHNERVHERERHTBA
1218 A REIE -

AEEERBEREEE  TRES
RESHHBRLR12MEA B RTHKE
HMEENZHER -

204 F BB EIEN - FEEHR
WAR FHE TRl & TR M SRIE G 0
UEDEZEEFBHBETENE WA
ENAFEEN(EBERHARAHEH
R AIE ) °

RENENREGHRERN WS REMK

A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR¥ETTT
Credited to the consolidated statement of profit st A4RA 8% M EMEEKREFR
or loss and other comprehensive income 106,345 82,797
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE

POP MART

BENEFITS

IBTE  HFEhHMEEER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR®EF T
Salaries, bonuses and allowances I ++ZI&5$EE 1,265,428 861,248
Contributions to pension plans (a) RIS EIHA G 102,161 85,491
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 28) DAHQT%E;%%E’U#&ME@? (Pff5E28) 94,817 101,748
1,462,406 1,048,487

Contributions to pension plans BIREETEETR
Employees of the Group companies in Mainland China are required to AREFBFEHANMWATNEEELZXINEBEEH
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administered THRAEEREENTHEEITERES T

and operated by the local municipal government. The Group contributes

funds which are calculated on fixed percentage of the employees’ salary

(subject to a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to

each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

Refer to Note 39(i)(ii) for the Group's contribution to pension plans in

various countries and regions other than Mainland China.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and

other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the

defined contribution payments as disclosed above.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE

(b)

BENEFITS (continued)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2024 included 2 directors (2023: 1
director) whose emoluments is reflected in the analysis shown in Note
38. The emoluments payables to the remaining 3 (2023: 4) individuals

during the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

(b) AERSMEAL

BITE HeLHMESEF

(%)

HE2024F 12 AN BLEE  AEEHE
EamfMABATHRIEMEBES (2023F ¢
—%) HEile XMW EISH RN -
HE2024F12ABILEE - ENFHE
=% (20235 : &) ALHBSIT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBETTT

Salaries and allowances T& KkER 5,941 5376
Bonuses TEAL 1,941 1332
Contributions to pension plans RIKEFT B 199 255
Share-based compensation expenses VARR 1 73 B R 0 3R B Bl 2 13,731 24,991
21,812 31,954

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e mRIATEE :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024
20244

2023
20234

Emolument bands (in HKD)
HKD5,500,001 to HKD6,000,000
HKD6,500,001 to HKD7,000,000
HKD7,500,001 to HKD8,000,000
HKD8,500,001 to HKD9,000,000
HKD9,000,001 to HKD9,500,000
HKD9,500,001 to HKD 10,000,000
HKD10,000,001 to HKD10,500,000

Bl <& &6 (LA 7TaT)

5,500,001 % 7T £6,000,00078 7T
6,500,001 7 7T % 7,000,000/ 7T
7,500,001 7 7T, 28,000,000 7T
8,500,001 % 7L £ 9,000,00078 7T
9,000,001 % 7T % 9,500,000/ 7T
9,500,001 % 7T £ 10,000,000 7T
10,000,001 7L 2 10,500,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 Z8BHERERKE

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flows (@)
generated from operations:

BRITGHRANEN HEEFHEENER
EREFRIER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTT
Profit before income tax B BT 1S 15 Al g ) 4,365,812 1,415,755
Adjustments for: BT FIEEL T
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVPL RATEFABEENEREEN
(Note 23) RNTHEES (HiFE23) 23,382 6,111)
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 33) VARR 1 73 B HE B0 SR BN Bl 2
(Pﬁ.ﬁsz) 94,817 101,748
Share of results of joint ventures and associates HEETEREE QT
(Note 18) (MTEE 8) (48,188) (33,229)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y - BEREETE
(Note 14) (FizE14) 286,481 233,291
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15) | A RSN (ME5) 124,024 86,884
Losses on disposal of leasehold improvement and RERSEEREMBER
other equipments (Note 9) &8 (fHsE9) 655 2,540
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) EREEENE (Miti6) 452,318 348,390
Provision for impairment on financial assets TREERERE 3,446 745
Impairment losses on inventory (Note 22) FERERE (HiE22) 14,432 8,016
Finance income, net (Note 10) B s UR A F 58 (FFEE10) (163,352) (151,880)
Foreign exchange gains or loss (Note 9) SMEIEZ (MTEE9) 16,053 (1,501)
Changes in working capital: LEES#E
Inventories TE (634,245) (29,546)
Trade receivables B 5 W IR (157,982) (122,727)
Prepayments and other receivables TE AN FRIE fo Eh KB (118,182) (20,058)
Trade payables and license fees payables B RENFIERENEES 715,141 167,441
Other payables E At e RUE 364,407 120,104
Contract liabilities BHEE 76,434 23,346
Cash generated from operations RETBHEENRS 5,415,453 2,143,208
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 #Z8HERERMT )

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment (b) EEVH BMERRZEBREFLEERM

and intangible assets: BIE
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Net book amount (Note 14 and Note 15) BRTEFE (EE14 RMIFE15) 6,079 3,406
Losses on disposal of leasehold improvement and RERESREREMBER
other equipments (Note 9) a8 (M97E9) (655) (2,540)
5,424 866

(c) Net cash reconciliation

(0 REFHEHEKR

As at 31 December
HE12A31BLLFEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®T T ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents BeReEEY 6,109,017 2,077,927
Liquid investments mEng & 11,434 8,415
Lease liabilities — due within 1 year HEAE - —FUAZE (363,092) (351,799)
Lease liabilities — due after 1 year HEAE — —F&2IH (601,469) (425,954)
Borrowing &% - (15,058)
Net cash REFH 5,155,890 1,293,531
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

POP MART

() REFHEHIR(E)

M RERERERMTT &)

Cash and cash Liquid Lease
equivalents  investments liabilities Dividends  Borrowing (i) Net cash
BERRE

SEM  REMRE HERE RE &R REFE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTR ARWTR ARETR AR%TR ARBTR

Net cash as at 1 January 2024 R2024F1B1BNESFE 2,077,927 8,415 (777,753) - (15,058) 1,293,531
Cash flows Beng 4,004,674 - 505,104 378,015 15,058 4,902,851
Addition NE = = (695,021) (373,025) - (1,068,046)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities REAEZENFIZ - - (42,628) - - (42,628)
Foreign exchange adjustrments NEFE 26,416 677 - (4,990) = 22,103
Other non-cash movement Hthi5es - 2,342 45,737 - - 48,079
Net cash as at 31 December 2024 R04E0ANBNESFE| 6,109,017 11,434 (964,561) - - 5,155,890
Net cash as at 1 January 2023 BR0B3E1F1BNESFE 685,314 12,829 (741,131) - - (42,988)
Cash flows Beng 1,382,979 (546) 384,999 121,609 - 1,889,041
Addition AE - - (386,216) (117,317) - (503,533)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities REBECEHNFIE - - (35405) - - (35,405)
Acquisition of a subsidiary AN - - - - (14514) (14514)
Foreign exchange adjustments SNEFR 9634 391 - (4.292) (544) 5,189
Other non-cash movement Hini5es - (4,259) - - - (4,59)
Net cash as at 31 December 2023 2023512831 RNEEFE 2077927 8415 (777,753) - (15,058) 1,293,531
As at 31 December 2023, the outstanding short-term borrowing which () M2023F12A31H  ERERBARME

arose from acquisition of a subsidiary represented an amount of JPY
300,000,000 (equivalent to RMB15,058,000) at a fixed interest rate of

1.475%. The borrowing was unsecured and due in one year which had

been fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2024.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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35 COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35 &S

(a) BEAEGH

As at 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Contractual but not provided for BRI AV B R EBEE
~ Acquiring investments measured at fair value — e AT EEA
through profit or loss BRiTEmNRE 41,000 41,000
— Property, plant and equipment — M - BB KEE 1,301 -
42,301 41,000

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

36 BB SR F

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.
Members of key management and their close family member of Popmart

are also considered as related parties.

The following transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of the
Group's business and were determined based on mutually agreed terms

during the relevant periods.

B BRNERIEERENS T 0 X
EERMBREERREE S —H#EE

FE O ONESBRY - WArsaXH
RIES] - RITRE B B - RIS T
EEIEEKE RETBRK B TTRR S B
¥ o

TIHRZTRAEEAEEKBRETE
17+ WRE N B B8 HIRE KR 15 5 & 1R

E °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Names of the major related parties

36 B ARB (&)

Nature of relationship

POP MART

FTEBHS BB BERNMTE
Mr. Wang Ning Executive director of the Group
ITERLE REB#TES
Nanjing Pop Mart Joint venture
[Eapaviabiabiss BERE
Singapore Pop Joint venture
Singapore Pop BEDHE
How2work Limited Associate
How2work Limited e
Danni Associate
Danni B
Hainan Souteji Trading Co., Ltd. Associate
BEEEEEERRAR g
Shenzhen Maoyu Xinghe Cultural Creativity Co., Ltd. Associate
ARYNITHIF 2RI R AR AF B
Shanghai Qixing Network Technology Co., Ltd. Associate
IR BERIRBERAR B
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Sales of goods to

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36 B ARB (&)
BB TN EARS ¢
(a) HEBRTF

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023
2024%F 20234F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBETTT
Joint ventures saE 227,541 266,470
An associate Bz 25,774 20,449
Total Fb 253,315 286,919
(b) Purchase of goods from mE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Associates i 1,425,157 414,775
(c) Purchase of service from () BERBE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Associates B 38,660 6,884
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R RRMEE
36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36 BBEE SRS (&)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued) EHEBLETHNEARS @ (8)
(d) Key management compensation (d) EAREIRAESFEN
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MHLEE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBETTT
Salaries and other benefits e R E AR 10,220 7,865
Bonus TEAL 2,141 1,250
Contributions relating to social insurance, housing 1% * ¥ EAEE KB KETE
fund and retirement scheme FERA R 332 384
Share-based compensation expenses ARG A7 A ELHi 6 SR BN A =2 10,035 18,776
22,728 28,275
The amounts disclosed above include wages, salaries and bonuses L ESBERIERNERR S NEER
payable of RMB2,988,000 (2023: RMB1,930,000) which were unpaid TE - e Rk{EAARE29880007T (2023
as at year end and are included in other payables and accruals. £ AR¥1,930,0007T) + Wit AH i fER

RIBREFTER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 36 BEEARRB (&)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued) EHEBLETHNEARS @ (8)

(e) HHBABES WEARFABEER

(e) Significant year-end balances with related parties:

As at 31 December
R12A31BLEEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETTT
Assets EE
Trade receivables B 5 EWFEE
Joint ventures B 44,024 85,175
Associates /NG| 9 6,044
Other receivables Hib W RE
A joint venture —REEDE 629 4318
Prepayments BNIE
Associates i /NS 196 13,125
Trade payables B S EARIE
Associates NG| 327,029 105,433
License fees payables EBAEEE
Associates /NG| 14,712 8,142

BREZFAEE SR E BRI FEN AR
EEAIR30-180R40 - FT B B2 FEHS 77 /Y
EHRHOARER 2 ABETER
repayment. Hy o

Except for trade receivables/payables with related parties which
are with credit terms of 30-180 days, all the balances with related

parties are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE 37 KATWNEEGEBRRHEME

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY wHEE
Balance sheet of the Company KAREEAER
As at 31 As at 31
December 2024 | December 2023
12024 F 720234
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment accounted for using the equity method ~ {# AT E AR E 21,133 22,446
Investments in subsidiaries R B AT RIEE 8,249,179 7,876,556
Total non-current assets HWERBEE 8,270,312 7,899,002
Current assets RENEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BRATEFAEBEENEREE 11,434 8415
Other receivables A fEMRIE 23,882 192,360
Term deposits with initial term over three months and  #1ZAHI=1E 5 A £ &
within one year —F AR EBER 3,314,062 3,885,362
Cash and cash equivalents BekReFEY 666,291 150,110
Total current assets BREEE 4,015,669 4,236,247
Total assets mEE 12,285,981 12,135,249
Equity fE=
Share capital &N 882 885
Other reserves (a) HAb ) 11,748,462 11,745,473
Retained earnings REB&F 423,274 219,161
Total equity wrER 12,172,618 11,965,519
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H fth fE T 5R18 113,363 169,730
Total current liabilities BREBEE 113,363 169,730
Total liabilities waE 113,363 169,730
Total equity and liabilities HBERREE 12,285,981 12,135,249
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of ARREEBBEREEEETN2025F3A

Directors on 26 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf:

FEEE
Mr. Wang Ning

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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37 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

37 ANFNEEEERRE M

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) w28 @)
Note (a) Other reserve movement of the Company MIEE (a) 2 B Y B fh {52 8
Share-based
Treasury Share Translation  compensation
shares premium reserves reserves Total
URGBRER
ERkK REE ER#E HIRM st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
As at 1 January 2024 R2024F1 818 (10,468) 11,301,143 338,406 116,392 11,745,473
Currency translation difference ERHREESE - - 363,999 - 363,999
Dividends declared BIRIRE = (377,796) - - (377,79)
Purchase of own shares Bl 1=E G (78,031) - - - (78,031)
Cancellation of shares Rzl 88,499 (88,496) - - 3
Share vested under the Share Award 1R {7 22Eh5t 2]
Scheme EEpd ) - 101,338 - (101,341) (3)
Share-based compensation DA AR R R %
expenses - - - 94,817 94,817
Balance at 31 December 2024 1202412 A31 B4R - 10,936,189 702,405 109,868 11,748,462
As at 1 January 2023 R2023F181H (186,395) 11,842,888 140,317 101,509 11,898,319
Currency translation difference EHhEZSE - - 198,089 - 198,089
Dividends declared BRRE - (118995) - - (118995)
Purchase of own shares EEE 5 RH (333,709) - - - (333,709)
Cancellation of shares AR 509,636 (509,613) - - 3
Share vested under the Share Award 1R IER {7 12 BD =1 815 B 2 B {7
Scheme - 86,363 - (86,865) (2)
Share-based compensation WARR D AR R SRR =
expenses - - - 101,748 101,748
Balance at 31 December 2023  R2023F12A31 B & (10,468) 11,301,143 338406 116,392 11,745,473
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ remuneration

3 EET/AI R ER

(a) EEM<

Employer’s

contribution

Share-based

Salaries and to a retirement  compensation
Director's fee allowances Bonus benefit scheme expenses Total
EEHRK SR £
BRI RERH
E=ne IERER A ez 5 R @it
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥TR ARETR AR¥TFR AR¥TFR AR¥TR
Directors' remuneration during the & £2024% 128318
year ended 31 December 2024 tEEMES
is s follows: MemT
Directors g3
Mr. Wang Ning TERE - 2,816 450 66 - 3,332
Mr. Si De ARt - 2,155 622 66 2,278 5,121
Ms. Liu Ran Aant - 1,225 70 66 - 1,361
Mr. Moon Duk 1 () XA - 2318 520 66 4,654 7,558
Ms. Yang Tao (il BEXL() - 320 - 18 = 338
Mr. Tu Zheng BELE - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu RELE - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng REAERAE 137 - - - - 137
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REERE 137 - - - - 137
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BEYREE 137 - - - - 137
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 38 EEENNER &)

(continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a) ESBENE (&)

Employer's

contribution Share-based

Salaries and to aretirement  compensation
Director's fee allowances Bonus benefit scheme expenses Total
BEEHRHK SRR 43
BRI AERMN
EZHe  IEREH AL fEHZHR MBI % )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT
Directors’ remuneration HZE2023%128318
during the year ended LEENESHS
31 December 2023 is as mr
follows:
Directors Bz
Mr. Wang Ning FEEE - 1,881 150 63 - 2,094
Mr. Si De AR - 1,881 300 63 5,782 8,026
Ms. Liu Ran flent - 1,281 100 63 - 1,444
Ms. Yang Tao (if) BB L) - 1,283 200 68 - 1,551
Mr. Tu Zheng BH%4E - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu WExrE - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng REAERSE 136 - - - - 136
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REREAE 136 - - - - 136
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary SR tAE 136 - - - - 136
(i) Mr. Moon Duk Il was appointed as an executive director of the () XE—HER2024F3F208EZ
Company on 20 March 2024. EARERRMITES °
(i) Ms. Yang Tao resigned as an executive director of the Company on (i) BELZETN2024%F3 A20B BER
20 March 2024 NEMITESE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

38 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(b) The non-executive Directors have not received any emoluments for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. None of the other Directors
waived or have agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(c) Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of

the affairs of the or its subsidiaries undertaken.

(d) Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early

termination of the appointment during the year.

(e) Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making

available the services of them as a director of the Company.

(f) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such

directors during the year.

(g) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Group had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Roboshop machines 5 years
Moulds 1.5-3 years
Equipment and others 5 years

Leasehold improvement Shorter of remaining

lease term or useful life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

39 H ST HEREE

ARH R R R F B B R B AT IR
AOMEMAREEENGHBEK - FRIFERH
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{/\ o

M~ BB R&RE

WME - BB RRE (ERIERIN) THRE
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EZBERAT  AFFABHEEZ REER
WRABLEE (MER) - BRTHNE
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HEAOVBRHAHEAaEm LEME2E
W Rk o

ME -~ BB RERELERERA TG
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[
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

POP MART

(continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “other
(losses)/gains — net”in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and machinery
under construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the costs of construction
of buildings, the costs of plant and machinery, installation, testing
and other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are

completed and ready for intended use.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the basis of dividend

received and receivables.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the financial

information of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating

segments, has been identified as executive directors of the Group.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(d)

(continued)
Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three

months or less.

Share capital and shares held for Share Award Scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Shares held for the Share Award Scheme are disclosed as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the shares are

vested or cancelled.

Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. The
amounts are unsecured and are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(h) License fees payable

License fees payable are initially recorded at the fair value, which
represents the present value of the fixed minimum periodic payments to
be made in subsequent years. They are subsequently stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less payments made.

Interests incurred on license fees payable are charged to the
consolidated income statement as interest expense. Changes in estimate
of the expected cash flows are recognised as distribution costs in the
consolidated income statement. The revised expected cash flows are
discounted using the original effective rate to arrive at the carrying
amount of the liability.

(i) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit

obligations in the balance sheet.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC. The municipal
governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired employees under these
plans and the Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

In Hong Kong, the Group makes contributions to the scheme under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes (“MPF") Ordinance, the
assets of which are generally held in separate trustee-administrated
funds. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from
employees and by the Group. The Group's contributions to these
defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred and not
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave
the plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions. The Group has
no other post-employment obligations under the employment
contracts.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(i)

()

(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
(ii) Pension obligations (continued)

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined
contribution plans organised by the relevant governmental
authorities in various countries and regions other than Mainland
China. The Group's liability in respect of these plans is limited to the
contributions payable at the end of each period. Contributions to

these plans are expensed as incurred.

The abolition of the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ “mandatory” contributions to MPF and the Occupational
Retirement Schemes (“ORSO") to offset the long service payment
("LSP") and severance payment (the "Amendment”) accrued
from the transition date (no later than 2025) was enacted on 17
June 2022. As the LSP is a defined benefit plan, the Amendment
changes the employer’s legal obligation which is considered as
a plan amendment under IAS 19. As the Group only has very few
employees who are in the scope of the Amendment, the Group is
of the view that the Amendment will have immaterial impact to the

Group's financial position and performance.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period

of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is

recognised in the income statement as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12

months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(k)

(m

POP MART

(continued)
Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or

sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which

they are incurred.

Interest income
Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the “other
(losses)/gains — net”.
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 9
above. Any other interest income is included in other income.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on
or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

39 EMEBERE »)

\[

(n) BRER
) BREFREFR
BRERBIIZ :

(n) Earnings per share

—

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares

RRABEE ANEIEZT (TREE
sBAR LASN ) (o] AR A A 2 A AN )

B DARA B E BTSN E RN

HP LB E  URENDBTE

outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus

elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and

excluding treasury shares. EITHEE o
(i) Diluted earnings per share (i) BREEER
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the BREBEERNAREECSRELRRTN
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account: FrR 2 8 AT &

SEEETERRAEANE A
RERRNHNRASHEATE &

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

R BEEE T REEERR
1T EITEVEESN G BN AE T

all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 2 o

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares

that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(o) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations not under common control, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred

for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:
fair values of the assets transferred
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business
equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and
fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’'s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s

net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

(o) Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the:

consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised

directly in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing
could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either as
equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or

losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
(p) License fees income

The Group licenses characters to third parties on relevant products for a
period. The income is recognised ratably in the contractual period and
included in other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

(g) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as other income over the period necessary to match them with

the costs that they are intended to compensate.
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"Articles of Association”

[ ERAA ]

“Audit Committee”

[BEEg]

“Board”

B2

nou

“Company’, “we’, “Pop Mart”

[ARE] T8 DR

"Director(s)”

[E%]

“Group”
[R&EE

"HKD" or "HK$"
[&7T]

"Hong Kong”
(&8

“Latest Practicable Date”
[ ERAI{THE]

“Listing Rules”

[ EmRA

“Mainland China”

[ B A3 |

“Memorandum and Articles”

[ R AR B AR A

“Nomination Committee”

[IR2ZEE
"Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”

[BERARBERRD ERS

DEFINITION
e

the articles of association of the Company

AR RVE B E R AR

the audit committee of the Board

EXxeEKZEY

the board of Directors

-

Pop Mart International Group Limited (8835 RBEEERAF)),
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 with limited liability, with its Shares initially
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 11 December 2020 (stock code: 9992)
RIBRHBREEBRAR - —KR2019F5 AR RBRERSAETMALHNERE
BRAT - ERGF20206F12 811 B ERIEB AT ER 1 (RHRSR  9992)

an exempted company

the director(s) of the Company

RRREF

the Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated affiliated entities from time to time

AR REAKOMNB AR MGAHEER

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BEHEEERET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
REARKMBETBEFRITTHRE

16 April 2025
20254 A16H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from time to
time

EEBARIMBERARES ETHRR (EAEHERT)

the People’s Republic of China, and for the purpose of this report, excluding Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan regions

FEARANE  BARENE - TRERE  RFILGERR

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company

AR T E R A R AR

the nomination committee of the Board

EFeRE%BE

the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on 24 July 2020 and
amended on 17 May 2023

ARARIF 202097 A 24 B A G K7 202355 817 BIERT O &R AR E &R 528
#tHal
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DEFINITION
Bx

“Prospectus”

[HlkER]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FEEE

“Reporting Period”

[#R&H )

“RMB" or “Renminbi”
[ARE]

“Scheme Limit”
[FT&8IFR %8 |
“Service Provider Sublimit”

[ BRA%he it & o EIR

“SFO"
[(FEHRAEGHG) ]

“Share(s)"
[ ]

“Shareholder(s)"
[A& = ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bs 22 P |

“Trustee”
[ZFEA]
“USD" or "USS”
=

//%H

(%]

the prospectus of the Company dated 1 December 2020
AR E#R20205F12 A1 BRBERER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXxeVMERS

for the year ended 31 December 2024
BZE2024F12A31BILFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

HEDEEERARE

the limit on grant(s) of share option(s) and/or award(s) over new Shares under all share
schemes of the Company approved by Shareholders

RIS R AL ) AR 1 R AT B BT IR 8 S ¥ AR 1 eV BB AR R 2 ok BR R O PR 78

a sublimit under the Scheme Limit for share options and/or awards over new shares of the
Company under all share schemes adopted by the Company granted to the Service Providers
BIEA A RIRMK T AR DT EIE T S RARRFROOEARER R REH SR
M T R IR HE B D IER R

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
from time to time

FEREVIFESBCREZRIE R - EAEERT

ordinary share(s) of nominal value of US$0.0001 each in the capital of the Company

AR AR AN G A TE {B.0.0001 22 T ) 3B AR

shareholder(s) of the Company
RARRRER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBERHAAERRAT

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, which was appointed as the trustee of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme on 24 July 2020

BHRET (BB BRAF  R2020F7A24BEZ T AN ARAEER KD ERTENT
FEA

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XEMEEERET

percent

Btk
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